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PETITION

|. Name and Jocation of court which entered the judgment of conviction under attack SUPE RioR CoURT oFf

CALIFERNIA couNTY of LIVERSIDE, Hl6O MAIN ST, RINERSIDE , CA. 25061

2. Date of judgment of conviction acT. 9, ZooZ.

3. Length of sentence 57 VEARS Te LIFE (ATT. ’)-

| CALIFCRNIA PENAL coDE PF (87 2734ab,

4. Nature of offense involved (all counts

1zozo (A) /’_’Q @
[ L/G/ \\( o

ﬂ L
5. What was your plea? (Check on
(a) Not guilty 2
(b) Guilty 3

(c) Nolo contendere
If you entered a guilty plea to one count or indictment, and a not guilty plea to another count or indictment, give details:

6. 1f you pleaded not guilty, what kind of trial did you have? (Check one)

(a) Jury o

(b) Judge only

7. Did you lestify at the trial?
Yes] Nore”

8. Did you appeal from the judgment of conviction?
Yes [ No

®)
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9. If you did appeal, answer the following:

4 CA. CeURT OF APPEAVS  HTH APP PISTRICT  DiVISIeN Z

(a) Name of cou

DeENIED | CASE NO. Ec72757

(b) Result

(c) Dale of result and citation, if known

INSTRUCTIEN €QRoR ; €RRol IN ADMUTING PRI16R ACTS

(d) Grounds raised
INCORRECT ABSTRACT of JTUDGMENT,

ought further review of the decision on appeal by a higher siale court, please answer the following:

CALIEGRNIA SUPREME couRT

(e) Ifyous

(1) Name of court

(2) Resull DENIED , CAJE NC. S [217060

(3) Date of result and citation, if known FER. L(, 200Y
INSTRUCTIeN EQROR  ERROR W ADMITTING PRIOR

(4) Grounds raised

AeTS

If you filed a petition for certiorari in the United States Supreme Court, please answer the following with respect to each

direct appeal:

(H ‘Name of court

(2) Result

(3) Dale of result and citation, if known

(4) Grounds raised

10. Other than a direct appeal from the judgment of conviction and sentence, have you previously filed any petitions,
applications, or motions with respect to this judgment in any court, state or federal?

Yes v No [
11. If your answer to 10 was "yes," give the following

@Pﬂ?ﬁm&dcwﬂl”“TFDSTAng{cUﬂT/(GNTﬂALD(ST.oFCAuFOﬂf“A

/

(2) Nature of proceeding HABEAS tcRPUS CASE WNO. EDcevV- 0T 124 OM(/(Ff/M)

(3) Grounds raised [NEFFECTINE ASSISTANCE of TR AL (oUNfEL/' PRo seey Tol N

MiScoriDVET | FAILVEE T PRePFER Y (N STRUCT [ INJOFFIcENT

3)
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evipeNceE ChRoR 1 ADAIT (N ¢ PRIOR BAD ANETS | |NSTRV cT(eN

crpor (CALTIC N2.2.67) " CYmutATIVE ERRORS.

(4) Did you receive an evidentiary hearing on your petition, application or motion?
Yes — No

DENIED

(5) Result

(6) Daie of resull K =14 -2° lf

(b) As 10 any second petition, application or motion give the same information:

(1) Name of court

(2) Nature of proceeding

(3) Grounds raised

(4) Did you receive an evidentiary hearing on your petition, application or motion?
Yes T No [
(5) Result

(6) Date of result

(c) Did you appeal to the highest state court having jurisdiction the result of action taken on any petition, application or

molion?
(1) First petition, etc. Yes 7 No[J
(2) Second petition, Yes ] No([]

(d) If you did not appeal from the adverse action on any petilion, application or motion, explain briefly why you did not:

every ground on which you claim that you are being held unlawfully. Sumrmarize bricfly the facts
you may attach pages slating additional grounds and facts supporting same.

al court, you must ordinarily first exhaust vour available state court
the federal court. If you [ail to set forth all grounds in this

Slate concisely
supporting cach ground. I necessary,

CAUTION: In order to proceed in the feder
remedies as to each ground on which you request action by
pelition, you mav be barred from presenting additional grounds ata later date.

(4)
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the following is a list of the mesi frequently raised grounds for reliel in habcas corpus
a letier constitutes a separait ground for possible relief. You may raisc any
austed your stale court remedies with respect 1o them.
relating to this conviction) on which you base your

For your information,
Each statement preceded by
may have other than those listed if you have exh
J raise in this petition all available grounds (

proceedings.
grounds which you
However, you shoul
allegations that you art being held in custody unlawfully.

Do not check any of these listed grounds. If you select one or more of these grounds for reliel, you must allepe facts. The
petition will be returned 10 you if you merely check (a) through (j) or any one of these grounds.
(a) Conviction obtained by plea of guilty which was unlawfully induced or not made voluntarily with undersianding of the

nature of the charge and the consequences of the plea.

(b) Conviction obtained by use of coerced confession.
vidence gained pursuant to an un
d pursuani to an unlawful arrest,

{c) Conviction obtained by use of e constitutional search and seizure.

{d) Conviction obtained by use of evidence obtaine
violation of the privilege against sel{-incrimination.

lure of the prosecution to disclose Lo ihe defendant evidence favorabie to

(e) Conviction obtained by a
(f) Conviction obtained by the unconstitutional fai

the defendant.
(g) Conviction obtained by a vio
(h) Conviction obtained by action of a grand or petit jury

(I) Denial of effective assistance of counsel.

() Denial of nght of appeal.
A. Ground one: AcTVAL INNOCENCE CcLAIMN

(= ACAINST EgRo RS DUE To INEFF

Jation of the protection agains! double jeopardy.
which was unconstitutionally selected and impaneled.

CeTIVE ASSISTANCE Of couNSEL)

Supporting FACTS (state briefly without citing cases oF law)

CEE ATTACHED - PeTITIeNER WAS CoNVILTED B8Y UNRELIAGLE

EXPERT DAL NS5 FoR (NELIeTienN of SHARING BARY SYNDRoME

K. THE TuRY wsAS NOT PRESENTED EVIDENCE TUAT

(5B85) cAVSE of DEAT

AVALLD §BJT

ENCE RELIED Fy UNGUALIFIED EXPERT To PMAKE

THE €vID
€EURbLOGICAL €XPERT

PIA eSS Po€s NoT €XIST et AVTElY By

WHO A PERFORMED ANTRPIY.
ACTUAL INNCCENCE CLAIM
SE VIDENCE BY €xPERT)

B. Ground two:

(— ACMNST PROSECUTORIAL USE of FAL

Supporting FACTS (state briefly withoul citing cases of law):
PET(TIoNER WAS CoNVICTED BY UNRELINBLE €xPERT

SEE ATTACHED -

DIACNOSIS FoR (N
€ TURY WAS nNoT PRESENTED EVIDENCE TUAT THE EV(0ENCE

ELicTieN of SUAKIA G BABY SYNDReME (585) cAVS€

c€ péATH, TH
LELIED Y UNGUALIFIED €x PERT To MA
evRsLoL{cAL PATHOLOGIST witfam

KE A VALID SBS DiACENeT(S

DogS NoT €xiST oW AVTEPSY By N

e ————

PERFCR MED THE AJTOPSY,

)
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C. Ground three:

Supporting FACTS (stale briefly withoul ciling cases of law):

D. Ground four:

Supporting FACTS (state briefly without citing cases or law):

nds listed in 12A, B, C, and D were no! previously presenled in any other court, state of federal, state briefly

13. If any of the grou
asons for not presenting them:

what grounds were not so presented, and give your re

ACTUAL (NNOCENCE CLA(M !
€, DLEEVIE AXIAC INTYRY)  TrE TRy waS NoT

of mZMN(ORTFXINTUR7(L.
RECENT D fCoVERY VSED TO VALIDAT € S BF D//\G—NCSlI/D EATH ,

PETITIoNER DID NOT D(ScoVER FALSEHoON

PRESJENTED
14. Do you have any petition or appeal now pending in any court, either statc or federal, as to the judgment under attack?

Yes No,z/

Give the name and address, if known, of each attorney who represenied you in the following stages of the judgment attacked

STUART SACHS Y2eo< cRANGE ST. RIVERSIDE

herein:
(a) Al preliminary hearing

cA. 9250l

SAME

(b) At arraignmen! and plea

(6)
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{c) Atmal SAME

SAME

(d) Al sentencing

CHAReN ToNES (#128137), P.o.BoX 1663, VENTURA , CA.

(e) On appeal
F3002

(f) in any post-conviction proceeding N O NE

eeding Nao NE

(g) On appeal from any adverse ruling in a posl-conviction proc

Were you sentenced on more than one count of an indictment, or on moare than one indictment, 1n the same court and at the
same time?

Yes Wo —

Do you have any future sentence 10 Serve after you complete the sentence imposed by the judgment under attack?

Yes — No W&
(a) If so, give—name and Jocation of court which imposed sentence 10 be served in the future:

(b) Give date and length of the above sentence:

(c) Have you filed, or do you contemplate filing, any petition attacking the judgment which imposed the sentence 1o be

served in the future?
Yes [ No ]

Wherefore, petitioner prays that the Court grant petitioner relief to which he may be entitled in this proceeding.

Signature of Attorney (if any)

| declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct, Executed

2-9-17 |
(date) /éz g 7

Signalure of Petitioner
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STATEMENT of FACTS

A

CINGLE EVENT, SluNT - fefc€ FALL

o~ Y-28-0/ ABeIT 6 1S AN, PETITIeNER, WHILE HELOING HIS BIoLOGICAL
Con | €RIK PATIKINS & WAS wALKING o wARDS THE sTAIRS (GoiNG uP)
(¢-T-o0cadl; R-/’-éfojl TRIPPED on THE E0CE of THE FKST STEP, ANO FELL.
ERIK FELL, HITTING THE occrprTal BoNE, 0R BACK OF HIS HERD AT THE

UPWARD FIETH FTEFP EDGE.

MAEING A CASE Fef SHARING GAE Y SYNDRoME

PeTITIoNERY WISTORy (5 THE SAmE To THIS DAY, AND NEVER Accus€D AS
CHANGCED, oR ALTERED, gy Fel1c€ ofR DEPUTY DISTRICT ATTORKEY (DDA)’
CHARLES HUCHES [ BT, AT TRIAL WAS VONCHED TO 26 0IrCREDITED AS
AS LI1E BASED oN THE PROJECUTIONS MISUSE of =

o N FALSE CERESRAL DIFFUsSE AXIAL INTURY

o (775 PRICR ExTRINSIC)BAD ACTS ; AND

o A TVRy (NSTRUCTICN — CALTIC NS, 1.0j — THE LAR 1RSTRVCTIeN

/lu,ow)l‘/(: JURY ToO PEESUME A CuitTyY MENTAL STATE (f.-r, 6’(/)‘,

ABouT 2:350 A& oN q-28-0/ /)“’CF/ AND DDA, HUGIES TAFE o€ —
(o RDED , AND WERE /NFoRAED THAT PETCTIONER (N A prick (1773)
LELATIONSHIP | HAD SHAKEN H/S THEN Son, TACK PATIINS, Wil
LESULTED (N A FIVE TEAR convicTieN] PLEA BARGAIN EeR CHILD CRUELTY
(¢.T. 0corof-1/8).

ABouT 3250 PM. ON .28 0/ é/(‘/k‘} Frolo(/c AL MOT}/{(R‘ MARGIE
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CAROFANG WIS PUESTICrED BY DDA, HuGifES T° EVER wITNESSING
FETITICNER SHAKING ERIK (€xH 6, F; 77—8;), of IF ERIK whS Erne TIoNALLY
DISTLESTEDP ARoUMD PETITIONER — NOT SLEEPINE 6R IN CONSTANT ANXIETY
(e€xH 6 F7 37,78 i00).

No AQUSE TOWARDS ERIK, 0F ABNORMAL D)STRESS whS WITNESTED BY

MARCIE (€xH &, Pp 1113, 85-87).

PRE- AUTOPSY €T SCANS SUGGEST A CEREBEAL DIFFVTE AxIAL INTURY

on ¥v-28 TP S-/-0l <7 SCANT WERE PERFCRMED AT TwWo HeSPITALS —
RIVERTIDE Comerd Ty, AND [orrA L’N'DAVVN’VGR}”ITY_

PADIoLOGCIIT jo PRES 7o S CEPEATEDVLY, SFuCGEST (NEW Broeop I~ THE
CELEERAL CoRTEX o THERWI!ISE TERMED , FN /

e A TPoRENCEFHALIC T oesten) (€xH. (o, Pyl EXIC 1B, F3 Z); or

o NEW INTRAPARENCHY AL (€xu Y2, Fr T3 €xd 16,F33); ok

e “PARENCHYMAL (exH YL, FPp2); oR

e A "pippuSE AxtAL (dTuRy T (oA ) (RT 22%7.774,357) FHZ, AT THE

(EET FRonTAL colTéx (S€€ €xn 23, F7 i1).

fooTNoTE [

SeE gfsp/vmm" MEDICAL pieTIeNARY, 28 THEDITION (Zowé) AT =

PAREN CHYMA = THE PIsTINGUISH NG R SPECIFIC CELLy of A GLAND oR

2R GAN, CoHTAINED (N AND JoPPeRTED By THE loWNECTIVE

TisrvE ERAMEWORKE (fy- (Yzy).

INTRA = INS(DE I TN ([} 777).

po,e(MCGP//ALy : THE OCEVRRENTE of CAVITIES 1 THE ERAIN SUBSTANCE

(P 15¥2).
(ESIeN ¢ A wound oR INTURy (Fy 1070).
CoRTEX : THE ouTER PolRTISN of AN ORCGAN - . . (csﬁsb”ﬁm—) THE CRAY

ceirutap manTLE (1-7 mm THICK ) COVERING TITE ENTIRE
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SURFNCE of THE CEREBRAL HEMISPHERE (3 (7 ; SEE EXH 23, P9 17).
ArxonN = THE SINGLE PRocEJFy 8 A WERVE CELL THAT UNDER NeFmab
CorO1TIONS CcomNIUCTS NERVOVS (MPULSES AWAY FRom THE CEVY-

Eevy AND (TS REAMINING FROCESSES (oenprcres) (6 17/).

FosTNOTE Z -

cee RvPPLE Y KUcANIN 2ol V5. DIST LEX(S LTS 05t BERAIN (NTURY (o

DIEFVSE 0R FocAb . 7 A fecAL INTURy 1S A LOCALIZED (NIVRY SucH AS

THAT CAuS€D Gr A STROKE A pPrRECT BrLowd TO THE HEAD, 0R AN ANEVRTSM
AND 1S TYPreally A CoNTUSten o THE SORFACE of THE BERAIN, VIFIBCE Gy
Lo NENTIONAL SCANNING .

A DIFFUSE AxoNAL IMTURY INVOLVES CCATIERED DAMALE T6 THE BEAIN

JuBSTANCE PARTICOLARLYy THE WHITE MmATTER THAT 15 CormPRIJTED ¢f
Axor f—/8€ﬁ’f,”

END fooTroTE€S ( AND T —

A DIFEUSE ARIAL (NTUEy VALIDATES A SHAKING CABY JYNDRoME pracrostS

GewEEAL PEDIATRICIAN (cP), REGECCA PIANTING wAS HIRED onN Y-18-of TO
Frud (NELICTED ABVIE oN erik (T oaoe;o—;/). THE PRE - AVTOFSYy T
FCAN SOGCETTIONS of A CEREGEAL (oRTEX (€S1er /1Y rHE€ (€T FReNTAL
g€ — A 0.Af. — 15 A FoUNDATISN INTuRY 100 THE mEDICAL CoMPMUNITY
VALIDATING A SHAKING BABy SyrPRomE (5.6.5.) omémur
fof TRINL, SES WAS TERMED TABVSIVE HEAD TRAUMA “(AdT) 4ccof9m/v
70 ¢P, PrANTIN/ (R.T.327; S€E€ ¢.T.oo003(,37V° ] €EXH 2, F57; EXH (6, /’73’,
EXH. 16A, P 7).

i~ OTHER woRDS, AccoRDING TO GF, PPANTIN, s.FS, TERMED AHT 1T

7/E CAUSE ofF éR/K}' OEATH ((’.T. ooooyo-Y 5/ ; R.T 3£53, 5’7/)_

LICENTED QUALIFICATIONS af G P, PIANTING

As A NINE YEAR GENERAL PEDIATRICIAN (RT.2L -;’25’)/ GP, PHANTINI CoNCEDES
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HER LACK of LICENSED (No G69728) QUALIFICATICNS JGAINST NeVRoLoGITAL
EXFPERT, FeFENSIC FATMO;,O(/(/‘-T(F{?)‘ STEVEN TRENKLE AND Ty
AVTOPSY EINDINGS gND DraGNoT/S (k.7 787); YET BATED HER TRIAL oPiINieN
oN (“""’FL“"J'NG) AVUTOPSY AND PRE-AVTeFSY mn€PICAL gecaRos (eT. poso3l-
22,3F-905 @7 263,371).

e it

5 7-20 6l AVTOPry — A Folll INTURY VERSYT A DIFFVIE AXIAY INTURY

Ge, PIANTIVG AND DDA, HUGHES, ATTEMO €D THE S-2-0/ AVTOfI7 (exit 23, F7
/2, €T 40%37-;8), Kivow NG FIRSTHAND THE RESULTS of PRICR CT 5'(A/~’.f/
ePIeAL FECORDS AND , SPECIFITALLY, THE (npp€SSier S Suar€5TING A
P Al

on AUTOPSY, EF, TRELKCE HourD _fiiff_ PEE-AUTOPSYy CT ScAN /e —
PRESSIONG of FLood INSIDE THE fROMTAL CORTEX of THE EEMN,
OTHERWISE TERMED T

. A PoﬁFNC{-PH/\L(C Lesyen ;

o NEN (NTRAFRREr CHYarAL |

° PARENCHYMAL | ok

o A DIFFUSE ARINL (NTVRY,

£QCO/EDINC(, uNDER e lReScoePrC EXAMINATION = ,’ggc‘r/opl{ of TI{E€
FRoNTAL (CoRTEX SHlewnd oMLY SUPERFICIAL SUBARACHNGELD HE MO RRHACING
AND EDEMA ? (exu 23,03 7,16).

THE onNLYy (NTUuRY FoJuND, BEIMG ALSO LHTHIN A MEMNBEANE ABoNE Tit
prAIn CofTex (SEE €XH 23,T717) AT THE (EFT FRONTAL LoBE 1/ A

© momrn 000 T JUEDURAL SPACE ConTuSioN — A HEAD GRVISE (&1 v63; €XH.

23 P57, PARAZ— “ix1 em"; Pp fo AT TL, C.; P76 AT TeonTUSIeN ’)

o AUTOPSY AND GASED onN THE QNLV EVIDENCE //poul\/p, FP, TEENKLE
DIALNOSED THAT A SiVELE, FLUNT Fokce EVENT, YREiNG A Flew oR A

FALL:/ (5 SufpgIc(ENT 70 ACCOUNT FoR Alv Y-28 -of c,QAN/AL/ (NTRA -
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CRANIAL DAMACE AND /5 THE CAUSE 6fF DEATH (,é,T, Ygr-Y6¥, 776,777),_ A

FocAv (NTURYy (ANTE, Ps3, el 7).

¢P, PIANTINI/ UNPROFESSIeNAL CoNDUCT

LPosT - AUTOPSY, GP, PIANTIN( CONcENLED /NCOMJ’F(’ENCF/ AND COMMMITTED
FRAVO  wuéN  ouTIIDE of LICENSTED QUALIFICAToNS SHE INTENTIENALYY
MISREPREJENTED FP, JAENKLES [ocAL INTVRy NE€VRopo€lchL FININGS, ANVO
oty EVIDENTCE DMAGNSII7, ASSERTING — GAJ€D oN OIffFuse AXIAL INTURY —

rudT TES|AHT, AND A HEAD SLAMMING, EN3 — MuLTIPLE evenrs, ¥ —

/5 THE AUTOPTY cAVSE OF DEATH (c.T.cocode Y, ¥? sl R.T. 333-33Y,387,

3¢Y,371).

FoorNeTE 3

AS A SECoND EVENT ACcoRODING To &P, FIANTINGIS NEUROLOG(CAL REPRE —
SemTATIONS , DpA, HUCHES ASTERTED FACTS NoT (N EVIPENCE  THAT ERIK
FULFERED A HEAD “oiamminG’ pepce GREATER THAN “A THREE STORY
s’ (RT.G0F-60).

DR €CT ENINENCE 15 CLEAR, €RIE SUFFERED NO EXTERMAL HEAD (R.T-Y17-Y18,
v21), op Boor (£T. 501,31, 01418 ) INTuRYy | BRYISING TO SuPPoRT THE

FoRcE of A 3,1, NoR [ SToRy FALL.

foor NoTE Y

AUTOPSY RULES 080T AN SES prACNoSi /S - FP, TRENKLE Do€S NOT RUCE - (N

A SECOND EVENT (RT. 476-Y78). i FACT | £P, rREMNILE sUT LINED WHAT
TwE TPATIOLOGY T REPUIRES To VALIPATE AN $85 DINCNOSIS, THAT 15,

PAMAGE oFR THEMORRHAVE of THE UPPER cepvicAL SPirvE oR BEMN sTem”?
— EVIDENCE NoT FsuND IN €RIE, EVEN CAILING TO MANIFEST Y OAYS AFTER
Tue AL (R.T. (s2-453; €XH ‘Zs", Pr7-NECK | CoNTRAT DDA, HU(HES ON

CeosiN G, F.T. 65Y-655 ).

END FeoTNOTES 3 AnND Y ——
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PRoJECUTORIAL USE Of FALSE EVIJEMCE ) INSOfFICIENT EVIDENCE To UPHe LEL

CHARGES

FROM ATTENDIVG AVTOPI ¥, DDA HUCHES KNEW (OR SrHoued HAVE KNMNN) A
DAl AT THE [FRofrTAL (oRTEX wAS FALJE, AND , RATHER SUBARACHNGD
HEMORRHAGING | EDEMA  AND A MONTH 6LD SUuFDURNL ConTuSrol WERE
THE oNiY FINDINGS AT THE (RonTA- LOFES (exp 75,07 (6,17). |

To THIS DAYy, CETITIONVER 4/ INCARCERATED FoR (MELIcTING 5@)’/

MOLTIPLE EVENTS BATED o DAl — FALSE EVIDErICE,

or 9:23-02 DDA, HUGHES MOTIoNED AND WAS CRANTED TRIAL VSE of
1997 GrD ACTS — SHAKING TACK — AND, BASED ON STRIKING SIrtARITY
of 5835 ¢ Zoof ECTABLIIHING ELEMENT PROOF oN THE 100] CHARLES
THAT IS, SUBI€CT(VE KNOWLEDCE Foflk MAL/(GMuﬂoé(z, INTENT T0 KLL,

AND LACK of ACLIPENT , ENS (R.T.(0-(3).

FoornNeTE 5
LACK of ACCIDENT 15 NoT A BEGVIRED STATUTORY ELEMENT (s€€ U5 V.
pRownN (P4 1789) 886 £.2d 1002, (016 7 U.5. V. MERR (W EATHER (674 1796) T8 F.7d
/0760, /077).

THE FAT A DAL W/ FALIE, SUBSEFUENTLY, INVALIDATES GP, PIANTINGS PRE -
AUTOPS S SBS DIACNOSIS BASED oM A DA/, AVD, ACcoROING T2 A
CeAL.EVID.CaDE 1100 ;357 5 AccsRO FED R EVID. Yo ; 103 ), MAKES (RRELEVANT
1993 BAD ACT/ FoR ELEMENT [RooF EASED oN JES (B.T.10-13) — REQUIRING
CIMILARITS AND A CLEAL ANVD LuGIcAL CoNNECT oV To A FACT of toN-—
SepuveENCE,

DDA, HCCHES NEVER -THE- LEST VSED 1992 €EXTRINSIC ACTS AS Criled
ABUr€R PRoSF, (€., uvfFatl ot/ Pe) Tren evivEnce o 13), So,e8N(ousLy,
THE JURY TKNoWS THIS wAS N6 peciDENT  BECAUSE 7 HE DID (T BeFoRE,

AND HE 0D (T AC/\/N”(I‘E( closineg s AT R.T. 600 60/, 603, 6o8-602 £//-
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/47 652-653, 655656, 663-667)

END fooTNoTF s

EViOENTIARY TRAL ERRCRS (N EECTING THE FRoCEEDINGS

ALSo, B7 THE FALSEHC0D of A cErREBRAL DA, VALIDATING SET,
PETITIONER S ¥-28-0 HISTOKY wAS PRONOUNCED MEDICALLY 7N —
ConSISTENT 7 gy U CALLEY DOCTORS, AND pROSECUTION WITHEISES
(SEE ¢.T. 0000 {11, R.T. 303-30% 263, S77°5775, 659 61763 ;€xn 3, 78, €XI1.
z,073).

BUT BAJED ON TiE Toniy EviBENCE | fouro AT C.2-0/ AUTOPS Y,
PETiITIoNERS HISTORY — CIvGLE EVENT, BLUNT €oRCE CALL — /S
'(01.4;/}7’61\11' wNITH FP, TEEN/(OE:)“ SLuNT ORCE INTUR Y p/nCeNoJt1JS,

D owATS oNE EVENT, BEING A Grows oR A FALL 7 (o1 967).

THE TuRy WAS DEPRIVED FRem TRUTH UL MEDICAL EvIDENCE  /ND

DECIDING WHETHER SAtp “onity EVIOENCE ? 45 THE ReSuLT of A

grow of A FALL /,(E.r- véz)

TwE Link INSTRUCTION HAVING (W TuRi0US INELVENCE o THE TURY'S VERDICT.

RELARDLESS THAT f’(r/r/orvek.f' HIJToRS (5, IV FACT AND (‘/ﬂCqu'Tn/\/c'Gf,
CONSISTENT w(TH THE AvT ol Sy pIACNOSIS, DPA, HUCHES wAS
CEANTED VSE 0f TURYy INSTRUCT(eN , CALTIC ~No. 105 — THE L/AR
(NSTRUeTIoN — ALLowiNG TURYy To PRESIME eViDENCE PETITIONER
HAS A GuItTY MENTAL STATE, SuBITANT /A FinG THE cHARGES (AT 611).
onw CLofyNGS DDA, WU €l GAVE THE TURy ULTIMATUMS | TUAT (5, T°
BELIEVE UNCALLED, ANO PRoS€EcuTlen DocToRS G6R BELIEVE PETITIONER
(R.T. $9F1n 26 —£oo, N7 615 [~ 1817, 660,‘662'66‘/), wito il€D, KEPEATEDLY,
IN /77:’,_fi’_§, AND wiqoS oo Tp1rreRy T iS5 A LIE, BEING MERICALLY
/’iN(ol\/S'/ITENT” GNre0 onv A DAL (S€€ exHE, f93,67-8 — GF, Pmr/r//v/}

25 ASSERTIONS TASSISTED TiHE TRIER oF FACT 7).
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FooTNoTE ©
DDA, HUCIES (oNCEDES 1593 EXTRINSIC 275 WERE ADMITIED TO SN
prrpesITION EvIDENCE T (AT 13) — 1715 LIES 6f 1973 mAke T TTHE
MoRE OBVI0US TUAT HES Lyine  now (er. Gop, be/); v 1573 HE LIED,
THEN “Womimeo (T o7 Yeou KNoW HES L7INVG T NOW (ﬁ_r‘é//_.éfjl 65'5'};
e L0 TRePEATED LY TN (885 Anp SAY S /T T RePENTEDLY Now . HES
NoT TRUSTWORTHY. HE LIES REPEATEDLY 7 (R.T. 52 653).

MOREONER, HAD AUTOPSy CoNfIRMED A D.A.[. TRYE THIT wevtd NOT
sNLy VALIOATE SEF BuT MAEE CETIT/oNERS FINGE ENENT , STAIE FALL

HISTORy INCSNSISTENT wiTH MEDICAL EVIDENCE.

END FooTwNoTE 6 —_—

INEFLECTIVE ATTISTAVCE o counJSEL

i enRomoroGicA af0€R, DEFENSE counTEL (O c), SrorlT Sheun s’
DEFICIENCIES PEETUDICED THHE DEFENTE A LENSoNNECE INVEIT(CATIoN
ACAINTT SBS AND (T8 61515 — A DAL — A2 DENIED THE JURY FEom
HEARIMG THE TOTALITY of ACCREMENTIorED rmATERINL EUIDENCE THAT
ALSe REJULTED (v THE PRosSECUTIONS ConrnfFo v DiIvG FALSE (N(Fﬂfﬂft‘f,
ANDJoR TRIAL LIES o TOP of ((€5 /€D or €YD ENTIARY ERFORT T
o THE MISUSE of (P75 BAD AcTS | uS/NVG CALSE EVIDENCE — SBS — Fok
ELEMENT SATISFACTIoN =
o ASSAVLT [/ MURDER BASED oF GENERANL (NTENT (Fc §$273Ab), I.€,
ARELSowABLE PER SO (STANPARD) would FIND SHES A FoRcE
THAT CAVSED PEATH
o CoNfcious DiSREGCARD (P.c. € 187);
o ININTENTIONAL ACT (Pe.§67);
e SUSTECTIVE NN EDGE (PC.(187), AND
e THE (/AR (NS TRNCTIeN — CALTIC N6, 2-05 — To NOUCH TH ¢

CEEVIBILITY of DecToRS EASED oM FALSE EVIDENCS —oat)/sEs —
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Ao TO DISCREOIT PETITIONERS Zooy HiLTeRY AT NOT erty
MEDICALLY INCINIITTENT BUT GE€CAVIE HE wAS A LIAR N (PPF
ALL SAID PG (VNNING NOT orily AT THE pPRos€ECUTIONS NEJRoLOGICAL
DIFREGARD of FP, SReNES AUTSPSY FoRENT(ET AND CAUTE of DEATH
Gur AT CFP, PIANTINIS E12UCIARY DECEIT To CoNceAt INCORNPETENCE
AND (NTENTlIeALLY MITPEPRESENT THE vty EG/PENCE o AGTOFPS ),

o MISCEAD THE TURy A DAI]SBES | muLTIPLE EVENTS wAS

DIACNOSED o AUTOPS Y .

ACCRAVATING FACTORS of oTHER ALLEGED INTURIES TO ofTAIN CoN—
V(eTIeN, AND GooD CAusE FoR DISCONERSY PURSUANT RULET

CovERNING SECTION 125Y cASES, RULE & .

DIRECT APPML/ML(HP-N/A CoUlPT 6F NPPEALS STATEMENT ofF cACTS

THE AUTOPSY CONEIRMED FALIEHoOD &F DAl)SES ALTERNATIVELY
MADE (TS waY AS A STATEMENT Gff MATERAL F/\CT/ AND USED TO
CopsTACTINTE THE GovERNMENTS WPHOLOING copuierter, €., “gLocs
(NSIDE THE (ForTAL CORTEX 06 THE BRAIN - « - AND THE €510m (I
CRIKY BRAIN whS (NCoNSIITENT WITH THE HISTORS of THE INTURY
CIveEN By PETITIepER ”

AND Y AUTOPSY (NDICATED A SHAK NG INTURY - . AND A MORE RECENT
ERACTURE T RIS RitG ALJse INDICATED €RIKE HAD BEEN Sualcen

CExH Z, 073 €xnt . 75,17)

. 7
ACAIN, AUTOPTY WAL CCEAR AND €oNVINCING, THE voniy eviDEnCE — A

—

focAL (NTURY (ANTE, P53, Fet2) = (P, TRENK(E DIAGNOSED WAS RE€ESueT

of A SINGLE BUINT EOfCE €EvENT TP “nccoont foR Av [ ¥-28-0] ]
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pAMALE T (BT Y( 1 46Y), AND 15 THE CAVSE of DEATH (e.7. ¥76-477),

FP, TRENE(E D() ofi€ HE YT 7 T wAS NON-ACCDENTAL (e.T
¥39-590)

INCOM PLETE DIFCOVERY &r APFPEAL

ON PRE TRIANL O1SCOVERY (€vEN FosT. r,é'{AL,egfusfrf/, PETITIeréR (5
D 1€D A ComPETE AUTOPSY REPORT — AFTACKMENTT, PHOTRS, SupPLE =

MENTS ETC. ) PESPLES e»HIBIT {; AND PEOPLES EXHIBIT 19,

NINTH RIB

WITHHELD AVTOPS ) /’//07'00‘/, AHD/(JR /ch,,mw" ExXHIBIT ¥ WERE VIED
DURING TRIAL @y THE PRoFEcuTion As ~ATERNL EVIDENMCE A NCNT
218 FRACTURE, wi€ke 17 JOINT W I1TH THE CERTEBRAE T whAS (WELCTED
on Y-28-01 (RT.-337 Y9-¥¥2).

No MEQICAL RECORD [ x. RAyS EXIST To REVEAL REGUIRED pisy sre AL

CUlDENCE A NINTH RIB FRACTURE Ccc URRED om Y-28-0/, AND T 1 -0/,

prRI6R TV LumBaR SvRGicAL PRo c€puREs (€XH. 10,F7 ¥-6  £xif 18, Frz),

ev Y2707 tum@rR SvRCrCAL PRocEDURES WERE PEREoRMED 79 em.

Ao E THE UPPER GLVTEAL eLeET ” (exn 23 Fp &; Py §,PARAT j P35 AT TAlD —

Low€ER Frek ).

THE TVRYy DE€PRIVED MATERNL €VIDENCE, AND AeeoR DM T f’t’d’f’t(v"'

EXHIEIT Y (—D(P/cr//vc; A SINGCLE HEMORRHNGE Spot ), 1S THAT -

o AT THE €xAcT LocaTien of ACCUSED T-) VERTELRAL GoDy ERNCTVKE
CCCukRIVG o Y78 -0/ LYMBAR SURGERy wAS PERFORMED ot Y-1F-0f
(ExH. Y2, Fp ) wiTn cATHETAL AFD LINES, PLACEmMmENT AT e
LEVEL of T9-T1e Z VERTEBRAL BeDy (EXN. y2,P27) and

o JRioR TO (-27-0/ tumBAR PReCEDVRES, No /vATu,eAL/Pf(yf/cAL EVIDENCE
AANIEEST (5€€ RT. Y20 Y2 — “HEmo RRHACINC o) Frmetiineg” ) on

MV LTIPLE X-RAYS, €.3-, THE SINGCE HEMORRHAGE SPOT oN PECPLES
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EXHIBIT Y, To SYBSTANTIATE AfuS€E A4S oPPos€D TO Y-28-¢l TP 7/°
VERTEBRAL BopY SuRGicAL PRecEDURES PRSDGCING THE ({€rno REHAUE

fPo7, AND FRACTVRE AT THE T-7 VERTEBRAL B2 7 (ACcoR) EXH. 10, Fr

¥ exn 8, 2 ExH. (Z).

oN [0 2-02 FF, TPENELE ASTURED THAT ”4¢u7—€ ERACTURES , No IAATTEE
WHELE THEY ALFE HAVE ACUTE HEMORRHIGE ASFOCINTED Wi TH THEM - - -
WHEN THEY FIRIT CRACK, FHERES HEMORRUAGE AND THEY ARE SWELLING T

(RT- Yzo-v¥2/; ACcoRP NATURAL, PurystcAt €EVIDENCE AT LoPE€iL V. SCHIRD

(p1¥ 2,667) Y9r F.3d (009, AT (037 — NEVSE OCCVRRED Ao T /6:00 AM., AND

DEATU ABouT $:50 M., RevENLING DEEINITE HEMMORRHAGE AND SWELLING

AT (6TH ] (/74 R(ES O AT PSY ).

o (6-2-02 [P TRENKLE RELFINC OoN TIHE HEroRRHALE SpoT N

Pespies exHIBIT Y, miSc€D THE TURY THAT NO SVRL(CAL FROCEDVRES

vccuRp€r “Low o THE SACK T (RT 117) AND TUAT HHEMORRHAVE SFOT

15 DUE To cHILD AGUSE or Y28 0/, I'E, 7 covkezING  (RT.YY!)

THE TVRy wAS DENIED DEFENTSE EVIDENCE o CAUSE of A T7D VERTEBRNL

Eody ARACTULE &

o THE SIVGLE fepmo REHAGE S Por or/ PECop €S EXHIBIT Y 01D INOT EXIST
o X-RAa7S on 7-28,AND (/fZ}"O/’/ PRICR To Lum FAR PRoCEDVRES, AND

o THERES A CATHETAR | AND LivES £ CED AT THE TP VERTEBRAL BedY
(— Iv faeT, CATHETAR PCACEMENT WAS PERFeRMED TwW(icE pug T°

SuRCGICAL éﬁﬂcﬁ/é;(f(,(?),/v THE €XACT LoCATloN of A FRACTVEE AT

THE T7 (ERTEGEAL B0,

on (0:3-02 DDA, HUGHES W(THDREN PEOPLET €EXHIBITY (€T c00l3F KT
8-7,546)
Peoc PLES €xXHLIEIT Y THE poTPSY PHOTO(S')-—WERF Wi THHELD ER0M

PETITICHNERS AUTOPSy REFeRT AnD TRAL DISCEVERY,
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DDA, HUCHES CAPITALITED oM AN UNCHALLENGED NINTH K(G FRATIR €
ACcUSED AS INFLIeTED ABUJE To0 KoilSTER GP, P/ANT/N/J” P'ﬁ’/s'“/

LT IPLE EYENTS CAULE of DEATH (€T cooole Y5 KR.T 653,657).
A ComPLETE AVTO RSy ﬁFPeﬁf ON REQUEST Fok D/I’asvs/ly wiLl
rd
SURFrTAN 7TATE PeETITI/oNERS AFOREMENTIENED AKGCVYMENT ofv ACTuAL

INNOcE€NCE CLATAN,

RICHT FEMUR

ON y0-/-02 GP,PIANTIN/ TEST/IFIED THAT AUTOFS )y PrALNOTED A
(/(o,f’f/CAL FRACTUEE ///!7’ THE //D/J'}'AL /mé/!”a,c THE RICHT FfM\/,é’,
AND THAT <CHICD “pguse T 15 THE onty CAVSE (P.T-35¢2.763,386 -387;
exm 1z, F7 8).

PRE. AUToFP Sy mEDICAL IQE(OK’DJ/K-IQA‘/J' 44’)’((’7’ ?NO spvieuS
feneruR€ T EXISTS en EITHER FEMVR (exm 21,67 2)

w-knyS REVEAL T EeTi T FEmURS BILATERALLY | Go/NG T Rov G M
PERI0 PTEAL REACTIVE CHANGES (EXH 10,F37), €., "E/’/P/H'f(ff

FN T,

FoeTNOTE 7

Sce §TEDMN‘-/;‘ MEDICAL DICTIoNARY 28 TH EpiTion ('ZOOQ AT -

EPIPRS SIS ¢ FL.EPIPHYSES , A PrRT of A LonG BoNE DEVELSFED FRom

A SECONDARY CenTER of OFST/FICATION, DISTINCT fRoM
THAT of THE SHAFT, AnD SEPARATED AT FIRST FRomMm THE
LATIER E% A LAYEL of CARTILACS. €P( — UPoN + PHYS(S —
GRowTH (P 657),

END FooTNoTE 71

o AUTOP/ Yy — AMICROTCOPIC EXAMINATION — (P TREN[K(E CoNEIRMED

11
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T/ffl?e’j' “NO peTulL CRACK of THE EoNt’//(k.T- vE7 ,; exH 23//75)‘
AT THE DIJTAL AREA, FINB | of EXALT LocAT/ON of €PIPHYSES (-
THATS 0CccvRRING TP BoTH FEMVLS EXH /0O, /’)75”), AND r/fmegTK/cALl—?‘
on ToP | on 7HE RIGCHT FEMUR | THE PER(OSTEYm NPPERRED “MoRE
PRoriNENT © (R.T.(58) 6f “moRE PRoNoSINCED T ASYmMmETRIC — TO

THAT of THE LEFT Femur (R.T- Y68 ; €xH 23, B 5).

FoeeTNo7TE 8

SEE STEDMANS MEDICAL DICTIONARY, 2B TH €DtTIoN (zoog) AT :

EPIPHYTIAL CARTILAGE @ PARTICYULAR TYP€E off WEN CARTILAGE PR —

DuclD By THE EPrPRY SIS of A GRopm /NG LoONG
BoNE - LOCATED o THE €PIPHYS AL (DISTAL)
SICE€ of THE TONE of GRoWNTH CARTILACE (Fy 319 )

END FeoTNoOoTE &
oy /0-2-02 FP TRENKLE “eetr 7 (KT ¥37) oR HAD AN ,///ch/v;} TrenN :’ 1€,
PERSONALLY SPECULATED (— offEFR/INC No SCIENTIFIC REA FeNVING), THE RICHT
FEMUR PROMINENCE WAS AN “NFLICTED T INTURY (R.T.Y€7-YE7) BECAVSE
HE TEELT” THE oTHEE INTVRIES WNERE (NFLICTED (AT Y37, 167-467; EXH
22, Py &, 10, AT IIL.).

FP, TRENK(LE ACED TH€ FRomiINENCE AT T5ix T oR €IeuT” WEEKS PRIOR
7o S 2-0f AuTOPSY (£.7 YET).

P rhEnKlE NSSERTED, “yf ;75 INFLICTED T ;75 FROM BEING “crpPed”
AND TTwiTTER ", wHemENER ¢RIPPED THE RiIGuT FEMYR TORE TiE
pERIoSTEUM “ofF THE SernE T (AT YE7)

BvT, THE HYPsTHESIS 15 1N MATERAL CongLICT wiTH THE EVIDENCE  THE
PERICSTEUM WAS NEVER 'TORN off- Ti€ BeNE ' BCCAVSE Ti0€ PRominENCE

1S SYMMETRICALLY “on TeP 7 (kT y38), oR oNE€ anD THE SAME (= on

Ti€ RIGHT ) wiTH THE NATVRAL EPIPHYSES THATS occufRINC BILATERALLY
d )

13
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A7 THE DIFTAL AREA of BTH FEMUES 1N THE FIKST pLaCE (ext 42,£57).
/N oTHER woRD S (QUESTIeNING ), How DetS SPECULATIEN Of AN INFLICTED
INTURY ONLYy 0CCUR o 1S CoNFINED Seifly oN T0P o,‘/ AND SVYMa—
IMETRICALLY ARUND, THE NATURAL €Pr P YT €S PRoc€SST a7 Y
(Ti UNREASONAGLE (TS NFLICTED,

MOREOVER, N° EUIDENCE EXISTS  ~Nok wiTNEE0 (e .3, FRoM THE
MmoTHER oR AT RECULAR wWeELL- BAGY PEDIATRIC VISITS, SEE F.T. 21 ),
of “sixT of TEICHT T WEEK oLd (RT.¥47) EXTERNAL LEG JNTURIES [
BeVISING | SvCH FRoM g€ive TCRIPPED T AND /'74»4)"7(0 “ By FoRcE T°
70 ACCOMPLISHING A TENRING of PERI0STEUM Yopf THE EoNE “ (e

y¢7-968).

THE TVRY wWAT NEVER PRESENTED A DEFENTSE, AND (NVESTICATIVE
QUESTION IV BATEP oN SAID EVIDENCE AMD DEDUYCTION K FALTS.

oN CLOFINGS, DDA, HUCIHES CONCEDES THE LALTE TESTIroNY of 4
RIGHT FEMIR FEACTVRE INSTEAD MUMICKIN & SEECVULAT o oF T4
OLD HEALING LEC INTURY “(RT.597).

o DELIBERATIeNS, TIE J’uﬁy&’ CoNCERN WAS To Kok “yow aMANY z
FeruR FRACTUEES €x15TED (p.7.676; — POCTIR SonNNE ANSS ERTED Two,
Py, 208-207).

o DELIFERATIONS THE TURy FELT AN INTURY WAL STILE BREAKACE
cven o BoTH FEMURS wHEN SEERING To RESOINE A “HeUur€HOLO

AeedDENT 7 DEEENSE (BT 6T6).

PreRECT APP(A»/ CALIFORN A CouRT of NPPEALS STATEMENT of CALTS

THE STATEMENT of FACTS, RELIED BY THE (ALIFSRNIA CovRT of APPEALS,
A FEEPRESENTS rmATERIAL FACTS, ASTERTING P, PIANTINGS EmoTIONAL
BAS, AND FEMUE FRACTURE ABVSE, To JPHoLD CoNVYICT{oN, /-E.} ”Aurony

PEVEALED ... AN OLDER FRACTURE 7o ERIKS FEmIK “lexn, fp3;exny, b 51Y)
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MEmM o RANDUAN OF PO ivT S ANVD AVTHOR(TIES

ACTUAL INNOCENCE GATEWAY

" ro BE CREDIBLE, AN ASTUAL (NNOCENCE CCAIM REPUIRES PETITICNER T

PoppoRT w15 ALCEGATIONT of ConSTITUTIeNAL €RROL w/TH NEW RELIABLE
EVIDENCE —— WHETIER (T BE EXCULPATIRY SC/EN TIfIC €ENIDENCE [ TRVIT =
WoR THY EFEWITVESS ACcsuNTs  af CRITCAC prySic AL EVIDENCE — — THAT
NS NoT PRESENTED AT TRAL™ ((CRIF(EN V. Toin Tol! (97% z003) g5 F.7

906, 96/ ; AccorD 28 U.S.C. $ILYY () (2) (8)(ir)).

//” we HAVE PREVIOUSLY ra1d Wi€ERE FolT. CanVIiCTroN EVIDENCE CAS 7S5
/

DouPT oM THE CoNVIcTIoN By UNDERCYTIING RELINB(LITY of Tue PResf ofF

GuieT, EyT NoT ARFIRMATINELY ERoVIN ¢ INNOCENCE , THAT CAN B€ §NoNGH

7o PASS THEoUGH THE S<HLUP [v.pe€io, §13 v.5 278 (1575) ] ATEW AT TP

ALLow CoNSIDERATION SF STHER W/ISE BARRED CLrinrS “ (soviroT€S V.

YeofErn Zow V.S DIST. CEXIT (38776 AT ),

INEREECTINE ASSISTANCE of cour L

o ESTABLISH INERFECTIVE ASSISTANCE of CouNSEL | A PETITIoNER AVIT
PEMONSTRATE THAT (/j CounvS€EL S .QéPﬂyéf(NrAne,N CWAS DEFErCrEMNT  IN
FALLIN G BEiows AN o5 TE€cTivE STANDARD of REASoNNBLENESS UNDER
PREVAILIN G PRoFE€ST1erAL NORMST  AND (2) Coumusels DEFICIENT
REFRETEMTATION SUBTECTED THE PETITIsNER T FRETUDICE €.,
Tieke /5 A LEASONAGE PRoSAEILITY THAT , BVT KoR CounNSELS
EMCINEGS, THE RESILT woolD HAVE BEEN AMoRE FAVoRABLE 7o THE

FETITIONER “ (';7K’,¢/4LAN9 V. WASHING TSN (/73(// Yy V-5 bEE 68?),

YA LEL SoNABLE PRoBABILITY (S A PRoFALI1CITY SOfFFICIENT TP

UND €ERLMINE doNFE D ENCE NV TIE AUTEEME v (STRm/qmwyl y6& v.J. AT
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CALIFOPNIA PENAL CoDE secTion 273 &b

£ 273 ab (— ASTAULT By FoRcE€ REFSILT(NG (N DEATH) (5 A CENERAL
INTENT CFFENTE  LEQULING EVIPDENCE THAT THE DEFENDANT ACTED
/IUJ/TM AWNPARENESS of FACTS THAT wodlD (€ADP A RE€ASovABLE
PERSON TO REALITE THAT (REAT Bod/Ly INTURy would PIRECTLY,

NATURALLY AND PROEAPLY RESULT FRern HISL ACT i _(PFOPL€ V.

WYATT (26/2) 178 ¢AL. RPTR. 34 o8 r/'f}/ e.5. SEs5,

4

INVOLUNTARY MANSLAVCHTER

/T 1S READILY CCEAR THE STATUTSRy €LEMENTS of (NVOLINTARY
FANS AV CHTER Do NOoT NECESTARILy (NCLULE ALL of TiHE STATUTORY
CLEMENTS ef ACGRAVATED ASTAVIT. AGOCRAVATED ASSAVLT Re€ -
QUIRES AN AcT THAT &Y (75 NATUKE LILL DIRECTLY AND PRo BABLY
RESULT v THE APPLICAT o ©fF FeRcé To A PERSTON, INVOLONTAR Y
AMANSECAVCHTER /.’('?uueef EI1THER AN UNLAWEUL AT oR “rme
COMMISTION OF A LAWEUL AET ric mICUT PRobucE DEATH N AN
UNLAWFUL MANNER | OR wiTloyT DUE CAUT)eN AND ClrRecurt SpEcTIoN

(PEMAL Copg § 172 (8)). 1T 17 NoT NECESTARY Fof MANSLAUGCHTER

THAT THE AcT B€ SUCH AS woulD 01f€cTly AND PREAGLY RETVLT IN
THE APPULICATION OF FORECE TO THE VIeTIme . ACCRAVATED ASSAVLT
AlSo REPUILES [CNOWCED(E of TEACTS THAT woeulD (EAD A REASON ~
NBLE PERseN 76 REALIZE THAT A LATERY woutD D/RECTLY

NMATURALLY AN PReBEALLY RESVLT [FReoA f1s5 C¢~Ducr” (ﬁ(cfﬂf v.

WILLIAM S (Zooy) 177 €1¢. RPTR. 2d 1/Y, 121), nvoiLonwTARY rMAN-—

SLAUYGHUTER ~rny RE BATED oN 7€ (OMMSTSI0r of A LAWFVL ACT

THAT rMieuT ProDucE Dénrti (56€ ORLINA V. SuPER0R courT (177P)

8¢ cAL. RP7R, 29 38Y 3285-38¢ — TwHEN W€ CoraPARE TUE SECerD

/6
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ALT(@NI\TIVF FOoR INVOLINTARY AMANTLAICHTER WwiTH CALIFoRNIA

penAL Coo€ § 273 AB, WE CIND A pirriveTieN BETWEEN “FoRce

TUAT T A RE€ASOoNAGLE PERSON wouceh BE Likéty T PRODUCE GREAT
BoviLy (INTuRy 7 ANO apy TACT wHICH MIGHT PRaDVCE DEATH - - -

wiTHov T duUE cAUTIonN © § 273 db 11 PREDICATED oN A PRoFARILITY

of G REAT BopiLy iNTIRy To THE teTim (S€€ PEoPLE . preccel (1777)

2 cal. RPTR. 2d 07, §07-f/0) wHILE THE J€CarvD DEEINITION of  (N=—

VoluNTARY [ FAJ€D oN THE FoesTcBILITY of PEATH T> THE NICTIM .
£ 273 4b CPEAR S To RE€CE(ESS coNPUCT (7L1&€ty TO pRodvc€ 7N —
j,/(ey) WHILE THE J€cor'D DEFINITICN sf INVOLUNTARY MANSLAVGHTEE
ENCOMPASTES CARELESS of NEGLIGENT CorldVveT (’/w/TMou‘r PUFE

CAUTioN AnD CrRCUMIPECTIeN ). 7).

(RS 1T RECK(ESS ConNpULT, AND FALJE EVIDENCE of SBS |5 FRETVpICIAL

To A JURy FINDING of CRIAINAL NEGCLIGCENCE .

IMPLIED MALICE MURDER | PENAL toD€ , SECTION (67

THE €STENTIAL DIFFERENCE BETWNEEN INVOLONTARY MANSLAVGHTER AND
JAMPLIED MALICE MVRDER (5 THAT onNLY M FLED pMALICE LEQUIRES A
SUBTECTIVE of MmENTAL ComPernENT. A LNOING SF (AP LIED mALICE
CEPEND S yPer/ A P2ETERMINATION THAT THE DEFENDANT AcTuALLY
APPRECIATED THE FISK INVOLVED, (€, A SUSTECTIVE FTANDARD
THYS (~MPLIED MALICE mMmAY G€ 2ITTINCULPHED FRom CReSS NEGCLI -
CenNtE By Fetu THE HICHER DECREE of RISIC INVOIVED, AND K7 THE
LEGVIREPENT THAT THE RISk € JogTe€cTIVELY NPPRECIATED RATNER
AN MERELY SF T €CTIVELY APPARENT (PEoPLe - NogL (Zeog) 28 CAL.

prTE. 34 297,411).
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EVIDENTIARY TRIAL €RRORS

JT 15 WECL SETTUED THAT FEDECENL HALEAT LeCIEr peeS NoT LIE fofe

ERRERS of STATE AW (ESTELLE V. Me(ulRE (1720) §ez v. S 6'2,7?—),

BYT HABEAS E€LIEF (I WARRANTED IF THE ADMISSIoN of €ViDENCE
So FATAVLY INFCECTED THE JTATE CoNET PROCEEDINGS AS To RENOER
THEM FUNDAMENTALLY UNFAIE (_('_d), N Sucrt A CASE, “THE PRESENCE
6R AGJTENSE of A STATE LAW \(oLATIoN 15 LARCGELY E€SIDE THE

PorNT Z ( TrMMAL V. YAN DE fcAmP (P7n /99) P26 F.2d 7/8, 7/?)1

INJUEFICIENT EVIDENCE

TJACKSoN v. NIRGINA (//’7)?) YYF7 V.S 307 arAkeS CEAR THAT CASES

CANNOT LoNJSTITUTIONALLY STAND (F THE EN/0ENCE WAS (INSULF! —
Creny T conuiNeE A TRIER of fheT E€Yorn9 A REASomAGLE DOvBT
of THE EXISTENCE of €EVERY ELEMENT of THE OFFENSE ™ (AT 5/6),

AND VERIUS JucH SEVERE STANTDALD AS NPPLIED v THem FPSoN .

boUursviee€ ((960) 362 u.J (95, wHICH HELD (T 76 6€ A vioLATIoN of

OUE PROCESS T® CoNVCT 8~ NO GV(D€NC€/ TACK S oN rMmAKES c(€ERL
TIHAT A (oNVvICTIoN [J UNCONITITUuTIENAL EVEN (F THERE (5 Seme
EVIPENCE Of GUILT wif€N ALl THE EVIDENCE VIEWED N THE LIGHT
MOST FANORAGLE To THE PRos€cUTIer, Do€S NoeT CERMIT ANY
RATIoNAL £aeT.CINDER 1o FIND GuitT Beornd A E€ASer/nEcE Dedi3T
(Theesor, ¥¥2 U5 AT 3’/7-;’/?)‘

CALIFORNA EVIFENCE CoDE, SEcTI(oN 8o/
UNDER 8ol(b) (comPrRE (€D, R. ENID, 701) EXPERT oPiNloN ¢/ LIAITED

TO SUCH 6PinioN AS 15 . . . TBASEQ ON MATTER THAT 15 6F A TYPE THAT

RENTOWABLY rmAY B€ ReLi€0 uPoN By AN experT .. . 7
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UNPELIAELE €XFPELT of/vioN BASED eN FALSE FVIDENCE

NEURDLOGICAL exP(@r/ FP TRENKLE DD Nof FInvDo EvidEncE O,L/ No kR
RPeLy oN A DIFFVSE AX/AL /»/fué’y/ OR FAJE THE SINGLE EUENT oNLYy
EVIDENCE oN AUTOPS Yy To AN S5 OrACNeIT IV,

P PrANTINGSG GENERAL PEDIATERICIAN afiNioN oN NEURG L O0GICAL
AMATTER (— A D./—\‘/./J‘, B.5.) 15 NoT ¢/QF'.A50NA/5’L‘7 ... KELIFD ’
UForn By Ti€ NEVRBLOGrCAL €XFERT PERFeR rn NG AUTOPS )Y

CcAL. €viId. Cob €, § 8or(8), fep. B END. 762 ).

INEFFECTIVE AJSITTANCE Of CoonN TEL [ (NSUFECIENT €VIDENCE o CHARLED

ELEMENTS
DC, SACHS, /¥ FAILING To CHALLENGE G, FIANTING o A §.AL , AND J.B.T
LEPRLESENTATIEN AS FounNDED onN AUTOPTY | FAILE) TO CeNDUCT A FRE -

TE/AL AVTOPS 7 INVESTr6AT 6N WiTH FF, TRENKLE oN =

L TAeHT AbJe FAILED TO INTERVIE (o ¢P, PIaANTING ON :

THE ONLY EVIDENTLE CAusE of DEATH |

A FocAL /INJURY VERJUS A DIFFUSE Ax/AL (NTURY [ AND

A SUGDURAL ARTERIAC BREAR AT THE PoSTERIER FA LX, TENToRIuM
(deciPiTAL LOBES ) ARGA/ WITH VENTR¢ULAR [ INTRAVENTRICVLAR

COMMUN e ATloN FEQIUCING SUBARACHNGID HeEMo RRHAGIN (.

FACTS CoNctluDiNE Ciied ABVSE BAJSED o A D.A.(., THAT (£ A
PeleNcEPuALic (€sienN (Exm (6, F91), eR NEN INTRAPAREN CHYMAL
(€xt 16, Pr3)

EVIDENCE Of MULTIPLE INTRACLANIAC INFUICTIeNS ACECRPING TO

AvTofsy (e ovoonyl/-Y2 - Y7y NoT TVST o€ C:VENf”)_
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De | SACHT  DEFICIENCIES ALLowed ,wiTHedT Sl ENTIFIC CIALLENCE
('/9-7-/0-15), THE FRoJECVTIofN TC INTRceDOVCE (NFECT voYS AND PR —
Judreede MATTER THRoUGH (FF7 ExXTRINIIC sers (€5TELLE, SeT V.. AT 71)‘

ALLow /NG Zool FALIE fLEMENT FiNDINGS EASED N ArL€led S ILARITY

eviDeNCE Oof S B AnvD VIE of SAD Te eBTAIN A FALJE CapvreTrely

foR =

. caL e g g7 = (1) AN INTENTIemAL AcT, (2) 4 SUETECTIVE KNewW —
LEdCE, AND (3) A conNScrous DISRECARD Fefs HYer AN LIFE 5 AND

o AL Fc.f 273 Ab — ASTAVLT By FeRCE pErulTivG IN MNRDER
BaJED o A (eNERAL INTENT THRoVLH FALIE cvipeNct of A D./\.//

S8y PIACKNSSIS (pccoRD, €ExH. Y4 F 67,¢3-1Y).

D<, SACHS PRETVPICED THE DEFENSE — 4 SINGLE CvENT BLUNT fohcE
FaLL, AND Zoo/ JuRRoLNIING CLRCLCMITAN CEF — RELENLING AT Mo ST
(LI inAL NECLIGENCE [ MoN= STATVTORY oL NTARY MANSCANGITTER
(s€€ R.T-SYY, 58¥ L 23-18) To Sl LersornABLE Fﬁrob’A&l«,,T}, UND €L —
MOINING CONFEIDEN CE N THE oUTCsrE of THE ERcCEEDINGS ( F1RICKIAND,

V66 v.5. AT 679).

PReJECTERIAL VIE Cf FALTE EXIDENC €

¥.28 -0/ TpRoJGH §S-/1-0f

(7 mAy B€ TRVE ALL Vg prcAL REceRpy T RECI€ED) en By P, PraNTING
(AcceRp €.T vove 3/, 37) pRIcR S T-0/ AVTePJSY v €T v greod INSI1DE
THE FRoNTAL CoRTEX of THE grAIN T (S¢€ €XH o Fp13), OTHERWIIE TERMED
A TPoRENCEPHALIC “esreN (€xH 10, F97), oR “NEN INTRAPAREN —
cuyrmhL AT THE LEFT FRomTaL lege “(exrvt 16, 73, €XH gz 7 2-7)— 4
DIfRVSE Axihl (NTVRy (R.T 332 3371

IT AmAY G€ TRUE FER &P, P/Al\/ff/N/.;f MSS/eN To F1ND CHitD Agui€ (T

vooe3l ), FRE-AUTOFSY meDICAL CEcokOS RELIANCE  AND ALLEGED
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SteciarrsT “eon Sy TAT N 7 (e.7 0005l AT, 317) THAT GF, PraNTIN

f
EE€LT TuSTIFIED T (N IuDE CHILD AT UVIE, pIACNISED S B.S., AND 7€ RMED e
A HT fop THE PROTEcOTION (€XH IEA, 177/ €XH /6,053)
/T ALSe saAy B€ TRYE THAT SAID NENW INTREAPAREN ity AL (€XH (6, F73;
€xH Y2, 3 23) — A Dhd (KT 333 33y,357) — TCoNTRADICTED 7 RS
C N CONFISTENT T TO THE SINGLE EVENT PCUNT - foRCE STAIR FALL
7o Ry PRoVIDED By FET/TIeNER, AND WARRANTED AREEST N 718 -0/
(extl 7, 6; R7 61-63,T€E 07367, €ExH 2,F03),
AND , HAD A DAl RATHER ruaN A focAt NTuLly Be€N TRUE o AV TPy
(ef. cT aooo3738) (7 s~y f1AYC S€eN TRUE THAT FETITIeNER “ord 7
Gefel€ AND DID IT ACAIN “ (se€ PReSE€cuToR(AL CLofine s, R.T. o060/, 603,
608-607, 6//'6"‘:'65'1‘65'3,66"/653“4‘4?’) WARRANTING Ev/DENCE ADMIITIeN IF
StmiLAR TS 1 977 7o £€ uFED AT Zcol ELEMENT FRoof of INTENT,
SupTECTIVE KNow LEDGE AND JALK of ACCIDENT To F€cuRE CoNvICTION

(R.T. /e (3, EXH Y, Fp1-12) .

¢f F/ANrm//J" CoNTEMPT of AVTOLSY only €VIDENCE AND O/4G NS 1S

-7-07 AVTOPST

BYT, wHer DOA, HUGHES AND GP, PIANTING ATTENDED THE S-77¢/ AvTolsy

(- Svp€iy SeeiNG TO CoNFEIRA A D.A.l, AND YALIDATE SucH JIGNIEICANT
DIAGNOF IS of 5 G (SEE CT. 000 30.32,37-4¢)), DDA HUCitES, GFy PIANTING,
AND DC, SACHI KNEWN , CF JHeuled HAVE KNowNN, THAT AuToPI‘//FP, TRENK(E
CCNFIRMED FALSE CAT SeAN jnPEETTrer S oF A DAL Cextr 25,607, FREAS,
a1 TEReNTAL CoRTEX ), THUS NVALIDATING ciiien ABUJE By AN S8,/ AHT

RePPETENTATICN.

AT THE FRenTAL Leged, ARcVE THE BRAIN Coﬁfé)f" THAT 1S, WITHIN THE

Vo NNECTINE TISTVE fﬂAMemoRK"(/\.«rs, Py 2, EN-T AT FPARENCHTMA ),

AvTOP Iy | FP, TRENKLE €VIDENTIA LLy RECCEDS :
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. AT THE SYZARACHNS/D SFA €t , //JEcr/c/Vf af FRCHTAL CeRTEX SHeWN

SUPEREICIANL SUCARACIHNG D HEMRRHAGE AND €DEMNA “(exn 23,67,
. B »
Fr 16 AT TDIFFUSE SAH CEFT SOET) AN

o AT THE SUBPURAL SFACE, AnD FEFERRVG TP FeaPES EXIIET 1¥,

FP,TRENKIE OrACNETED N AMONTH T Ol ConTVSien — A HEAD ERGITE
L AT THE CE€FT FRONTAC Lope (‘AT W63, €xk 23, F 7 (Pata2) Frr¢ AT

FocAL 0tD FLoWN-YELLew IDff ConTujren /’/'ﬂ

(_;,p’ FraNn7rrnes UNPROEESTrevAL CoNDVCT

J7eE SAIO MeNTH 000 SvEDYRAL CONTISIeN (eExH 23 £ 70 AT e.)-A

#

CocAl INTURy (EX1 23, Fp /6 ANTE, Fr3 Ene ) — THAT, [e5T - AdTOPS 7,

EF, PINNTING PRETUDICED THE TRIAC By INTENTICNAL CeNCEALMENT 2F
/NCorAFPE TFNCE/ 0R AcTING AJ A NEVRCeLeGiST (ce R.T.320 ;13) To AT LEAD
NonN-EXISTENT FPRE AVTCFPSy CAT SCAN (mpRETTIeN of A D.A [, oK “Broso
INFIDE THE flonTAl CoRTER ™ (éxu 2,173, FARAS ; €xH Y, P35, 13) “irrece”
(p.17333 73% ; Com PARE foRENCEFIALIC Zy(N 7€ EFT FlonwTAL LeBE T
(exH 10, Fpl), NEW (NTRAPAREN CHY ~AL “IN THE LEET FRONTAL LesE "

Cexr 16 b2 3 ; €Xu gz, Fp3) WA [NFLICTED on -2 -G ) AND THAT SAID

MNTH 0D CeNTvIIent (_’ce FALSEfHEap of A DA.[.) VALIDATES 785, FNT
AVD AUTLPSy EViQENCE of mMmucT/(FLE EVENTS of INTRACRAN/AL (N —
forerieN AS THE CAUSE oF DEATH (eT. coonllt, to2é ¢ T cooo(ftmiZ ; R
RT.351,371), unPER THE TERM AHT " (.7 cocnve Y1, €T 363 FEE

DDA, HCGHES on Ccom/G s, RI. SY& Ll BT S75Lr 2102 RT. Lo5 = YEHA K 1N
AND SLAMMING ",‘ R.T.£og, §59-660)

/N OTHER waR DT, GF PiaNTING D (D NoTHING UNDER A ErDUCIARY ¢8LICA ~
Tre N o (efpeeT ALL FREVieUS CH(eD Agaft-’/ SES ASTETSrAENT ) guie?
UPen THE AUTOFSy €X FoS€d FALSE oD of PRICK €T SCAN. SUCGESTIENS

Of A DIFFUJE AX (AL (v TIRY (1 THE LEET FReNTAL CeRTEX.
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MATERLIAL MISLEPLESeNTAT /e N of AVTRPS Y FUIDENCE -

SN CLesINGS, DDA, IVEAES riSLED To fACTS poT N EVIDENCE,
REPEATED LY, DDA HVeHES FAILED T CITE A D.AI. AT A Y-18-0/ /NITULYy
(RT. 57€,559,607,£558) JET miSREPRESErTED THAT Fh, TRENKE VouCHED
THE V-28-0/ I(INTRACRAN/AL ONLY EYIDENCE (S T eorntrsTENT D wi7H SES
Ful cues€ ploT T REACH ”T,,g SHAKING [STUE V((’.T-f?/“)/ oR
“eomecrusien T (R.T. E5I-6€0),

THE RECoRD [F voiD FF, TRENKIE DIACNOSED EVIOENCE Of MULT(FLE
EVENTS, SB.5. ©R A D.A.(. FINDING (AlcoRD, K.T. Y6/- Y67 176-Y78 650 (425
— €51, exw 23,P517¢).

AT R.T- 478  AuD ACCORDING To DDA, HUCHETS, $.8.5 [MveT (P €VENTS
e T ERom A “PeSIE [1eiTy ] “ 7o A mATERIAL INTECTIeN AF | Con —
SISTENT * NTH THE oNLly EVIDENCE D/IACNOSTIC ©N AUTCPS ¥

DDA, VGHES misc€0 THE TvRy (AT, S5, E5P-660) By TARING SPECULATICN
Of A PosSI@IUITY (= THAT wAS KETE€ECTED €9 FP, Tﬂ(&.«tf AL ev;oéﬂct’) AND
INTECTED S.B.5. AS AOLTIFLE SVENTS TS FP, TRENK(ES SING(E EVENT
BLUAT -fcRcE pmcwonf/ CAVSE of peaTH (R.T. ?éz—%V); AND | (N PeiN (¢ Se,
(P RoPERLY BeiSTEREN GP, PIAN TINIIT €T ScAN oPiNIeN AS AUTOPT
EATED, I SCHARACTERIZING A focAL INTURY 7O A DIFFUSE AX(AL .

FP, TREMKIE wAs ccenr  “rre T€Rm “spAnen €48y T 1 DenT THINK [

USED ANY WHERE N my REPCRT “(R.T. ¥77).

EVD FooeTNoOTE 9

INECEEECTIVE ASSIfT7ANCE of o UNTEir

AcAIN, THE Tonty €VidenNcE T (LT veér-v6Y) L NoSTIC or AVTEFTS -
A SINGLE EVENT FCSNT FoRCE — 15 Cenv Sl 7ENT wiH P(?’/-f/crlfk’j’

SIVGLE EVENT FTAIR FALL /f/froﬁ?; AND EVEN MORE Je WItERE €L 1K

HAD N EXTEENAL /A/‘TdﬁV/@.@u/r/Nl'/ (‘p_r' JVC/-???/ ‘//7-‘//[5',(/27..).
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oc, Sdcws wat DELICIENT IN PERFORMANCE NeT cviy E5 THE FML.UA’{
70 CoNDveT AN AUTOFS Y CoNSISTENT STAIR FALL (NVEFTIG ATICN Vv 6%
Y e FAILVRE TE cHA LLENCE €XPERT TESTImeNY - - - LENDERING
CouNSELS ASTISTANCE ,vn/é,cﬁétf‘r/w GECAVSE (T DEPRIVED THE DEFEN -
DANT of A SRS TAaNTIAL APGUMENT AND S€7 uf AN UNCHALLENGED
EAcTVAL PREDICATE faR THE STATES AN AR GUMENT - - To THE FACTS

of THE CATE 7 (hecoRD DRAVGHEN V. ORETKE (st Zos§) 127 F.5d zge;‘z?é)

MALICIeu S OISTREGARD «fF AuT o PSSy EVIDEMNCE AND peALNO SIS To CeNeEAL

(NCorPETENCE

e Tomty EvIDENCE” or AUTOLSY AND DiAenoSIT B FP, TERENILE WAS , (K
FACT MAT ERNLLY PISREGARDED 8} &P, PIANT I — ”THATJ‘ onE EYENT
EEING A BLow of A FALL, wodLp pF€ J‘dFF(C/FI\/fT‘b ACcOUNT fFoR ALL [‘/—2&’-0(
INTRACRAN AL ] DAMAGE Y (R.T.¥CZ)  THE FRACTVRE 7@ THE occiPITAL Bel(E,
,’L’AVI'ED TUAT SUEARACHNOID HEMmOLLHAGE  THE FRESHER o RE RECENT SYEDYRN
HEMMORRHALE ’ (k. Y€Y; AcceRO EXH T3, F5 17, /6)_ |

Gy pECEIT, MALICE, aND FLAVD, «P, PIANTIN{ MISLED THE ]\IR)’/ INTENTIONALLY
CoNCEALING (NCormPeTericE WHEN MISKEPRESENTING THE oNf-r,c-’vwéNCE orY
AUTEPSy, AND VSING AV-roNy/H’, TEENK(E AS A RYSE T2 ofFER A FALSE

NEYRO Lo G (CAY PIACHISIS (— 5. 8.5) BASED or AN ACToPSY ConfIRMED Ner =

exisTANT vy (— D.A.1.) FoR THE FRes€coTIorl,

THE ERETVDICED AND[OR FUNDAMENTALLY UNFAIR PRecEE€OINGY

INVOLINTARY MANSLAUCHTER — CRIMINAL NECLICENCE

PErITIerERL AND TVRYy WERLE DENIED A FAIR HEARING AND PREVENTED FRem
Futt UNDERSTANOING of mEDICAL EVIDENCE AeTuALLy grseb o AvrePsy [ 8,
TRENKIE NoT oMty CoNFIRM ING PRicR CAT ScAWN (M PRESTIONS oF A D.A.I.

FALSE , NN (NVALIDATING AN 5.5, prAGNes 1S BT Br FP, 'nem;qfr' DrACNe 1S

getN & eVIDENT/ALLY Lo SISTENT WITH FETITIENERS ¥-28 2oy HISTORy , AIND
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SURRouN DN C’/’CUMC'TA/‘/CEJT (€-$~, AS A RESVLT oFf THE THeRT DI STANCE

STALR FALE (c’.‘l’. oo«ln‘//)/ EXIKk SeEFER€ED NA exTERNAL HEAD (/(’.T. y/7_7/8"727—),

o BeDX (&7 3e7,7%¢, Y/?—V/I:’) /N‘ru/?y/ grvisinvie- (CoNTRAST] DDA, HUG/({S”

THEEE- 5ToRY (uRCE,  SLAMMING Y Afeumen T, RT. §03-607)).

SA1) comceALar€NT (= AvTeFsY corfRMNG A DAL [S.8S NeN. EXISTANT ), ANP
PEETYIICAL MISUIES ofF ev1DENCE (— cALTC N2, 7.3, AND (992 EXTRNS (€ AtTS')
DEPRINED THE TURY FRe~ RENDERING AN INVoiuNTARY MANSLAVCHTER €N 10

(— ok Accio€NT) VERDOICT,

fooTNOTE (0
D ENABLY, TES 15 AN ASTAULT BY feRel (eAn FC £ 777 86), AN (NTENTIoNAL ALT
(cAL. pc. $187) fok MYRIEL (RT. 607 §ey). A FAIL TRIAL wiTHooT N€0RoLOCIEAL
FALSEMHOOD of S.6.5 wevtd LEAVE THE TURY T FND EVIDENCE A ’lb’l,ow  RATHER
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VERIFICATION

| am the petitioner in this matter. | have read the allegations contained in the

petition and know them to be true by my own personal knowledge.

| declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of America that the

forgoing is true and correct.

it
Executed on this — day of

DAVID . PATKINS
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(PRINT NAME) -
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(SIGNATURE)

Juty L2007




12

LS
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(T S8 1013 (A1 20155 FRCP5 28 US.C S 1740

o PavD e OaTRINT e

[ am over 1§ vears of age, and am a party to this action. | am a resident of the Correctional Training
Facility Prison in the County of Monterey, State of California. My prison address 1s:

cperE:  Vo13eZ

Correctional Training Facility

=] A s
P.0. Box 703 Housing: A 25 V¢
Soledad, CA. 93960-0705

1 served the attached:

On 7‘%—,7

ACTUAL (NNOCENCE LAV e PETITIeN FOR WART of HABEAT

CeRPVS

On the parties herein by placing true, and correct copies thereof, enclosed in a sealed envelope, with
postage fully paid, verified bv. and given to prison staff *. pursuant to 15 CCR § 3142 (.

for deposit in the United States Mail provided at the above amed correctional institution n which

[ am presently confined.

The envelope was addressed as follows:

US.DISTRICT CoURTHOUSE ATTORNEY GENERAL
CENTRAL DIST.¢€ CALIECRN (A - Po.Box 8526€

3Y76 TWELFTH ST. SAN D(€¢s, CA.
RIVERSIDE, ca. 256l 92186 -5266

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of America that the foregoing
is true, and correct.

Executed on: 7 ) k/ B ( 7

(Declarant’s Signature)

* please. note that according to the prison mailboy rule. the documentis) mentioned herein is considered filed the day it is handed ©
to prison authoritics for mailing to the court. See Huizar v. Carev (9% Cir. 2001) 273 F. 3d 1220, 1221: Moore v. Twomey (201
120 Cal. App. 47910, 913-018.
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2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 104750, *

DAVID C. PATKINS, petitioner, V. RICHARD J. SUBIA, Warden, Respondent.

CASE NO. EDCV 07-1124-DMG (FFM)

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 104750

April 14, 2011, Decided
April 14, 2011, Filed

SUBSEQUENT HISTORY: Adopted by, Writ of habeas corpus denied, Dismissed by, Judgment entered by Patkins v. Subia,
2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 104740 (C.D. Cal.,, Sept. 14, 2011)

SRIOR HISTORY: People v. patkins, 2004 Cal. LEXIS 1163 (Cal., Feb. 4, 2004)

CORE TERMS: prosecutor, child abuse, trial counsel, degree murder, trauma, medical expert, abusive, accidental, stairs,
guilt, prosecutorial misconduct, misconduct, cumulative, federal law, brass knuckles, fair trial, brain, doctor, serious
felony, medical evidence, federal habeas, bodily injury, prejudicial, instructing, fracture, shaking, shaken, malice, died,

trial counsel

COUNSEL: [*1] David C Patkins, Petitioner, Pro se, lone, CA.

For Richard J Subia, Warden, Respondent: Garrett Beaumont <V, LEAD ATTORNEY, CAAG Office of Attorney General of
California, San Diego, CA.

JUDGES: FREDERICK F. MUMM ~, United States Magistrate Judge.

OPINION BY: FREDERICK F. MUMM -~

OPINION

REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION OF UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE

This Report and Recommendation is submitted to the Honorable Dolly M. Gee ~, United States District Judge, pursuant



to 28 U.S.C. § 636 and General Order 05-07 of the United States District Court for the Central District of California. For
the reasons discussed below, itis recommended that the petition be denied and the action be dismissed with prejudice.

.. PROCEEDINGS

Petitioner David C. Patkins, a state prisoner in the custody of the California Department of Corrections, filed a Petition
for Writ of Habeas Corpus by a Person in State Custody pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2254 on September 5, 2007. Thereafter,
on January 28, 2008, Respondent Richard J. Subia filed an answer to the Petition. On July 31, 2009, Petitioner filed a
memorandum of points and authorities in opposition to Respondent's answer. The matter, thus, stands submitted and
ready for decision. For the reasons that follow, the [*2] Court recommends that the petition be denied and that this

action be dismissed with prejudice.
Il. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On October 8, 2002, a jury found Petitioner guilty of second degree murder (Cal. Pen.Code § 187), child abuse resulting
in death (Cal Penal Code § 273a), and possession of brass knuckles (Cal. Penal Code § 12020(a)). (Clerk’s Transcript 236-
38.) The trial court thereafter found true that Petitioner had previously been convicted of a serious and/or violent felony
(Cal. Penal Code §§ 667(a)-(e), 1170.12). (CT 245.) Petitioner was sentenced to a total term of 59 years to life in state
prison. (CT 281-82; Reporter's Transcript ["RT"] 689-90.)

Petitioner appealed his conviction. (Lodged Doc. No. 3.) On November 19, 2003, the California Court of Appeal filed an
unpublished opinion affirming Petitioner's conviction. (Lodged Doc. No. 6.) Thereafter, Petitioner filed a petition for
review in the California Supreme Court, which denied the petition on February 4, 2004. (Lodged Doc. No. 8.) Petitioner
then filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in the California Supreme Court, which denied the petition on August 8,
2007. {Lodged Doc. No. 10.)

ill. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

The following [*3] facts were taken verbatim from the California Court of Appeal's opinion affirming Petitioner's
conviction: :

In February 2000, after impregnating his girlfriend, Margie Garofano, [Petitioner] moved into her house. On October 25,
2000, Margie gave birth to their son, Erik. After Margie's maternity leave expired, she went back to work, working the
night shift three nights a week from 7:00 p.m. until 7:00 a.m. as a critical care nurse. [Petitioner] worked occasionally as
a handyman and painter, providing about 10 percent of the family income.

[Petitioner] became impatient with Erik when he cried. He also grew jealous of the attention Margie gave Erik. In March
2001, a few days before Erik's four month well-baby checkup with his doctor, Margie noticed a bump on the back of
Erik's head. When she asked [Petitioner] what happened, he said Erik hit his head on the coffee table when he rolled off
the couch. During the well-baby appointment, after Margie described the way [Petitioner] sometimes flipped Erik on his
forearm, the doctor told [Petitioner] that was a dangerous way to hold the baby. Margie obtained some pamphlets from
the doctor about "shaken baby syndrome" and left them out for [Petitioner] [*4] to read.

[Petitioner] and Margie, who never married, began to argue about Margie's concern that [Petitioner] did not contribute
financially to the family. As time went on, the arguments became more heated, and Margie asked [Petitioner] to move
out two or three times. [Petitioner] said that he would move out if she gave him $6,000 so he could get his life back
together. Margie did not have that much money, but she gave [Petitioner] a check for $2,000 in early April.



\
\

On April 27, 2001, when Margie left for work about 6:20 p.m., Erik was healthy. Margie worked all night. About 6:30 a.m.
“he following morning, [Petitioner] telephoned Margie and asked her to come home from work right away because Erik
was hurt. When Margie asked [Petitioner] what happened, [Petitioner] said Erik injured his shoulder around 5:30 a.m,,
when [Petitioner] tripped and fell on the carpeted stairs while he was holding the baby. Margie asked [Petitioner] if he
called 911, and [Petitioner] replied that he had not yet done so. Margie then told [Petitioner] to call 911 and get Erik to
the hospital. Although [Petitioner] seemed reluctant to do so, he called 911. After Margie hung up the telephone with
[Petitioner], she [*5] went home immediately.

Responding paramedics found [Petitioner] and Erik in an upstairs bedroom. A paramedic observed the baby lying on the
bed, looking somewhat drowsy, with a weak cry but no external injuries. When the paramedic asked [Petitioner] what
happened, [Petitioner] said that he dropped the baby while climbing the stairs when the dog got in his way. The
paramedic estimated an 18-inch drop after examining the stairs. The stairs were each seven inches high and three feet
wide. [Petitioner] agreed to accompany Erik to the hospital.

After Margie arrived at the hospital, she unsuccessfully attempted to waken Erik by calling his name and touching his
chest. When Margie manually lifted Erik's eyelids, one pupil looked down and the other looked straight ahead. This
alarmed Margie because, as a trained nurse, she knew that this was a sign of a head injury. Erik then awoke, arched his
head back, and began kicking his legs and crying. Margie noticed, however, that Erik could not move his eyes.

After Margie found a doctor, the doctor asked [Petitioner] what happened. [Petitioner] stated that Erik hit his head on
the stairs when [Petitioner] dropped him. Erik was then taken to be treated. [*6] While they waited for the results of the
examination, Margie again asked [Petitioner] how Erik got hurt. [Petitioner] said it was an accident.

Dr. Sonne, the emergency room doctor who attended to Erik, ordered a CT scan of Erik's brain after noting that Erik was
"posturing” with one arm stiff near his side, that his eyes were staring in a fixed position, and that he had a high pitched
cry, all indicators of abnormal brain functions. The CT scan showed skull fractures on both sides of Erik's head, bleeding
between the brain and left skull, a subdural hematoma on the left side of the brain, and blood inside the frontal cortex
of the brain. Erik's brain was swollen, indicating trauma. X-rays of Erik's body also revealed a healing fracture of Erik's
femur. Dr. Sonne opined that the CT scan and lesions in Erik's brain were inconsistent with the history of the injury given
by [Petitioner]. The doctor suspected child abuse and recommended that a child abuse workup be performed.

Erik was then transferred to Loma Linda Hospital for intensive care treatment. The treating doctor concluded Erik's
condition was critical and ordered a child abuse workup. After reviewing the child abuse evaluation, [*7] the doctor
concluded Erik's injuries contradicted the history provided by [Petitioner]. An eye examination revealed extensive
bilateral retinal hemorrhaging. The examination suggested abusive head trauma as a result of being shaken.

Erik died three days later, on May 1, 2001, after unsuccessful efforts to relieve the swelling in his brain to keep him alive.

An autopsy revealed optic nerve bleeding, which, like the retinal hemorrhaging, indicated a shaking injury. An older
fracture to Erik's femur and a more recent fracture to Erik's rib also indicated Erik had been shaken. The skull fractures
and subdural hemorrhaging indicated abusive head trauma. The extent of the injuries, particularly the skull fractures,
stemmed from an impact greater than that which would occur from a fall to a carpeted floor. Abusive head trauma,
rather than an accidental fall, caused Erik's injuries.

A pair of brass knuckles were found by police on April 28, 2001, inside a drawer in Margie's garage. [Petitioner] had
found them at a park and kept them in the garage.

(SN



(Lodged Doc. No. 6at2-6.)
. PETITIONER'S CLAIMS

1. Trial counsel deprived Petitioner of his Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel [*8] by committing

the following prejudicial errors:

(a) failing to move t0 suppress brass knuckles that police recovered during a search of Petitioner's home;
(b) failing to object to the State's expert witness testimony;
(c) failing to investigate the injuries to the victim and to explore alternative causes of those injuries;

(d) conceding that Petitioner was guilty of murder;

(e) failing to challenge the evidence that Petitioner suffered a prior serious felony that was used to impose 3 sentencing
enhancement; (f) failing to call an available medical expert to rebut the state's medical experts; and

(g) failing to object to numerous instances of alleged prosecutorial misconduct.

2. The prosecutor deprived Petitioner of his right to a fair trial by committing the following acts of misconduct:

(a) knowingly presenting false evidence to the jury;

(b) misleading the jury about the contentof a witness's testimony;

(c) misleading the jury during closing arguments and making inflammatory arguments;
(d) suppressing exculpatory material;

(e) vouching for prosecution witnesses; and

(f) improperly "profiling" petitioner as a murderer. .

3. The trial court erred in instructing the jury on the requisite state of [*9] mind to support a guilty verdict for second

degree murder.

4. The prosecutor failed to introduce sufficient evidence to prove that Petitioner committed child abuse resulting in

death and second degree murder.

5. The trial court abused its discretion by allowing the prosecutor to introduce evidence regarding Petitioner's prior
conviction involving child abuse against another one his children and the facts underlying that conviction.

6. The trial court erred in instructing the jury with CAUIC 2.03 because that instruction incorrectly implied to the jury



that Petitioner had made false statements about the crime and permitted the jury to convict Petitioner based solely on
the fact that he made false statements about the crime.

7. The cumulative impact of the purported trial errors set forth in the foregoing claims for relief rendered Petitioner's

trial fundamentally unfair.
V. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review applicable to petitioner's claims herein is set forth in 28 U.S.C. § 2254{d), as amended by the
Antiterrorism and Effective Death Penalty Act of 1996 ("AEDPA") (Pub. L. No. 104-132, 110 Stat. 1214 (1996)). See 28
U.S.C. § 2254(d); see also Lindh v. Murphy, 521 U.S. 320, 336, 117 5. Ct. 2059, 138 L. Ed. 2d 481 (1997). [*10] Under
AEDPA, a federal court may not grant habeas reliefona claim adjudicated on its merits in state court unless that
adjudication "resulted in a decision that was contrary to, or involved an unreasonable application of, clearly established
Federal law, as determined by the Supreme Court of the United States," or "resulted in a decision that was based on an
unreasonable determination of the facts in light of the evidence presented in the State court proceeding." 128 U.5.C. §
2254(d); see Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 362,402, 120S. Ct. 1495, 146 L. Ed. 2d 389 (2000).

FOOTNOTES

1 In addition, under 28 U.S.C. § 2254(e)(1), factual determinations by a state court "shall be presumed to be correct"”
unless the petitioner rebuts the presumption "by clear and convincing evidence."

The phrase "clearly established Federal law" means "the governing legal principle or principles set forth by the Supreme
Court at the time the state court renders its decision." 2 Lockyer v. Andrade, 538 U.S. 63, 71-72, 123S.Ct. 1166, 155 L.
Ed. 2d 144 (2003). However, a state court need not cite the controlling Supreme Court cases in its own decision, "so long
as neither the reasoning nor the result of the state-court [*11] decision contradicts" relevant Supreme Court precedent
which may pertain to a particular claim for relief. Early v. Packer, 537 U.S. 3, 8, 123 S. Ct. 362, 154 L. Ed. 2d 263 (2002)

(per curiam).
FOOTNOTES

2 Under AEDPA, the only definitive source of clearly established federal law is set forth in a holding (as opposed to dicta)
of the Supreme Court. See Williams, 529 U.S. at 412; see also Yarborough v. Alvarado, 541 U.S. 652, 660-61, 124 S. Ct.
2140, 158 L. Ed. 2d 938 (2004). Thus, while circuit law may be "persuasive authority" in analyzing whether a state court
decision was an unreasonable application of Supreme Court law, "only the Supreme Court's holdings are binding on the
state courts and only those holdings need be reasonably applied.” Clark v. Murphy, 331 F.3d 1062, 1069 (9th Cir. 2003).

A state court decision is "contrary to" clearly established federal law if the decision applies a rule that contradicts the
governing Supreme Court law or reaches a result that differs from a result the Supreme Court reached on "materially
indistinguishable" facts. Williams, 529 U.S. at 405-06. A decision involves an "unreasonable application” of federal law if
"the state court identifies the correct governing [*12] legal principle from [Supreme Court] decisions but unreasonably
applies that principle to the facts of the prisoner's case." 1d. at 413. A federal habeas court may not overrule a state
court decision based on the federal court's independent determination that the state court's application of governing
law was incorrect, erroneous, or even “clear error." Lockyer, 538 U.S. at 75. Rather, a decision may be rejected only if



the state court's application of Supreme Court law was "objectively unreasonable.” Id. -

~he standard of unreasonableness that applies in determining the "unreasonable application" of federal law under
section 2254(d)(1) also applies in determining the "unreasonable determination of facts in light of the evidence" under
Section 2254(d)(2). Taylor v. Maddox, 366 F.3d 992, 999 (9th Cir. 2004). Accordingly, "a federal court may not second-
guess a state court's fact-finding process unless, after review of the state-court record, it determines that the state court

was not merely wrong, but actually unreasonable." Id.

Where more than one state court has adjudicated the petitioner's claims, the federal habeas court analyzes the last
reasoned decision. Barker v. Fleming, 423 F.3d 1085, 1091 (9th Cir. 2005) [*13] (citing Ylst v. Nunnemaker, 501 u.S. 797,
803, 111 S. Ct. 2590, 115 L. Ed. 2d 706 (1991) for presumption that later unexplained orders, upholding judgment or
rejecting same claim, rest upon same ground as the prior order). Thus, a federal habeas court looks through ambiguous
or unexplained state court decisions to the last reasoned decision in order to determine whether that decision was
contrary to or an unreasonable application of clearly established federal law. Bailey v. Rae, 339 F.3d 1107, 1112-13 (Sth

Cir. 2003).

Here, Petitioner raised his current fifth and sixth claims for relief in his direct appeal to the California Court of Appeal,
which issued a reasoned decision rejecting those claims. The California Supreme Court denied Petitioner's subsequent
petition for review without commenting on the merits on Petitioner's claims. Accordingly, the California Court of
Appeal's decision denying petitioner's claims stands as the relevant reasoned decision regarding those claims. By
contrast, no reasoned opinion exists as to Petitioner's other claims. Accordingly, the Court shall conduct an independent
review of the record to ascertain whether the state courts' rejection of those claims [*14] was either contrary to, or
resulted in an unreasonable application of, clearly established federal law. Harrington v. Richter, U.S., 131 S. Ct. 770,
784,178 L. Ed. 2d 624 (2011).

VI. DISCUSSION
A. Trial Counsel's Performance

In his first claim for relief, Petitioner contends that his trial counsel committed a host of errors that, either alone or in
combination, deprived Petitioner of his Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel. in particular,
Petitioner faults his trial counsel for committing the following errors: (1) failing to move to suppress brass knuckles that
police recovered during a search of Petitioner's home; (2) failing to object to the State's expert witness testimony; (3)
failing to investigate the injuries to the victim and to explore alternative causes of those injuries; (4) conceding that
Petitioner was guilty of murder; (5) failing to challenge the evidence that Petitioner suffered a prior serious felony that
was used to impose a sentencing enhancement; (6) failing to call an available medical expert to rebut the state's medical
experts; and (7) failing to object to numerous instances of alleged prosecutorial misconduct.

A two-step analysis governs [*15] petitioner's ineffective assistance of counsel claims for relief. Strickland v.
Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). First, Petitioner' must prove that his attorney's
representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. Id. at 687-88, 690. To establish deficient
performance, Petitioner must show his counsel "made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel’
guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment.” Id. at 687; Williams, 529 U.S. 362, 391, 120 S.Ct. 1495, 146 L. Ed.
2d 389 (2000). In reviewing trial counsel's performance, however, courts "strongly presume(] [that counsel] rendered
adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.” Strickland,
466 U.S. at 690; Yarborough v. Gentry, 540U.5. 1, 8,1245.Ct. 1,157 L.Ed. 2d 1 (2003). Only if counsel's acts and



omissions, examined within the context of all the surrounding circumstances, were ogtside the "wide range” of
professionaHy competent assistance, will Petitioner’ meet this initial burden. Kimmelman v. Morrison, 477 U.S. 365, 386,
406 S.Ct. 2574,91 L. Ed. 2d 305 (1986); Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690.

Second, [*16] Petitioner must show that he was prejudiced by demonstrating a reasonable probability that, but for his
counsel's errors, the result would have been different. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. The errors must not merely
undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial, but must result in a proceeding that was fundamentally unfair.
Williams, 529 U.S. at 393 n.17; Lockhart, 506 U.S. at 369. Petitioner must prove both deficient performance and
prejudice. A court need not, however, determine whether counsel's performance was deficient before determining
whether the petitioner suffered prejudice as the result of the alleged deficiencies. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 697.

Here, Petitioner cannot meet his burden to show deficient performance and resulting prejudice with respect to any of
his allegations of attorney error. First, counsel did not err in failing to move to suppress the brass knuckles recovered
during the search of Petitioner's residence because there was no basis upon which to suppress the evidence. As the
testimony revealed, Margie Garofano, who was the primary resident of the home where the search occurred, gave the
police permission to search the home. (RT 143, 230.) Accordingly, the [*17] police obtained valid consent to search the
residence. See lllinois v. Rodriguez, 497 U.S. 177, 110S. Ct. 2793, 111 L. Ed. 2d 148 (1990) (observing that Fourth
Amendment's prohibition on warrantless searches do not apply "to situations in which voluntary consent has been
obtained, either from the individual whose property is searched or from a third party who possesses common authority
over the premises") (citations omitted); United States V. Matlock, 415 U.S. 164, 170,94 S. Ct. 988, 39 L. Ed. 2d 242 (1974)
(holding that "the consent of one who possesses common authority over premises of effects is valid as against the
absent, nonconsenting person with whom that authority is shared"). Moreover, the brass knuckles were recovered from
the garage, a common area of the house. As such, trial counsel could not have performed deficiently in failing to move
to suppress the evidence recovered during the search because any such motion was doomed to failure. See Kimmelman
v. Morrison, 477 U.S. 365, 375, 106 S. Ct. 2574, 91 L. Ed. 2d 305 (1986); Boag V. Raines, 769 F.2d 1341, 1344 (9th Cir.
1985) (counsel's failure to raise meritless argument does not constitute ineffective assistance). 3

FOOTNOTES

3 In [*18] his Answer, Respondent contends that Petitioner is challenging his trial counsel's failure to move to suppress
statements that Petitioner made to investigating officers. (Answer g8-24.) Petitioner, however, raises no such claim and
states as much in his Traverse. (Traverse at 4 (“Petitioner/Petition did not raise issue to [sic] suppression of statements -
audio tape."). Regardless, the Court notes that, even if such a claim had been raised, it would have failed because
petitioner suffered no prejudice as a result of his counsel's failure to move to suppress the statements. Petitioner's
statements to the investigating officer were not introduced into evidence. Moreover, the substance of Petitioner's
statements to the officer were introduced through the testimony of other witnesses. Regardless, the substance of
petitioner's statements to the officers was largely inconsequential in light of the other evidence establishing that
petitioner abused his victim. (See infra.) Finally, a review of the transcripts and exhibits shows that, contrary to his
assertions, Petitioner was not in custody when he was questioned by police. (See, €.8., Petition, Points and Auth., Exh.
36 at p.3, Exh. 32 at [*19] 53, Exh. 32 53-65, 84-85.); see also California v. Beheler, 463 USS. 1121, 1125, 103 S. Ct. 3517,
77 L. Ed. 2d 1275 (1983).

Second, trial counsel did not perform unreasonably in failing to object to the testimony of Rebecca Piantini, M.D., who
opined that the victim's injuries were caused by the victim being shaken. Although Petitioner insists that Dr. Piantini's
opinion regarding shaken baby syndrome was "pure guesswork," there was nevertheless no valid basis upon which to



object to Dr. Piantini's testimony. The testimony assisted the jury in understanding the meaning of the victim's injuries
and related to a subject beyond the common experience of the jurors - namely, how the victim's brain injuries may have
- -esulted from being shaken. See Cal. Evid. Code § 801(a); People v. Mayfield, 14 Cal. 4th 668, 766, 60 Cal. Rptr. 2d 1, 928
2.2d 485 (1997). The same is true regarding Dr. Piantini's opinions concerning the cause of the injuries suffered by
Petitioner's 1993 victim. 4 (See RT 366-72.) Moreover, Petitioner was offered the opbortunity to cross-examine, and in
fact cross-examined, each of the State's medical experts. In so doing, Petitioner, through his trial counsel, was able to
[*20] explore any shortcomings in the opinions of the testifying experts. 5 See, e.g., Perry v. Leeke, 488 U.S. 272,283 n.7,
109 S. Ct. 594, 102 L. Ed. 2d 624 (1989) (citing with approval case law and commentators extolling virtues of cross-
examination in the truth finding process) (citations omitted); Penn. v. Ritchie, 480 U.S. 39, 51, 107 S. Ct. 989, 94 L. Ed. 2d
40 (1987) (noting that, through cross-examination, witness can be shown to be biased or that witnesses testimony is
exaggerated or unbelievable); see also Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 41, 124 S. Ct. 1354, 158 L. Ed. 2d 177 (2004)
(explaining that reliability of evidence should be assessed "by testing in the crucible of cross-examination"). Given these
facts, Petitioner can show neither that counsel's performance was deficient nor that Petitioner suffered prejudice from

counsel's performance.

FOOTNOTES

" 4 Petitioner contends that Dr. Piantini's opinion regarding the cause of the injuries suffered by Petitioner's 1993 victim
lacked any evidentiary basis. (Petition at 16, Points and Auth. at 16.) [*21] However, the trial testimony is clear that Dr
Piantini reviewed the records regarding those injuries before opining as to their cause. (RT 366-70.)

5 Further, the jury was instructed that any expert's opinion was "only as good as the facts and reasons on which it [was]
based" and that the jury could "disregard any opinion" it found unreasonable. (CT 174; RT 583.)

Third, Petitioner is not entitled to relief based on his allegation that his trial counsel failed to adequately investigate the
causes and import of the victim's injuries. As the transcript of trial counsel's cross-examinations of the medical experts
show, trial counsel was adequately prepared to explore weaknesses in the State's experts' opinions and to suggest
alternative theories to those of the experts to explain the extent and significance of the victim's injuries. And even
assuming, as Petitioner insists, that trial counsel failed to adequately investigate the basis for the experts' opinions,
Petitioner fails to cite any evidence that trial counsel could have uncovered that would have made the jury more likely
than not to have reached a different verdict. 6 Although Petitioner notes that some evidence may have suggested [*22]
that the victim's injuries may not have been caused by shaking, the jury was keenly aware that the State's medical
experts did not necessarily agree on the precise cause of the victim's injuries. Nevertheless, all agreed that the victim
died from abusive head trauma. Nothing that Petitioner cites (and faults his counsel for failing to uncover) would lead a
reasonable juror to doubt this conclusion. 7

FOOTNOTES

6 The same is true with respect to Petitioner's claims that trial counsel erred in failing to conduct adequate pre-trial
interviews with various law enforcement officials and paramedics. (See, e.g., Petition, Points and Auth. at 29.)

7 In connection with his ineffective assistance of counsel claims, Petitioner asserts that the Reporter's Transcript was
somehow altered so as to omit Dr. Trenkle's testimony that changes in the victim's femurs were due to natural growth
spurts, rather than to an abuse inflicted fracture. (Petition at 31.) There is no evidence to support Petitioner's assertion
that the transcript was altered. But putting that aside, there is no reason to believe that the alteration or counsel's



failure to object to it, assuming it occurred, impacted the proceedings. irrespective [*23] of the cause of the changes to
the victim's femur, Dr. Trenkle opined that the victim died as a result of abusive head trauma. (RT 439.) This opinion was
~choed by Dr. Piantini, who likewise concluded that the victim died of abusive head trauma. (RT 342, 364.) Moreover,
goth medical experts, as well as the physician who attended to the victim, opined that the extent of the victim's injuries
and symptoms was incompatible with Petitioner's account of how the victim had been injured. (RT 303-04, 342, 440.)
Indeed, Dr. Piantini flatly testified that, given all of the victim's symptoms, it was "medically impossible” that those
symptoms resulted from the fall that Petitioner described. (RT 397.) Additionally, the evidence showed that Petitioner
had previously inflicted great bodily injury on an infant, only to later claim that the resulting injuries stemmed from an
accidental fall. This evidence further served to decrease any likelihood that Dr. Trenkle's purported testimony about the

victim's femur would have impacted the jury's verdict.

Fourth, contrary to Petitioner's contentions, trial counsel did not concede Petitioner's guilt at trial. On the contrary, trial
counsel adamantly argued [*24] that the evidence showed that the victim's injuries were the result of an accidental fall.
(See, e.g., RT 620-21; see also id. at 645-46 ("Mr. Patkins has told you, and the evidence is consistent with the accidental
dropping of a child. ... [1] You have explanations, reasonable explanations given, that this child could have suffered
injuries in an accidental fashion.").) And rather than ignoring medical evidence offered against Petitioner, trial counsel
argued that the evidence comported with Petitioner's account of how the victim was injured. (Id.) Moreover, it makes
no difference that, ata pretrial hearing, trial counsel may have stated that shaking caused the victim's death. (See RT 30-
31.) As an initial matter, petitioner takes trial counsel's statement out of context. In proper context, trial counsel was
arguing that the prosecutér be prohibited from arguing that Petitioner's 1993 assault on his then-infant son resuited in
the child's current developmental disability. (1d.) In making this argument, trial counsel twice acknowledged that the
prosecutor's theory of the case was that the death of Petitioner's current victim was attributable to shaking. Trial
counsel did not, however, [*25] concede Petitioner's defense that the victim's death resulted from an accidental fall.
(Seeid.) Regardless, even assuming error, Petitioner could not show prejudice because trial counsel's statements were

never heard by the jury.

Fifth, trial counsel did not perform unreasonably in failing to challenge the evidentiary support for the trial court's
finding that Petitioner suffered a prior, serious felony. Referencing a complaint attached as an exhibit to his petition, 8
petitioner insists that the trial court's finding was unsupported because the complaint references assault with a deadly
weapon. 9 However, that complaint was superceded by an information alleging that Petitioner committed child abuse
with great bodily injury, and Petitioner pleaded guilty to that allegation. (CT 58; RT 14-16; see also Supp. CT 10.) As such,
the conviction was a "sarious" felony under California law. See Cal. Penal Code § 1192.7(c)(8) (identifying any felony in
which the defendant personally inflicts great bodily injury on a person other than an accomplice as a serious felony); Cal.
penal Code § 667.5(c)(8) (same). Consequently, there was no basis upon which trial counsel could have successfully
challenged [*26] the evidentiary basis for the trial court's finding that Petitioner suffered a prior, serious felony. 10

FOOTNOTES

8 Petition, Exh. 31.

9 presumably, Petitioner believes that assault with a deadly weapon does not qualify as a serious felony because assault
can be committed in a way that does not render the resulting conviction a "cerious felony" under California law.
Compare People V. Delgado, 43 Cal. 4ath 1059, 1065, 77 Cal. Rptr. 3d 259, 183 P.3d 1226 (2008) (holding that abstract of
judgment with notation "Assit w DWpn" was sufficient for a trial court to find that the defendant's conviction for assault
under California Penal Code § 245(a)(1) was serious felony because notation showed that petitioner used deadly



weapon in committing assault), with People v. Rodriguez, 17 Cal. 4th 253, 261-62, 70 Cal. Rptr. 2d 334,949 P.2d 31
(1998) (abstract of judgment of assault under California Penal Code 245(a)(1) insufficient to show conviction was
"serious"” felony because crime could have been committed in ways that did and did not constitute “serious" felony and
Jbstract did not indicate way in which defendant committed crime).

10 The Court notes that petitioner knowingly and voluntarily waived his state statutory right to have the [*27] jury
determine the truth of his prior conviction. (RT 14-15.) And in so doing, he acknowledged that the prior conviction, if
found to be true, would constitute a serious felony under California law.

Sixth, Petitioner is not entitled to relief with respect to his claim that his counsel failed to call an available medical expert
to testify to rebut the medical expert testimony offered by the prosecutor. In support of this claim, Petitioner cites an
opinion from Thomas Schweller, M.D., in which Dr. Schweller, citing a study by Dr. John Plunkett, concludes that the
victim's cause of death was consistent with a fall from eighteen inches. Dr. schweller's proposed testimony, however,
would not have led to a different result because the jury was already aware of Dr. Plunkett's study and his conclusions
about how short falls led to fatal head injuries in 18 out of approximately 75,000 cases. (RT 374-75, 392-94, 474-75, 636-
37, 640-41.) Specifically, trial counsel questioned the medical experts about Dr. Plunkett's study in an effort to
undermine the expert's conclusions about the victim's cause of death. (1d. at 374-75, 392-94, 474-75.) The jury's verdict,
however, shows that the jury believed [*28] that, in Petitioner's case, the victim's injuries did not result from an
accidental fall. 11

FOOTNOTES

11 Petitioner also references 3 coroner's investigation report authored by Deputy Coroner Investigator Glenn Miller in
connection with Petitioner's challenge to counsel's failure to call available witnesses. (Petition, Exh. 17). Miller's
testimony, however, would not have benefitted Petitioner because, like the medical experts who testified, Miller
concluded that the victim died of abusive head trauma. (\d.)

Finally, Petitioner is not entitled to habeas relief based on his trial counsel's failure to object to the prosecutor's alleged
misconduct. As explained in connection with Petitioner's separate prosecutorial misconduct claim (Claim Two), none of
petitioner's many allegations of prosecutorial misconduct has merit. (See infra.) Accordingly, trial counsel did not
perform unreasonably in electing not to object to conduct that was neither improper nor prejudicial.

B. Prosecutorial Misconduct

In his second claim for relief, petitioner contends that the prosecutor committed various acts of misconduct. Although
Petitioner challenges numerous actions on the prosecutor's part, each of those challenges [*29] falls into one of the
following categories: (1) knowingly presenting false evidence to the jury; (2) misleading the jury about the content of a
witness's testimony; (3) misleading the jury during closing arguments and making inflammatory arguments; (4)
suppressing exculpatory material; (5) vouching for prosecution witnesses; and (6) improperly "profiling" Petitioner as a
murderer.

Prosecutorial misconduct does not rise to the level of a constitutional violation unless it "so infected the trial with
unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process." Darden v. Wainwright, 477 U.S. 168, 181, 106 S.
Ct. 2464, 91 L. Ed. 2d 144 (1986) (quoting Donnelly v. DeChristoforo, 416 U.S. 637, 643,94 S. Ct. 1868, 40L.Ed.2d 431



(1974)); Comerv. Schriro, 480 F.3d 960, 988 (9th Cir. 2007). "[T]he touchstone of due process analysis in cases of alleged
prosecutorial misconduct is the fairness of the trial, not the culpability of the prosecutor." Smith v. Phillips, 455 U.S. 209,
~19, 102 S.Ct. 940,71 L. Ed. 2d 78 (1982); see also Estelle v. Williams, 425 U.S. 501, 503, 96 S. Ct. 1691, 48 L. Ed. 2d 126
11976) ("The right to a fair trial is a fundamental liberty secured by the Fourteenth Amendment."). [*30] As explained
below, each of Petitioner's prosecutorial misconduct allegations lacks merit.

First, the prosecutor did not knowingly present false evidence. The knowing use of false evidence by the state, or the
failure to correct false evidence, violates due process. Napue V. illinois, 360 U.S. 264, 269, 795.Ct. 1173, 3 L. Ed. 2d 1217
(1959). In Napue, the Supreme Court made clear that this prohibition against using false testimony applies even when
the testimony in question is relevant only to a witness's credibility. Id. at 269. A claim under Napue will succeed when
"(1) the testimony (or evidence) was actually false, (2) the prosecution knew or should have known that the testimony
was actually false, and (3) the false testimony was material." Jackson v. Brown, 513 F.3d 1057, 1071-72 (9th Cir. 2008),
quoting Hayes v. Brown, 399 F.3d 972, 984 (Sth Cir. 2005) (en banc).

Here, Petitioner has not shown that the prosecutor knowingly presented false testimony. Instead, Petitioner, for the
most part, merely disagrees with the medical testimony the prosecutor elicited regarding the victim's injuries and their
implications. Petitioner was given a full opportunity to cross-examine, and in fact [*31] cross-examined, each of the
medical witnesses about their respective opinions and to exploit any perceived weaknesses in those opinions. Likewise,
nothing suggests that the prosecutor knowingly introduced false testimony from Margie Garofano, the victim's mother,
or from any other witness. Rather, at best, Petitioner points out minor inconsistencies in the testimony. These
inconsistencies, assuming they were in fact inconsistent, could just as easily be explained by the witnesses' faulty
memories about the events, as opposed to intentional lying. In any event, the mere existence of inconsistencies in a
witness's account does not prove or even suggest that the prosecutor was aware or should have been aware that any of
the witnesses were fabricating their testimony. Accordingly, Petitioner's claim fails. 12

FOOTNOTES

12 Petitioner notes that there was conflicting testimony about whether Petitioner said he dropped his victim while
walking up the stairs or walking down the stairs. (Petition, Points and Authorities at 72-73). Even assuming that some of
this testimony was false, it had no impact on the jury's verdict because the medical evidence showed that the victim's
wounds were not compatible with [*32] being dropped on the stairs. Additionally, there is no merit to Petitioner's
suggestion that the prosecutor elicited false testimony regarding the estimated distance that victim would have fallen if,
as Petitioner contended, the victim was dropped while Petitioner was ascending the stairs. The responding paramedic
testified that he estimated that the fall Petitioner described would have been about eighteen inches. (See RT 218.)
Although Petitioner questions the accuracy of this estimate, he offers no reason to believe that the person who made
the estimate was being untruthful in doing so.

Second, the prosecutor did not deprive Petitioner of a fair trial by allegedly misrepresenting the testimony of Garofano.
During trial, Garofano testified that Petitioner kept his brass knuckles (of which he was ultimately convicted of
possessing) "in" a work bench in the garage. (RT 151.) Immediately after Garofano said this, the prosecutor attempted to
parrot back her response, but stated that the knuckles were "on" the work bench, rather than "in" the work bench. (Id.)
petitioner claims that the prosecutor did this intentionally to increase the likelihood that the jury would convict
petitioner of [*33] possessing brass knuckles. This claim is meritless because it made no difference whether the knuckles
were in or on the work bench; the only matter of significance was whether Petitioner possessed them. And on that
point, Garofano's testimony established that the brass knuckles belonged to Petitioner. (1d.) As such, even assuming, as

17



petitioner maintains, that the prosecutor engaged in misconduct, the misconduct had no impact on the jury's verdict.
See Shaw V. Terhune, 380 F.3d 473,478 (oth Cir. 2004) (stating that “[p}rosecutorial misconduct which rises to the level
f a due process violation may provide the grounds for granting a habeas petition only if that misconduct is deemed
prejudicial under the ‘harmless error' test. .. M) Brecht v. Abrahamson, 507 U.S. 619, 637-38,113 5. Ct.1710,123 L. Ed.
2d 353 (1993) (constitutional trial error will not warrant federal habeas relief unless errof had substantial and injurious

impact on jury's verdict).

Third, the prosecutor did not assert facts in his closing argument that were untrué. A prosecutor does not commit
misconduct by asking the jury in closing arguments 10 make reasonable inferences from the evidence at trial, even if the
[(*34] defendant disputes those inferences. See United States V. Cabrera, 201 £.3d 1243, 1250 (Sth Cir. 2000). indeed,
"[clounsel are given latitude in the presentation of their closing arguments, and courts must allow the prosecution 10
strike hard blows pased on the evidence presented and all reasonable inferences therefrom." CejaV. Stewart, 97 F.3d
1246, 1253-54 (9th Cir. 1996); see Duckett v. Godinez, 67 F.3d 734, 742 (9th Cir. 1995) (prosecutor's argument that
murder victims specifically identified defendant by crying out "Tony" was reasonable though no other witnesses could
confirm that “Tony" referred to defendant, as opposed 10 someone else with same first name). Here, the prosecutor
merely asked the jury to infer that the injuries to the victim were the result of being intentionally abused, rather than of
accidental causes. This inference was reasonable in light of the uncontroverted medical evidence that the victim died of
abusive head trauma and Petitioner’s history of assaulting his then-infant son. 13

FOOTNOTES

13 In connection with his claim that the prosecutor misrepresented facts to the jury, petitioner faults the prosecutor for
failing to acknowledge that Dr. Trenkle, one of the State's {*35] medical experts, recanted his testimony regarding the
type of fall necessary to cause the injuries observed on the victim. (Petition, Points and Auth. at 76-80.) However, 3
review of the record reveals that Dr. Trenkle never recanted his testimony on this point. (See RT 442-43, 472-73.)

Moreover, assuming the prosecutor made some misstatements about the evidence admitted at trial, there is no reason
to believe that those misstatements deprived petitioner of a fair trial. As discussed above, the prosecutor introduced
compelling medical evidence showing that the victim suffered abusive head trauma. (See supra at n.7.) And, as discussec
in more detail below, the prosecutor introduced evidence that Petitioner had previously inflicted great bodily injury on @
different infant and, thereafter, attempted to attribute that victim's injuries to an accident. (See infra.) Finally, assuming
the prosecutor‘s comments conflicted with the evidence, the prosecutor's comments were unlikely to have been
credited because the jury was explicitly instructed that arguments of counsel were not evidence. (CT 152; RT 574.)

Third, the prosecutor did not withhold exculpatory information. See Brady V. Maryland, 373 u.sS. 83, 87,83 S. Ct. 1194,
10 L. Ed. 2d 215 (1963) [*36] (Due Process Clause requires prosecution to disclose any evidence that is material eithert
guilt or to punishment); Kyles v. Whitley, 514 US. 419, 433,1155S. Ct.1555,131 L. Ed. 2d 4S80 (1995). Although
petitioner maintains that the prosecutor withheld evidence that a testifying expert had ruled out shaking as @ cause of
the victim's injury, the record shows that defense counsel questioned the expert about the facts that Petitioner claims
were withheld. (RT 456-57; petition, Points and Auth. at 81). And in any event, the allegedly withheld material was no'
exculpatory because, contrary to petitioner's assertions, the expertin question did not rule out shaking as the cause O
some of the victim's injuries; rather, the expert concluded that the skull fracture leading to the victim's death was
caused by blunt force. (See RT 456-57.) Notwithstanding this conclusion, the expert testified that shaking may have
occurred in addition to the use of blunt force. (RT 457.) There is likewise no merit to petitioner's suggestion that the
allegedly exculpatory medical evidence was withheld in order to ensure that the trial court would allow the prosecut



>

to introduce evidence about petitioner's [*37] 1993 conviction, particularly in light of the other medical evidence that
suggested that shaking was the cause of many of the victim's injuries. 14

rOOTNOTES

14 The Court further disagrees with Petitioner's premise that his 1993 child abuse conviction was admissible only
because of the medical evidence suggesting that his current victim had been shaken. Irrespective of whether the baby
had been shaken, the medical experts agreed that the victim had suffered abusive head trauma. In other words, the
medical experts agreed that the victim's wounds and injuries were intentional, not accidental. Given that fact, there is
no reason to believe that the trial court would have excluded the 1993 conviction, as that conviction would still have
been relevant to show petitioner's lack of mistake and to his knowledge of the danger posed by his actions.

Regardless, the expert in question opined that the victim died as a result of abusive head trauma and that the victim's
injuries and symptoms were inconsistent with Petitioner's account that he had accidentally dropped the victim a few
feet while ascending the stairs. Accordingly, nothing suggests that the purportedly suppressed evidence impacted the
jury's verdict. [*38] See Kyles, 514 U.S. at 433-34 (stating that evidence is "material," in terms of prosecutor's discover
obligations, "if there is a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result of the
proceeding would have been different").

Fourth, the prosecutor did not vouch for any witness's credibility. A prosecutor is permitted to argue reasonable

in—f;;ces from the evidence (see, €.g., Duckett v. Godinez, 67 F.3d 734, 742 (9th Cir. 1995); Ceja v. Stewart, 97 F.3d
1246, 1253-54 {9th Cir. 1996)) and’ to label a witness'st'es._ti‘monyAas lies or fabrication. See, e.g., Turner v. Marshall, 63
F.3d 807, 818 (9th Cir. 1995), overruled on other grounds, T;I‘Bérrt v. Page, 182 F.3d 677 (9th Cir. 1999). A prosecutor
may not, however, vouch for the credibility of a prosecution witness. See, e.g., United States v. Young, 470 U.S. 1, 18-19,
105 S. Ct. 1038,84 L. Ed. 2d 1 (1985); United States v. Jackson, 84 F.3d 1154, 1158 (9th Cir. 1996). "Vouching may occur
in two ways: the prosecution may place the prestige of the government behind the witness or may indicate that
information not presented to the jury supports the witness's testimony." United States v. Roberts, 618 F.2d 530,533
(9th Cir. 1980) [*39] (citing Lawn v. United States, 355 U.S. 339, 359-60 n.15,78 S. Ct. 311,2 L. Ed. 2d 321 (1958); United

States v. Lamerson, 457 F.2d 371 (5th Cir. 1972)); United States v. Weatherspoon, 410 F.3d 1142, 1146 (9th Cir. 2005).

Here, none of the prosecutor's comments constituted improper vouching. Rather, the transcript of the prosecutor's
closing argument reveals that the prosecutor did nothing more than urge the jury to make reasonable inferences based
on the evidence presented to it. Although the prosecutor cited the expert medical testimony against Petitioner to argue
that Petitioner was guilty, the prosecutor did not use the prestige of the government to bolster either that testimony or
the credibility of the witnesses who provided it. Compare Hein v. Sullivan, 601 F.3d 897, 913 (9th Cir. 2010) (holding that
prosecutor improperly vouched for witness's credibility where prosecutor argued, among other things, that witness
"was painfully honest" and that witness's testimony incriminating petitioner was "honest" despite that witness revealed
embarrassing things about himself); United States v. Weatherspoon, 410 F.3d 1142, 1146 (9th Cir. 2005) (prosecutor
improperly vouched for testifying [*40] officers by arguing that they had no reason to lie and that, if they lied, they
would risk being prosecuted for perjury). Rather, the prosecutor simply highlighted certain parts of the witnesses'
testimony in an effort to argue that Petitioner was guilty as charged. In doing so, the prosecutor did no more than ask
the jury to make reasonable inferences supported by the evidence adduced at trial.

Fifth, the prosecutor did not deprive Petitioner of his right to a fair trial by improperly "profiling” Petitioner. Instead, the

prosecutor argued that Petitioner had lied about his actions and labeled him a murderer. As to accusing Petitioner of



- lying, such accusations were warranted by the evidence suggesting that Petitioner had lied to cover up his actions.
Likewise, the prosecutor committed no error in citing evidence to show that Petitioner's emotions were in line with
*hose of a murder, as that was at least a reasonable inference from Garofano's testimony about Petitioner demeanor
and situation in the period preceding the victim's death. Regardless, the prosecutor's comments, even if improper, did
not approximate the type of statements that have been found insufficient to establish a due [*41] process violation
based on prosecutorial misconduct. See Darden, 477 U.S. at 180 n.10-12 (prosecutor did not deprive defendant of right
to fair trial where prosecutor urged jury to impose death penalty by arguing that "as far as | am concerned, . . . [the
defendant is] an animal," and "l wish [the decedent] had a shotgun in hishand . .. and blown [the defendant's] face off. |
wish that 1 could see him sitting here with no face, blown away by a shotgun"); Comer v. Schriro, 480 F.3d 960, 988 (9th
Cir. 2007) (prosecutor did not deprive defendant of right to fair trial despite labeling petitioner "monster," "filth," and

"reincarnation of the devil").

Finally, the prosecutor's comments could not have deprived Petitioner of a fair trial in light of the evidence presented

against him. See Hein, 601 F.3d at 916 (denying habeas relief despite prosecutor's improper vouching for witness, in

part, because evidence against petitioner was strong). The uncontroverted medical evidence establishing that the victim
died of abusive head trauma was overwhelming and compelling. (RT 342, 439.) That same evidence undermined
Petitioner's claim that the victim's injuries resulted from an accidental fall on [*42] the stairs. (RT 304, 342, 440.)
Moreover, Petitioner's claim that the victim had suffered an accidental fall was further undercut by the evidence
regarding Petitioner's past child abuse conviction and his previous attempt to explain away the resulting injuries to his
then-infant son by conjuring up an accident. Compare United States v. Rudberg, 122 F.3d 1199, 1206 {9th Cir. 1997)
(reversing conspiracy conviction against defendant based entirely on testimony of vouched witnesses where defendant
denied participating in conspiracy, vouched witnesses were subject to credibility attacks, and defendant was able to
corroborate his testimony denying participation).

in short, the state courts' rejection of Petitioner's prosecutorial misconduct claim was neither contrary to, nor an
unreasonable application of, clearly established federal law. Accordingly, Petitioner is not entitled to habeas relief on

this claim.
C.Second Degree Murder Instructions

Next, Petitioner contends that the trial court erred in instructing the jury on the requisite state of mind Petitioner had to
have to support a guilty verdict for second degree murder. It appears that Petitioner's challenge to the trial court's
second [*43] degree murder instructions takes three forms. First, Petitioner contends that the trial court should have
provided additional instructions regarding the specific intent to kill. Second, Petitioner maintains that the existing
instructions were inadequate because they allowed the jury to convict Petitioner of second degree murder based only
on the fact that Petitioner had suffered a 1993 conviction for inflicting great bodily injury on an infant. Third, Petitioner
asserts that the trial court erred in instructing the jury that the requisite malice for malice aforethought could be either
express or implied. Allowing the jury these alternative routes to reach a guilty verdict, according to Petitioner, was likely
to confuse the jury and allowed the jury to convict Petitioner of second degree murder without finding that he harbored
the specific intent to kill.

A claim that a trial court erred by omitting an instruction is cognizable only if the petitioner can show the omission so
infected the entire trial that the resulting conviction violated due process. See Estelle v. McGuire, 502 U.S. 62,72, 112 S.
Ct. 475, 116 L. Ed. 2d 385 (1991); Henderson v. Kibbe, 431 U.S. 145, 154, 97 5. Ct. 1730, 52 L. Ed. 2d 203 (1977); [*44]
Cupp v. Naughten, 414 U.S. 141, 147,94 S. Ct. 396, 38 L. £d. 2d 368 (1973). The significance of the omitted instruction
should be evaluated by comparing it to the instructions that were given. See Estelle, 502 U.S. at 72; Henderson, 431 u.s.



at 156. An omission or an incomplete jury instruction is less likely to be prejudicial than a misstatement of the law.
Henderson, 431 U.S. at 154 (observing that "[a]n omission, or an incomplete instruction, is less likely to be prejudicial
“han a misstatement of the law"). Consequently, where, as here, a habeas petitioner's claim involves the failure to give a
particular instruction, the petitioner bears an "especially heavy" burden to establish a due process violation. Id. at 147,

154,

Here, Petitioner cannot meet that heavy burden. The jury was properly instructed on the elements of second degree
murder and on the prosecution's burden to prove each element beyond a reasonable doubt. (See CT 178; RT 585
(instructing jury regarding presumption of innocence and prosecutor's burden to prove guilt beyond reasonable doubt);
CT 185; RT 587 (setting forth elements of second degree murder).) Furthermore, the jury was instructed that it could not
reach [*45] a guilty verdict as to second degree murder unless it found that Petitioner harbored express or implied
malice aforethought. (CT 186; RT 587.) And although Petitioner contends that the jury should have been instructed
further on specific intent, no additional instruction was constitutionally required because the jury was already instructed
that a finding of express malice required the prosecutor to prove that Petitioner "manifested an intention unlawfully to
kill a human being." (CT 186; RT 587.) These instructions made clear that the jury could not find Petitioner guilty of
second degree murder under an express malice theory unless the jury believed that Petitioner intended to kill the

victim.

Moreover, there is no merit to Petitioner's assertion the trial court erred in instructing the jury on both implied malice
and express malice. (See Petition, Points and Auth. at 123.) California law is clear that both instructions are proper when
a defendant is charged with second degree murder. See, e.g., People v. Nieto Benitez, 4 Cal. 4th 91, 102-03, 13 Cal. Rptr.
2d 864, 840 P.2d 969 (1992) (stating that "malice," for purposes of second degree murder, may be either express or
implied).

Furthermore, [*46] there is no merit to Petitioner's attempt to conflate the trial court's decision to admit his 1993
conviction with his allegations of instructional error. (See Petition, Points and Auth. at 121-22.) Although Petitioner
asserts that the 1993 conviction was the only evidence supporting his conviction for second degree murder, this
assertion ignores the substantial medical evidence showing that the victim's death was caused by abusive head trauma.
That same medical evidence showed that the victim's injuries were incompatible with Petitioner's account of how the
victim was injured. And, as discussed in connection with Petitioner's direct challenge to the admissibility of the facts
underlying his 1993 conviction, the jury was repeatedly admonished of the limited purposes for which it could consider
those facts. (See infra.)

Finally, even assuming that the trial court erred in instructing the jury, the error did not have a substantial and injurious
impact on the jury's verdict. See Brecht, 507 U.S. at 637-38 (constitutional trial error does not warrant habeas relief
unless error had substantial and injurious impact on jury's verdict). As discussed above, the uncontroverted medical
evidence [*47] showed that the victim did not die from being accidentally dropped, but rather from abusive head
trauma. Indeed, as one expert testified, it was "not medically possible" that the victim's multiple symptoms resulted
from the accidental fali described by Petitioner. (RT 397.) Furthermore, Petitioner's claim that an accidental fall caused
the victim's injuries was unbelievable in light of both the extent of the injuries and the evidence regarding Petitioner's
prior conviction for inflicting great bodily injury on another infant. Given this evidence, there is no reason to think that
the jury would have reached a different verdict had the jury been instructed as Petitioner insists it should have been.

D. The Evidence Supporting Petitioner's Conviction

in his next claim for relief, Petitioner contends that the prosecutor failed to introduce sufficient evidence to prove that

s



he committed child abuse resulting in death and second degree murder. To review the sufficiency of evidence ina
habeas corpus proceeding, the Court must determine whether "'any rational trier of fact could have found the essential
~lements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." Lewis v. Jeffers, 497 U.S. 764, 781, 110 S. Ct. 3092, 111 L. Ed. 2d 606
1990) [*48] (citation omitted); Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U S. 307, 319, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979). All evidence
must be considered in the light most favorable to the prosecution. Jeffers, 497 U.S. at 782; Jackson, 443 U.S. at 319.
Accordingly, if the facts support conflicting inferences, reviewing courts "must presume - even if it does not affirmatively
appear in the record - that the trier of fact resolved any such conflicts in favor of the prosecution, and must defer to that
resolution.” Jackson, 443 U.S. at 326; Bruce v. Terhune, 376 F.3d 950, 957 (9th Cir. 2004) (per curiam); Turner v.
Calderon, 281 F.3d 851, 882 (9th Cir. 2002). Furthermore, under AEDPA, federal courts must "apply the standards of
Jackson with an additional layer of deference." Juan H. v. Allen, 408 F.3d 1262, 1274 (9th Cir. 2005); Smith v. Mitchell,
624 F.3d 1235, 1239 (9th Cir. Oct. 29, 2010) (observing that AEDPA combined with Jackson standard requires "double

layer of deference").

Here, the prosecutor introduced ample evidence supporting Petitioner’s conviction. As an initial mater, there was no
question that the victim was injured while alone in Petitioner's care. And, as set forth in the court of appeal's [*49]
opinion, the prosecutor introduced substantial medical evidence - in the form of expert testimony, CT scans, and
autopsy results - showing that the victim was not injured in the manner described by Petitioner, but rather as a result of
having suffered abusive head trauma. (See, e.g., RT 342, 397, 439-40.) In addition, the prosecutor introduced evidence
that Petitioner had been convicted of inflicting great bodily injury on another of his infant sons. The prosecutor also
introduced evidence showing that Petitioner had fabricated an accident to explain away the abuse he had inflicted on
his earlier victim. Given that evidence and the medical evidence contradicting Petitioner's account of the incident
leading to the current charge, the jury could have reasonably and rationally concluded that Petitioner - understanding
the danger posed by his actions - assaulted his victim and, thereafter, fabricated a story to explain away the victim's
injuries. Cf. Smith, 624 F.3d at 1238-40 (holding that evidence was insufficient to prove that petitioner assaulted child
resulting in death where uncontroverted evidence showed that petitioner was loving grandmother with no history of
child abuse and where [*50] objective medical evidence did not demonstrate that infant's death was caused by abuse).

E. Admission of Prior Bad Acts
In his next claim for relief, Petitioner contends that the trial court abused its discretion by allowing the prosecutor to

introduce evidence regarding Petitioner's prior conviction involving child abuse against another one his children and the
facts underlying that conviction. The prior conviction arose from a 1993 incident that resulted in Petitioner pleading

guilty to abusing his infant son and to inflicting great bodily injury. According to Petitioner, this evidence should not have

been admitted at trial because it was overwhelmingly prejudicial and inflammatory.

The court of appeal rejected Petitioner's challenge to the admission of his prior instance of child abuse. in doing so, the
court of appeal reasoned that the challenged evidence was relevant to show that Petitioner understood the danger
stemming from his actions, that his actions were not the result of mistake or accident, and that he intended to commit
the charged offenses. Having concluded that the evidence was admissible under state law for several permissible
purposes, the court of appeal then turned [*51] to whether the probative value of the evidence outweighed it
potentially prejudicial effect. The court of appeal observed that Petitioner's prior instance of chid abuse was strikingly
similar to the acts of which Petitioner was accused. According to the court of appeal, the similarity of the two incidents
served to underscore the relevance of the prior incident. The court of appeal also noted that the prior incident, though
preceding the current incident by several years, was not likely to be unduly inflammatory because it resulted in a
conviction and because the prior incident was not more serious than the current charge. With these considerations in
mind, the court of appeal concluded that the trial court committed no error in admitting the challenged evidence. As

(¢



explained below, the court of appeal did not commit constitutional error in so concluding.

“tate evidentiary rulings are not cognizable in a federal habeas proceeding, unless the admission of the evidence
violated the petitioner's due process right to a fair trial. Estelle v. McGuire, 502 U.S. 62, 68, 112 S. Ct. 475, 116 L. Ed. 2d
385 (1991); Gordon v. Duran, 895 F.2d 610, 613 (9th Cir. 1990). In order to prevail, the petitioner [*52] must show that
the court's ruling was so prejudicial that it rendered his trial fundamentally unfair. See Estelle, 502 U.S. at 68; Jammal v.
Van de Kamp, 926 F.2d 918, 920 (9th Cir. 1991); see also McKinney v. Rees, 993 F.2d 1378, 1380 (9th Cir. 1993). Thus, if
Petitioner merely contends that the trial court abused its discretion under state law, he has not stated a cognizable

claim for federal habeas relief.

Moreover, assuming Petitioner has stated a cognizable claim for relief based on the admission of his prior bad acts, his
claim nevertheless fails on its merits. The introduction of evidence violates a petitioner's due process rights only if there
is no permissible inference the jury can draw from the challenged evidence and the evidence is "of such quality as
necessarily prevents a fair trial." Jammal, 926 F.2d at 920; see Estelle, 502 U.S. at 70 (testimony does not violate due
process if it is relevant); McKinney, 993 F.2d at 1380, 1381 (same). Here, as the court of appeal explained, the evidence
was relevant to support several permissible inferences, including Petitioner's intent, his awareness of the danger of his
actions, and his lack of mistake or accident.

Furthermore, the [*53] trial court took steps to ensure that the challenged evidence was used only for the limited
purposes for which it was admitted‘. Specifically, the trial court instructed the jury that it could not consider the prior
bad act evidence to prove that Petitioner was a person of bad character or to show that he was predisposed to commit
the charged crime. (CT 166; RT 581.) The trial court further admonished the jury that it could consider the challenged
avidence only to show that Petitioner had the requisite intent to commit the charged crime or to show that he had the
necessary knowledge to commit the charged crime. (1d.) This admonishment was echoed by the prosecutor, who, during
his closing argument, stated:

| want to be really clear. When | say he's done it before, I'm not suggesting to you folks, "Okay, he did it before, we're
going to convict him regardless.” That would be wrong. | mean it. I'm not suggesting he's a bad guy; therefore, he did it
this time. That's not why you get to hear that evidence. You get to hear that evidence because it shows he knew what he
was doing was dangerous. And the more accidents he makes up, the more obvious it is that he's lying about it being an
accident. [*54] That's why you get to hear about the kind of evidence. He knows firsthand of the danger.

(RT 609.) 15
FOOTNOTES

15 In connection with his prosecutorial misconduct claim (Claim Two), Petitioner appears to allege that the prosecutor
committed misconduct in presenting evidence of, or making arguments regarding, Petitioner's 1993 child abuse
conviction. This claim is meritless in the light of the foregoing analysis. Equally meritless is Petitioner's suggestion that
the prosecutor argued that the jury consider Petitioner's prior bad acts to show Petitioner's propensity to commit the
charged act of child abuse. Although the prosecutor urged the jury to consider Petitioner's prior bad act, the prosecutor
admonished the jury not to consider that evidence to show Petitioner's bad character or propensity to engage in child

abuse.

In short, the challenged evidence was relevant, and the record shows that the jury was well aware that it could not
consider the evidence for any improper purpose. As such, the admission of the challenged evidence did not deprive
(7



petitioner of a fair trial. Consequently, the state courts' decision rejecting Petitioner's challenge to the admission of his
prior bad acts was neither [*55] contrary to, nor an unreasonable application of, clearly established federal law.

..CALIC2.03

In his next claim for relief, Petitioner contends that the trial court erred in instructing the jury with CALJIC 2.03, which

states the following:

if you find that before this trial the defendant made a willfully false or deliberately misleading statement concerning the
crime for which he is now being tried, you may consider that statement as a circumstance tending to prove a
consciousness of guilt. However, that conduct is not sufficient by itself to prove guilt, and its weight and significance, if

any, are for youto decide.

(CT 158; RT 577-78.) This instruction, according to Petitioner, strongly suggested that he had made false statements
about the his role in the crime. Moreover, he maintains that the way in which CALIIC 2.03is worded likely caused the
jury to infer his guilt based solely on the fact that he made false statements about the crime.

If Petitioner merely cléims that the jury instructions were incorrect under state law, such a claim would provide
Petitioner no basis for federal habeas relief. Estelle v. McGuire, 502 U.S. 62,71-72, 112 S.Ct. 475,116 L. £d. 2d 385
(1991); see [*56] also Lewis V. Jeffers, 497 U.S. 764, 780, 110 S. Ct. 3092, 111 L. Ed. 2d 606 (1990) ("[Flederal habeas
corpus relief does not lie for errors of state law."). Rather, the question on habeas review is whether an alleged
instructional error "by itself so infected the entire trial that the resulting conviction violates due process." Estelle, 502
U.S. at 71-72 (quoting Cupp V- Naughten, 414 U.S. 141, 147,94 5. Ct. 396, 38 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1973)).

Where a habeas claim rests on an alleged constitutional error arising from a jury instruction, the challenged instruction
"may not be judged in artificial isolation, but must be viewed in the context of the overall charge." Cupp, 414 US. at
146-147; see Middleton v. McNeil, 541 U.S. 433, 437,124 5.Ct. 1830, 158 L.Ed.2d 701 (2004) (per curiam) ("If the charge
as a whole is ambiguous, the question is whether thereis a reasonable likelihood that the jury has applied the
challenged instruction in a way that violates the Constitution.") (citations and internal quotation marks omitted).
Moreover, even if instructional error is found to rise to the level of a constitutional violation under this standard, federal
habeas relief is unavailable without further [*57] inquiry to determine whether the error was harmless. "The court must
find that the error, in the whole context of the particular case, had a substantial and injurious effect or influence on the
jury's verdict." Calderonv. Coleman, 525 U.S. 141, 147, 119 S. Ct. 500, 142 L. Ed. 2d 521 (1998) (citing Brecht, 507 U.S. at
637).

The Due Process Clause protects an accused against conviction except upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every
fact necessary to constitute the charged crime. In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970).
The State, therefore, may not use evidentiary presumptions in a jury charge that effectively relieve the prosecution of its
burden to prove every essential element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. See Francis v. Franklin, 471 u.S. 307,
313,105 S. Ct. 1965, 85 L. Ed. 2d 344 (1985); Sandstrom V. Montana, 442 U.S. 510, 520-24, 99 S. Ct. 2450, 61 L. Ed. 2d 39
(1979).

Nevertheless, permissive inference instructions, such as the instruction challenged here, are constitutional if the
conclusion the instructions suggest can be justified by reason and common sense in light of the proven facts before the
jury. Francis, 471 U.S. at 314-15; [*58] Hanna v. Riveland, 87 F.3d 1034, 1037 (9th Cir. 1996); United States v. Warren, 25
F.3d 890, 897 (9th Cir. 1994). Permissive inference instructions do not affect the application of the "beyond a reasonabl
doubt” proof standard unless there is no rational way the jury could make the connection permitted by the inference.



Ulster County Courtv. Allen, 442 U.S. 140, 157,99 S. Ct. 2213, 60 L. Ed. 2d 777 (1979) ("Because [a]) permissive inference
instruction leaves the trier of fact free to credit or reject the inference and does not shift the burden of proof, it affects
*he application of the '‘beyond a reasonable doubt’ standard only if, under the facts of the case, there is no rational way
.he trier [of fact] could make the connection permitted by the inference."); Warren, 25 F.3d at 897 n.4.

The Ninth Circuit has found that CAUIC 2.03 is constitutional. Turnerv. Marshall, 63 F.3d 807, 819-20 (9th Cir. 1995),
overruled on other grounds by Tolbert v. Page, 182 F.3d 677 (9th Cir. 1999) (en banc). in Turner, the Ninth Circuit
explained that CALJIC 2.03 comports with the Constitution "[slo long as the instruction does not state that inconsistent
statements constitute evidence of guilt, [*59] but merely states that the jury may consider them as indicating a

consciousness of guilt. 63 F.3d at 820.

Here, Turner forecloses Petitioner's challenge to CAUIC 2.03. Petitioner's jury was instructed that, if it found that
petitioner had made willfully false or deliberately misleading statements before trial, the jury could, but was not
required to, consider that as evidence tending to show a consciousness of guilt. Accordingly, CAUIC 2.03 did not
improperly relieve the State of its burden of proof or require the jury to infer guilt or even consciousness of guilt. On the
contrary, CAUIC 2.03 admonished the jury that it could not reach a guilty verdict based only on a finding that Petitioner
made a willfully false statement about the crime. Moreover, as the court of appeal observed, the prosecutor introduced
ample evidence - including uncontroverted medical testimony - establishing the falsity of Petitioner's account of how his
victim was injured. (Lodged Doc. No. 6 at 13-14.) '

Consequently, Petitioner is not entitled to habeas relief with respect to this claim.

G. Cumulative Error

In his final claim for relief, petitioner contends that the cumulative impact of the purported trial errors [*60] set forth in
Petitioner's various claims for relief rendered his trial fundamentally unfair. The Supreme Court has found that the
combined effect of multiple trial court errors violates due process where it renders the resulting criminal trial
fundamentally unfair. Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 298, 93 S. Ct. 1038, 35 L. Ed. 2d 297 (1973) (combined
effect of individual errors "denied [Chambers] a trial in accord with traditional and fundamental standards of due
process” and "deprived Chambers of a fair trial"); Montana v. Egelhoff, 518 U.S. 37,53, 116 S. Ct. 2013, 135 L. Ed. 2d 361
(1996) (stating that Chambers held that "erroneous evidentiary rulings can, in combination, rise to the level of a due
process violation"); Taylor v. Kentucky, 436 U.S. 478, 487 n.15, 98 S. Ct. 1930, 56 L. Ed. 2d 468 (1978) ("[T]he cumulative
effect of the potentially damaging circumstances of this case violated the due process guarantee of fundamental

fairness. ...").

According to the Ninth Circuit, these Supreme Court cases show that the "cumulative effect doctrine” is "clearly
established." Parle v. Runnels, 505 F.3d 922, 927 (9th Cir. 2007). Thus, in the Ninth Circuit, "the cumulative effect [*61]
of multiple errors can violate due process even where no single error rises to the level of a constitutional violation or
would independently warrant reversal." Id. (citing Chambers, 410 U.S. at 290 n.3).

Cumulative error, however, does not warrant habeas relief unless the errors have "'so infected the trial with unfairness
as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process.” Parle, 505 F.3d at 927 (quoting Donnelly v. DeChristoforo,
416 U.S. 637, 643,94 5. Ct. 1868, 40 L. Ed. 2d 431 (1974)). This standard can be met only if the "combined effect of the
errors had a 'substantial and injurious effect or influence on the jury's verdict."” Parle, 505 F.3d at 927 (quoting Brecht,
507 U.S. at 637). "In simpler terms, where the combined effect of individually harmiess errors renders a criminal defense
“far less persuasive than it might [otherwise] have been,” the resulting conviction violates due process. Parle, 505 F.3d



at 927 (quoting Chambers, 410 U.S. at 294, 302-03).

Yere, Petitioner's cumulative error claim does not warrant habeas relief. Because this Court has found no merit to any of
etitioner's claims, Petitioner has not shown his petition should be reversed for cumulative [*62] error. Mancuso v.
Olivarez, 292 F.3d 939, 957 (9th Cir. 2002) ("Because there is no single constitutional error in this case, there is nothing
to accumulate to a level of a constitutional violation."); Rupe v. Wood, 93 F.3d 1434, 1445 (9th Cir. 1996) (same).

As such, the state court's rejection of Petitioner's cumulative error claim was neither contrary to, nor an unreasonable
application of, clearly established federal law. Consequently, habeas relief is not warranted.

VIl. RECOMMENDATION

The Magistrate Judge therefore recommends that the Court issue an order: (1) approving and adopting this Report and
Recommendation; and (2) directing that judgment be entered denying the Petition on the merits with prejudice.

DATED: April 14, 2011

/s/ FREDERICK F. MUMM -

FREDERICK F. MUMM «

United States Magistrate Judge

NOTICE

Reports and Recommendations are not appealable to the Court of Appeals, but are subject to the right of any party to
timely file Objections as provided in the Local Rules Governing the Duties of the Magistrate Judges, and review by the

District Judge whose initials appear in the docket number. No Notice of Appeal pursuant to the Federal Rules of
Appellate Procedure should be filed until [*63] entry of the Judgment of the District Court.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

WESTERN DIVISION
DAVID V. PATKINS, ) CASENO. CcV 07-1124 DMG (FFM)
Petitioner, ORDER ADOPTING FINDINGS,
CONCLUSIONS AND
V. RECOMMENDATIONS OF

UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE
RICHARD J. SUBIA, Warden,

Respondent.

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 636, the Court has reviewed the entire record in this
action, the attached Report and Recommendation of United States Magistrate Judge
(“Report”), and the objections thereto. Good cause appearing, the Court concurs with
and adopts the findings of fact, conclusions of law, and recommendations contained in
the Report after having made a de novo determination of the portions to which

objections were directed.

IT IS ORDERED that judgment be entered denying the Petition on the merits with

Do, Ao

GEE
United States District Judge

prejudice.

DATED: September 14,2011
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

WESTERN DIVISION
DAVID V. PATKINS, % NO. EDCV 07-1124 DMG (FFM)
Petitioner, ) ORDER DENYING CERTIFICATE OF
) APPEALABILITY
V. %
RICHARD J. SUBIA, Warden, g
Respondent. g

Effective December 1, 2009, Rule 11(a) of the Rules Governing § 2254 Actions

provides:
(a) Certificate of Appealability. The district court must issue or deny a
certificate of appealability when it enters a final order adverse to the
applicant. Before entering the final order, the court may direct the parties to
submit arguments on whether a certificate should issue. If the court issues a
certificate, the court must state the specific issue or issues that satisfy the
showing required by 28 U.S.C. § 2253(c)(2). If the court denies a
certificate, the parties may not appeal the denial but may seek a certificate
from the court of appeals under Federal Rule of Appellate Procedure 22. A
motion to reconsider a denial does not extend the time to appeal.
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Here, given the Court’s ruling on settled legal issues, the Court does not require
any arguments from the parties on whether a certificate of appealability (“COA”) should
issue.

Under 28 U.S.C. § 2253(c)(2), a COA may issue “only if the applicant has made a
substantial showing of the denial of a constitutional right.”b Here, the Court dismissed
the petition on the merits. Thus, the Court’s determination of whether a COA should
issue here is governed by the Supreme Court’s decision in Slack v. McDaniel, 529 U.S.
473,120 S.Ct. 1595, 146 L. Ed. 2d 542 (2000), where the Supreme Court held that the
showing required to satisfy section 2253(c) after a habeas petition is denied on the merits
is as follows:

The petitioner must demonstrate that reasonable jurists would find the
district court’s assessments of the constitutional claims debatable or wrong.

529 U.S. at 484.

Here, the Court finds that reasonable jurists would not find the district court’s
decision debatable or wrong.

Accordingly, a COA is not appropriate with respect to the judgment entered herein

and is DENIED.

Dated: September 14, 2011 'y

A States District Judge

Presented by:

/S/ FREDERICK F. MUMM
FREDERICK F. MUMM
United States Magistrate Judge
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59. [Aulo
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- 2 APR Cancld
- N
Entered DOJ - NCiC
Cancld.
ENTERED
STATS | ARBK AN

Riverside Police Deparment - Supplemental Report




i

. RIVERSIDE POLICE DEPARTN:ZNT
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File No. 3-01-118-065

Page 7 of 8
273a(a) PC M. Bartholomew #626

04-29-01

After the photographs, Det. Masson conducted a search of the residence and collected
several items of evidence (see his supplemental report for details).

I took measuremeints of the lower portioil of the stairs, the crib, the master
bedroom bed, the office bed, and the chair in the baby’s room. All measurements were
taken with a standard tape measurc.

Stairs:
The lower portion of the stairway between the ground floor and upper floor

consisted of seven steps, including the middle landing. Each step was approximately 7”
in height and between 10 % “ and 117 in width. The landing (step 7) was 372 Ya” 1n
width. The height of the lower portion of the stairwell was 5° (from floor to landing).
Steps 1 through 6 were approximately 3’ wide. The stairwell appeared to be carpeted
with the same carpet as the rest of the house (off-white pile carpeting).

Master Bedroom Bed:
The bed, what appears to be a standard king size bed, was 60’ side by 6’117 long;

the total height of the bed from the top of the mattress to the floor was 26”. The bed,
which has a wood frame, had an approximalely 57 gap at the foot of the bed between the
mattress and the end board; there was a 2 gap between the mattress and the wood
headboard. The bed was approximately 97 from the wooded dresser located on the right

side of the bed.

Crib:

The crib (possibly “Franklin” brand) was wood-colored. It stands 3°6” tall as
measured from the floor to the top of the headboard and is 4’67 in length. The sliding rail
on the crib is 2’3 %" in height and consists of cleven slats. There is an approximately 3
vy gap between each slat. The interior of the crib was 4’5” in length by 2’47 in width.
The distance between the top of the sliding rail (raised) to the top of the mattress pad was

found to be about 117

Chair near crib:
The blue upholstered chair in V-Erik’s room was 39” tall, 28” wide (from front of

the seat to the back rest, and the seat was 177 from the floor.

Office Bed:
The bed found in the upstairs office measured 3°6” wide by 6°2” long by 28” tall.

It had a standard medal frame with no head or footboard. A baby pad/play toy was lying
on the top of the bed.

Follow-up:
Prior to the end of the search, [ received a message (0 call Riverside Community

Hospital. “Yolanda™ advised me that a radiologist had reviewed V-Erik’s X-rays and
found what was thought to be a fracture in each femur.
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a University Medical Center Pediatrics ER. I
spoke with an ER doctor who told me they did not believe the fractures did exist based on

their x-rays. 1 was told that new CT scaiis nLad revealed increased pressure in V-Erik’s
brain; a tube was going to be inserted in an attempt to rclieve the pressure. Some type of
old diffusion (old injury) was seen in the CT scan also, which is consistent with past
bleeding due to an older injury. No obvious trauma to the head was obscrved; all the
multiple injuries were observed inside V-Erik’s head. The injuries were unlikely to be
consistent with the story provided by S-David of the circumstances of the injury.

Based on the medical information, and the inspection of the scene, it was
ned that the injuries sustained by V-Erik were consistent with abuse. As S-David
¢ injury, he was arrested for the listed charges

[ was also asked to call Loma Lind

determi
was the primary caregiver at the time of th
and booked into RCJ (see Ofc. Dorado’s supplemental report).

Det. Masson, Sgt. DeLaRosa, D.D.A. Hughes, and I went to LLUMC to check the

of V-Erik and to contact P1-Margic. She was interviewed in the family

status
5700). For further, refer to Det. Masson’s

consultation room in the Pediatric ICU (Unit
supplemental report.
Disposition:

Case to be referred to the Riverside County

consideration.

District Attorney’s Office for filing
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NOT TO BE PUBLISHED IN OFFICIAL REPORTS

California Rules of Count, rule 877(a), prohibits courts and parties from citing or relying on opinions not certified for

publication or ordered published, except as specified by rule 877(b). This opinion has not been certified for publication of
ordered published for purposes of rule 977.

IN THE COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT

DIVISION TWO
THE PEOPLE,
Plaintiff and Respondent, E032757
V. (Super.Ct.No. RIF096844)
DAVID CHARLES PATKINS, OPINION
Defendant and Appellant.

APPEAL from the Superior Court of Riverside County. Patrick F. Magers, Judge.

Affirmed with directions.

Sharon M. Jones, under appointment by the Court of Appeal, for Defendant and

Appellant.

Bill Lockyer, Attorney General, Robert R. Anderson, Chief Assistant Attorney
General, Gary W. Schons, Senior Assistant Attorney General, Gil P. Gonzalez,
Supervising Deputy Attorney General, and Garrett Beaumont, Senior Deputy Attorney

General, for Plaintiff and Respondent.



A jury found defendant guilty of second degree murder (Pen. Code, § 187)! (count
1), child abuse resulting in death (§ 273a) (count 2), and possession of brass knuckles
(§ 12020, subd. (a)). The trial court thereafter found true that defendant had previously

been convicted of a serious and/or violent felony (§§ 667, subds. (a)-(e), 1170.12). Asa

result, defendant was sentenced to a total term of 59 years to life in state prison. On
appeal, defendant contends (1) the trial court abused its discretion in admitting his prior
child abuse offense, (2) the trial court erred in instructing the jury with the consciousness
of guilt (CALJIC No. 2.03) instruction, and (3) the abstract of judgment must be

comrected to reflect the oral pronouncement of judgment. We agree the abstract of

judgment must be amended but reject defendant’s remaining contentions.

I
FACTUAL BACKGROUND
In February 2000, after impregnating his girlfriend, Margie Garofano, defendant
moved into her house. On October 25, 2000, Margie gave birth to their son, Erik. After
Margie’s maternity leave expired, she went back to work, working the night shift three
nights a week from 7:00 p.m. until 7:00 am. as critical care nurse. Defendant worked

occasionally as a handyman and painter, providing about 10 percent of the family

income.

1 All future statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise
stated.



Defendant became impatient with Erik when he cried. He also grew jealous of the
attention Margie gave Erik. In March 2001, a few days before Erik’s four month well-
baby checkup with his doctor, Margie noticed a bump on the back of Erik’s head. When
she asked defendant what happened, he said Erik hit his head on the coffee table when he
rolled off the couch. During the well-baby appointment, after Margie described the way
defendant sometimes flipped Erik on his forearm, the doctor told defendant that was a
dangerous way to hold the baby. Margie obtained some pamphlets from the doctor about
“shaken baby syndrome” and left them out for defendant to read.

Defendant and Margie, who never married, began to argue about Margie’s concern
that defendant did not contribute financially to the family. As time went on, the
arguments became more heated, and Margie asked defendant to move out two or three
times. Defendant said that he would move out if she gave him $6,000 so he could get his
life back together. Margie did not have that much money, but she gave defendant a check
for $2,000 in early April.

On April 27, 2001, when Margie left for work about 6:20 p.m., Erik was healthy.
Margie workec_i all night. About 6:30 am. the following morning, defendant telephoned
Margie and asked her to come home from work right away because Erik was hurt. When
Margie asked defendant what happened, defendant said Erik injured his shoulder around
5:30 a.m., when defendant tripped and fell on the carpeted stairs whi]e he was holding the
baby. Margie asked defendant if he called 911, and defendant replied that he had not yet

done so. Margie then told defendant to call 911 and get Erik to the hospital. Although



defendant seemed reluctant to do so, he called 911. After Margie hung up the telephone
with defendant, she went home immediately.

Responding paramedics found defendant and Erik in an upstairs bedroom. A
paramedic observed the baby lying on the bed, looking somewhat drowsy, with a weak
cry but no external injuries. When the paramedic asked defendant what happened,
defendant said that he dropped the baby while climbing the stairs when the dog got in his
way. The paramedic estimated an 18-inch drop after examining the stairs. The stairs
were each seven inches high and three feet wide. Defendant agreed to accompany Enk to
the hospital.

After Margie arrived at the hospital, she unsuccessfully attempted to waken Erk
by calling his name and touching his chest. When Margie manually lifted Erik’s eyelids,
oﬁe pupil looked down and the other looked straight ahead. This alarmed Margie
because, as a trained nurse, she knew that this was a sign of a head injury. Erik then
awoke, arched his head back, and began kicking his legs and crying. Margie noticed,
however, that Erik could not move his eyes.

After Margie found a doctor, the doctor asked defendant what happened.
Defendant stated that Erik hit his head on the stairs when defendant dropped him. Enk
was then taken to be treated. While they waited for the results of the examination,
Margie again asked defendant how Erik got hurt. Defendant said it was an accident.

Dr. Sonne, the emergency room doctor who attended to Erik, ordered a CT scan of

Erik’s brain after noting that Erik was “posturing” with one arm stiff near his side, that



his eyes were staring in a fixed position, and that he had a high pitched cry, all indicators
of abnormal brain functions. The CT scan showed skull fractures on both sides of Erik’s
head, bleeding between the brain and left skull, a subdural hematoma on the left side of
the brain, and blood inside the frontal cortex of the brain. Erik’s brain was swollen,
indicating trauma. X-rays of Erik’s body also revealed a healing fracture of Erik’s femur.
Dr. Sonne opined that the CT scan and lesions in Erik’s brain were inconsistent with the
history of the injury given by defendant. The doctor suspected child abuse and
recommended that a child abuse workup be performed.

Erik was then transferred to Loma Linda Hospital for intensive care treatment.
The treating doctor concluded Erik’s condition was critical and ordered a child abuse
workup. After reviewing the child abuse evaluation, the doctor concluded Erik’s injuries
contradicted the history provided by defendant. Aneye examination revealed extensive
bilateral retinal hemorrhaging. The examination suggested abusive head trauma as a
result of being shaken.

Erik died three days later, on May 1, 2001, after unsuccessful efforts to relieve the
swelling in his brain to keep him alive. An autopsy revealed 6pﬁc nerve bleeding, which,
like the retinal hemorrhaging, indicated a shaking injury. An older fracture to Erk’s
femur and a more recent fracture to Erik’s rib also indicated Erik had been shaken. The
skull fractures and subdural hemorrhaging indicated abusive head trauma. The extent of

the injuries, particularly the skull fractures, stemmed from an impact greater than that



which would occur from a fali to a carpeted floor. Abusive head trauma, rather than an
accidental fall, caused Erik’s injuries.

A pair of brass knuckles were found by police on April 28, 2001, inside a drawer
in Margie’s garage. Defendant had found them at a park and kept them in the garage.

Il
DISCUSSION

A.  Admission of Prior Child Abuse Offense

Defendant contends the trial court abused its discretion in admitting evidence of
his prior 1993 offense of child abuse (§ 273, subd. (a)(1)) inflicting great bodily injury (§
11022.7). Specifically, he claims that, while the evidence was probative, it was
nevertheless “so overwhelmingly prejudicial and inflammatory” that its admission
requires reversal of the judgment. We disagree.

Prior to trial, the prosecutor sought to admit specific instances of prior conduct by
defendant toward another son, Jack, in 1993, which resulted in deféndant’s conviction by
guilty plea of child abuse inflicting great bodily injury. The prosecutor argued the
evidence was admissible under Evidence Code section 1101, subdiﬁsion (b) to prove
defendant's intent, knowledge of the danger in shaking a baﬁy, lack of mistake, and lack
of accident in the instant charged offenses of second degree murder and child abuse.
Defense counsel asserted evidence of defendant’s prior conduct and conviction were

“extremely” prejudicial, «overkill,” and improper propensity evidence.



The trial court admitted the evidence, finding: “As far as the [Evidence Code
section] 1101, subdivision )(b) evidence, I believe it’s highly probative in this kind of
éase. It clearly goes fo intent, implied malice, as well as lack of accident. The jury will
be admonished in the [Evidence Code section] 1101[, subdivision J(b) instruction that
they cannot consider this for disposition evidence, and if the People argue disposition
evidence, obviously that would be prosecuton’al misconduct, and this matter would be
subject to a mistrial if that should occur. [] The jury will be advised that this evidence
is to be considered only as it relates to the issue of intent and lack of accident or mistake.
[§] Under [Evidence Code section] 352, balancing the probative value of this evidence
against the possible prejudicial effect, 1 feel that it weighs in favor of its admissibility.
And for the challenge, therefore, the challenge under [Evidence Code section] 352 will be
denied.”

The admitted evidence showed that defendant lived with and impregnated another
g'}rlfn'end, Michelle McFarland, who gave birth to their baby, Jack, in March of 1993. In
May 1993, Michelle saw defendant shake Jack, hard, for several seconds. The following
day, Michelle took Jack and moved to Towa, where she stayed for about two weeks until
defendant contacted her and coaxed her into returning to California. Sometime later,
when Michelle noticed a red mark on the back of the baby’s head, defendant said the
baby hit his head on the windowsill while defendant was holding him.

On July 1, 1993, Michelle and defendant had an argument while they were in the

car with Jack. Michelle got out of the car and walked home. When Michelle got home,



she noted that Jack’s crying seemed unusual. The next morning Jack had a fever, and
Michelle called the doctor to arrange for an appointment. Defendant, however, did not
want to take Jack to the doctor. Defendant continued to resist taking J ack to the doctor,
even though Jack’s condition worsened over the next few days.

Michelle finally took Jack to the hospital on July 3, 1993. A CT scan revealed a
skull fracture. When Michelle relayed this information to defendant, defendant said he
dropped the baby while bathing in the shower that morning. The following day, when
defendant was interviewed by a police officer investigating the cause of J ack’s injures,
defendant again stated that Jack slipped from his hands when he was bathing Jack in the
shower. Defendant also told the officer that a month earlier Jack had fallen to the floor
when defendant “clipped” the bedpost while carrying him.

In August 1993, defendant pleaded guilty to child abuse (§ 273, subd. (a)(1)) and
admitted that he inflicted great bodily injury on the baby (§ 12027). Several years later,
defendant admitted to Michelle that he held Jack upside down by the feet while shaking
him.

There was also testimony from Dr. Rebecca Piantini, a forensic pediatrician who
examined Jack’s medical records relating to his injuries. Aithough Dr. Piantini neither
spoke with any of Jack’s treating doctors nor examined any X-rays or CT scans in Jack’s
case, she opined that Jack’s injuries were likely to have been abusive injuries and

unlikely to have been caused by a fall from defendant’s arms in the shower.



Defendant claims the trial court abused its discretion in admitting the foregoing
evidence because it was inflammatory, it confused the issues, it involved conduct remote
in time, and it consumed an undue amount of trial time. We find no abuse.

“Character evidence is inadmissible when offered to prove conduct on a specified
occasion. (Evid. Code, § 1101, subd. (2).) The purpose of this rule is to avoid placing an
accused in the position of defending against crimes for which he [or she] has not been
charged and to avoid having a jury convict him [or her] on prejudicial character evidence
alone. [Citation.]” (Blackburn v. Superior Court (1993) 21 Cal. App.4th 414, 430;
accord, People v. Ewoldt (1994) 7 Cal.4th 380, 393 (Ewoldr).)

Under Evidence Code section 1101, subdivision (b), evidence that a defendant
committed other crimes, civil wrongs, or other acts 1s admissible under Evidence Code
section 1101 if it is relevant to prove a fact (e.g., motive, intent, knowledge, absence of
mistake or accident, or common plan or design) other than the defendant’s disposition to
commit the charged crime. (Ewoldt, supra, 7 Cal.4th at p. 393.)

The adinissibility of such evidence “depends upon three principal factors: (1) the
materiality of the fact sought to be proved or disproved; (2) the tendency of the
uncharged crime to prove or disprove the material fact; and (3) the existence of any rule
or policy requiring the exclusion of relevant evidence.” (People v. Thompson (1980) 27
Cal.3d 303, 315, italics omitted, disapproved on another ground in People v. Williams

(1988) 44 Cal.3d 883, 907, fn. 7.)



In deterraining whether evidence of other crimes has a tendency to prove a
material fact in dispute, the court must first determine whether or not the uncharged
offense serves “““logically, naturally, and by reasonable inference’™ to establish that
fact.” (People v. Thompson, suprd, 27 Cal.3d at p. 316.) Moreover, “[e]vidence of
uncharged offenses ‘is s0 prejudicial that its admission requires extremely careful
analysis. [Citations.]’ [Citations.] ‘Since “substantial prejudicial effect [is] inherent in
[such] evidence,” uncharged offenses are admissible only if they have substantial
probative value.’ [Citation.]” (Ewoldt, supra, 7 Cal.4th at p. 404, italics omitted.)

“The least degree of similarity (between the uncharged act and the charged
offense) is required in order to prove intent. [Citation.] ‘[T}he recurrence of a similar
result . . . tends (increasingly with each instance) to negative accident or inadvertence Or
self-defense or good faith or other innocent mental state, and tends to establish . . . the
pfesence of the normal, i.e., criminal intent accompanying such an act.. .. . [Citation.]
In order to be admissible to prove intent, the uncharged misconduct must be sufficiently
similar to support the inference that the defendant ““probably harbor[ed] the same intent
in each instance.” [Citations.})’ [Citation.]” (Ewoldt, supra, 7 Cal 4th at p. 402; see also
People v. Yeoman (2003) 31 Cal.4th 93, 121-122)) |

Even where evidence is not required to be excluded under Evidence Code section
1101, a further inquiry under Evidence Code section 352 is required. (People v. Balcom
(1994) 7 Cal.4th 414, 426-427.) In other words, for other crimes evidence to be

admissible, the trial court not only must find that the probative value of that evidence is
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substantial but also muét determine whether that probative value “is ‘substantially
outweighed by the probability that its admission [would] . . . create substantial danger of
undue prejudice, of confusing the issues, or of misleading the jury.” [Citation.]” (Ewold,
supra, 7 Cal.4th at p. 404, quoting Evid. Code, § 352.) On appeal, we review the tnal
court’s rulings on both questions for abuse of discretion. (People v. Lewis (2001) 25
Cal.4th 610, 637; People v. Daniels (1991) 52 Cal.3d 815, 858.)

In the present matter, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the
prior act evidence on counts 1 (second degree murder) and 2 (child abuse resulting in
death) for the purposes of showing that defendant had knowledge of danger, lack of
mistake or accident, and intent to commit the charged offenses. The prior act was
strikingly similar to the charged offenses in counts 1 and 2. Indeed, defendant concedes
the evidence was probative.

We next must address the principal question of whether the probative value of the
prior crime evidence “is ‘substantially outweié,hed by the probability that its admission
[would] . . . create substantial danger of undue prejudice, of confusing the issues, or of
misleading the jury.’ [Citation.]” (Ewold!, supra, 7 Cal 4th at p. 404, quoting Ewid.
Cede, § 352.) As stated above, the prior act and conviction evidence was highly
probative. The prejudicial effect of that evidence, on the other hand, was minimal.

Factors to consider in assessing prejudice include whether the defendant was
convicted of the prior offense, which eliminates the danger that the jury would feel

compelled to do so in the current case and also eliminates the need for the jury to decide

11



if the prior crime actually occurred, which could potentially confuse the issues. (Ewold,
supra, 7 Cal.4th at p. 405.) Defendant was convicted of child abuse inflicting great
bodily injury in 1993, and therefore the noted concerns do not come into play. In
addition, cases have held that long distances in time do not render other crimes evidence
irrelevant per se if the incidents are extremely similar, and the myriad similarities of
Jack’s and Erik’s experiences present such a case. (See, e.g., People v. Burns (1987) 189
Cal.App.3d 734, 738-739; People v. Waples (2000) 79 Cal.App.4th 1389, 1393-1396
[this court determined extremely similar crimes committed 18 to 25 years before the
present crime were relevant and admissible]; but see People v. Harris (1998) 60

Cal. App.4th 727, 739.)

Testimony regarding the prior crime was not inflammatory, or no more
inflammatory than the charged offenses, another factor to consider in assessing whether
the probative value of the evidence substantially outweighed its potential for prejudice.
(People v. Burns, supra, 189 Cal.App.3d at pp. 738-739.) In arguing otherwise,
defendant asserts that the prior crime evidence showed nothing more than defendant’s
propensity to commit crimes and had no other probative value. As discussed previously,
the evidence was relevant to prove defendant’s knowledge of the danger of shaking a
baby, lack of mistake or accident, and intent to commit the charged offenses, and
therefore we reject defendant’s contrary claim.

The prejudice defendant complains of is the type that naturally flows from

relevant, highly probative evidence. And, as noted above, the evidence of the prior act
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was so highly relevant to the issues in the present case that there was very little danger
the jury would have used it for an improper purpose. Moreover, the trial court limited
any prejudicial impact of the prior conviction by instructing the jury, in the language of
CALJIC No. 2.50, that such evidence could not be considered to prove defendant was a
person of bad character or that he had a disposition t0 commit crimes. Considering all of
the relevant factors, we conclude the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding that
the probative value of the evidence was not substantially outweighed by the probability
that it would create substantial danger of undue prejudice, of confusing the issues, Or of
misleading the jury.

Notwithstanding the above, even if we were to assume that the trial court abused
its discretion in allowing the admission of the prior crime evidence, we arc unable to find
that defendant was prejudiced. Even if testimony concerning the prior offense had not
been admissible, we would have concluded that its introduction was harmless error under
any standard. (Chapmany. California (1967) 386 U.S. 18, 24; People V. Watson (1956)
46 Cal.2d 818. 836.) There was overwhelming physical and testimonial evidence here to
find that defendant killed Erik and that he committed child abuse resulting in death. The
CT scan of Erik’s brain showed that Erik’s brain was abnormally functioning. It also
showed skull fractures on both sides of Erik’s head, bleeding between the brain and left
skull, a subdural hematoma on the left side of the brain, and blood inside the frontal
cortex of the brain. Erik’s swollen brain indicated trauma. The child abuse workup, the

CT scan, the lesions in Erik’s brain, and an eye examination all contradicted the history
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given by defendant as to Erik’s injuries. Erik’s complete medical examination revealed
abusive head trauma as a result of being shaken. An autopsy bf Ernk’s body showed optic
nerve bleeding, which, like the retinal hemorrhaging, indicated a shaking injury. An
older fracture of Erik’s femur and a more recent fracture to Erik’s rib also showed Erik
had been shaken. There was overwhelming evidence here to indicate that Erik died as a
result of abusive head trauma rather than an accidental fall.

Defendant also claims admission of the prior offense evidence violated his
constitutional right to due process under the federal and state Constitutions. Substantially
similar arguments recently were rejected by our Supreme Court in People v. Yeoman,
supra, 31 Cal.4th at pages 122-123. As the court explained, “[w]e reject the argument
because the trial court’s decision to admit the evidence was correct under state law (Evid.
Code, §§ 352, 1101, subd. (b); see People v. Ewoldt, supra, 7 Cal.4th 380, 402-403), was
neither arbitrary nor fundamentally unfair . . . .” (/d. at p. 123; see also People v.
Falsetta (1999) 21 Cal.4th 903, 917 [high court held that Evid. Code, § 1108, which
permits evidence of a defendant’s uncharged sex offenses to show his propensity to
commit offenses of the same type, did not violate due process, reasoning that the trial
court’s discretion to exclude unduly prejudicial evidence under Evid. Code, § 352 saved
§ 1108 from the defendant’s due process challenge]; see also People v. Hoover (2000) 77
Cal. App.4th 1020, 1025-1029 [this court held Evid. Code § 1109, which permits
admission of a defendant’s prior acts of domestic violence to show the defendant had a

propensity to commit one or more charged offenses involving domestic violence, does not
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offend due process]; People v. Escobar (2000) 82 Cal. App.4th 1085, 1095-1096 [same];
People v. James (2000) 81 Cal App.4th 1343, 1353 [same]; People v. Jennings (2000) 81
Cal. App.4th 1301, 1309-1310 [same]; People v. Brown (2000) 77 Cal. App.4th 1324,
1331-1334 [same]; People v. Johnson (2000) 77 Cal.App.4th 410, 416-419 [same].) For
the same reasons, Evidence Code section 1101 does not offend due process.

B. CALJIC No. 2.03

Defendant also argues the trial court erred in instructing the jury with the
consciousness of guilt instruction (CALJIC No. 2.03). Specifically, he claims the
insﬁuction was improper because it «strongly” suggested that the defense was fabricated
and the jury might therefore infer his guilt from this fabrication, and because it was an
improper pinpoint instruction. We disagree.

CALJIC No. 2.03, as given to the jury, states: “If you find that before this trial the
defendant made a willfully false or deliberately misleading statement concerning the
critnes for which he is now being tried, you may consider that statement as a
circumstance tending to prove a consciousness of guilt. However, that conduct 1s not
sufficient by itself to prove guilt, and its weight and significance, if any, are for you to
decide.”

“The giving of CALJIC No. 2.03 is justified when there exists evidence that the
defendant prefabricated a story to explain his conduct. The falsity of a defendant’s
pretrial statement may be shown by other evidence even when the pretrial statement is not

inconsistent with defendant’s testimony at trial.” (People v. Edwards (1992)
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8 Cal.App.4th 1092, 1103.) Prior statements, if false, may constitute evidence of
consciousness of guilt even when they are exculpatory in form. (People v. Cooper (1970)
7 Cal.App.3d 200, 204-205.) Furthermore, false reasons for one’s conduct may be
circumstantial evidence of an ulterior, unspoken, and illicit motivation. (See, e.g., People
v. Osslo (1958) 50 Cal.2d 75, 93; see also People v. Rankin (1992) 9 Cal.App.4th 430,
436 [CALJIC No. 2.03 should be given if defendant makes a false statement for the
purpose of deflecting suspicion].)

If the defendant’s pretrial statements contradict physical evidence or the testimony
of trustworthy witnesses, the jury may view the making of those statements as
demonstrating consciousness of guilt. (People v. Kimble (1988) 44 Cal.3d 480, 496,
498.) Here, there was both physical evidence (photographs of Erik’s injuries and of the
stairs in the house) and the testimony of trustworthy witnesses, i.e., the paramedic and the
doctor, that contradicted defendant’s pretrial claim that he accidentally dropped Enk
while on the stairs. Accordingly, it can be a proper evidentiary basis for giving CALJIC
No. 2.03.

Defendant, however, contends the instruction was improper because it suggested
to the jury that he made false statements, and therefore the jury inferred }ﬁs guilt from this
fabrication. To the contrary, the Supreme Court has repeatedly held that the
consciousness of guilt instructions (see also CALJIC Nos. 2.04 [efforts by defendant to
fabricate evidence] and 2.06 [efforts by defendant to suppress evidence]) do not properly

relate to mental state. In People v. Crandell (1988) 46 Cal.3d 833 (disapproved on
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another ground in People v. Crayion (2002) 28 Cal.4th 346), the defendant claimed that
the consciousness of guilt instructions violated due process by permitting an unfounded
inference, arguing that the jury might “view ‘consciousness of guilt’ as equivalentto 2
confession, establishing all elements of the charged murder offenses, including
premeditation and deliberation, though defendant might be conscious only of having
committed some form of unlawful homicide.” (Crandell, at p. 871.) The Crandell court
rejected this argument, concluding: “Defendant’s fear that the jury might have confused
the psychological and legal meanings of ° guilt’ 1s unwarranted. A reasonable juror would
understand ‘consciousness of guilt’ to mean ‘consciousness of some wrongdoing’ rather
than ‘consciousness of having committed the specific offense charged.” The instructions
advise the jury to determine what significance, if any, should be given to evidence of
consciousness of guilt, and caution that such evidence is not sufficient to establish guilt,
thereby clearly implying that the evidence is not the equivalent of a confession and is to
be evaluated with reason and common Sense. The instructions do not address the
defendant’s mental state at the time of the offense and do not direct or compel the
drawing of impermissible inferences in regard thereto.” (Ibid.; see also People v. Jackson
(1996) 13 Cal.4th 1164, 1224 [unnecessary to limit the ins&uction by advising jury that
consciousness of guilt is not probative of mental state]; People v. Breaux (1991) 1 Cal.4th
281, 304.) In People v. Ashmus (1991) 54 Cal.3d 932 (disapproved on another ground in
People v. Yeoman, supra, 31 Cal.4th 93), the defendant similarly argued that the

consciousness of guilt instructions violated due process by improperly implying that if he
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lied about attacking a murder victim it might be inferred that he acted with intent to kill.
(Ashmus, at p. 977.) The Ashmus court concluded that the instruction did not permit such
an inference: “A reasonable juror simply could not have taken the words of the
instruction to mean that lies by defendant supported an inference of intent to kill on his
part.” (/d. atp. 978 see also People V. Clark (1993) 5 Cal.4th 950, 1022.) Thus, the
consciousness of guilt instructions are actually less appropriate in cases where intent is
the primary issue. The rationale in Crandell and other California Supreme Court cases
dealing with the instant issue is applicable to this case. |

Defendant relies on People v. Rubio (1977) 71 Cal.App.3d 757, 758, where the
appellate court disagreed with the giving of CALJIC No. 2.03 when the only proof that
defendant’s pretrial statements are false is that they conflict with the prosecution’s
evidence at trial. The court reasoned: “The giving of CALJIC No. 2.03 is justified only
if there exists evidence that defendant prefabricated a story to explain his conduct. This
instruction is not applicable in the situation where a defendant makes an explanation of
behavior to the police which is consistent with his self-serving testimony at trial that
conflicts with the prosecution’s evidence before the jury. In such a case, the instruction
of necessity casts specific doubt on a defendant’s credibility as a witness and singles out
defendant’s lestimony as subject to more particular scrutiny than that attached to
prosecution witnesses.” (Rubio, at p. 769.)

In People v. Kimble, supra, 44 Cal 3d 480, the Supreme Court examined whether

the general rule allowing admission of pretrial false statement applies only when the
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“falsity’ 1s demonstrated by the fact that they are contrary to the defendant’s own trial
testimony.” (/d. at p. 496.) The court held that such a restriction is not applicable to
pretrial false statements. The court disagreed with the line of cases holding otherwise. In
People v. Bacigalupo (1991) 1 Cal.4th 103, the Supreme Court found that the instruction
did not suggest to the jurors that they could infer any mental state or degree of culpability
from consciousness of guilt. It held the instruction was not biased or argumentative but
was a proper instruction advising the jury of inferences that could rationally be drawn
from the evidence. (/d. atPp. 128.) In People v. Kelly (1991) 1 Cal.4th 495, the Supreme
Court again rejected a defendant’s argument that CALJIC No. 2.03 was favorable to the
prosecution. (Kelly, at p. 531.)

Hencé, in light of Kimble, Bacigalupo, and Kelly, it is clear that Rubio is no longer
a correct statement of the law. (See People V. Edwards (1992) 8 Cal App.4th 1092, 1103-
1104; People v. Williams (1995) 33 Cal. App.4th 467, 478.)

Defendant further argues that CALJIC No. 2.03 constituted an impermissibly
argumentative pinpoint instruction that drew an inference favorable to the prosecution.
We again disagree. As the People point out, this contention has repeatedly been rejected
by our Supreme Court. (People v. Boyette (2002) 29 Cal 4th 381, 438-439; People v.
Kipp (1998) 18 Cal.4th 349, 375; People v. Jackson, supra, 13 Cal.4th 1164, 1223-1224;
People v. Kelly, supra, 1 Cal.4th 495, 532.)

We conclude that the trial court did not err by giving CALJIC No. 2. 03.
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Even if we assume the challenged instruction was inapplicable here, applying the
more stringent Chapman? standard, we find any error to be harmless beyond a reasonable
doubt. As stated in section ILA, ante, there was overwhelming physical and testimonial
evidence here to find that defendant abused and killed Erik and that he gave a false
explanation regarding Erik’s injuries to the paramedic, the doctor, and his girlfriend.
Based on the foregoing evidence, any error in instructing the jury with CALJIC No. 2.03
wés harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

C. Correction of Abstract of Judgment

Lastly, defendant contends, and the People agree, that the abstract of judgment
must be corrected to reflect the oral pronouncement of judgment. Because the abstract of
judgment erroneously indicates the 30-years-to-life sentence on count 1 (15 years
doubled pursuant to the three strikes law) runs consecutively to the 50-years-to-life
sentence on count 2 (25 years doubled pursuant to the three strikes), and the trial court
stayed the sentence on count 1 pursuant to secﬁon 654, we agree with the parties that the
abstract of judgment must be corrected accordingly.

11
DISPOSITION
The trial court is directed to amend the abstract of judgment to reflect the sentence

on count 1 (second degree murder) was stayed and to forward a copy of the amended

2 Chapman v. California, supra, 386 U.S. 18, 24.
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cts, the

abstract to the Department of Corrections. (§§ 1213, 1216.) In all other respe

judgment is affirmed.
NOT TO BE PUBLISHED IN OFFICIAL REPORTS

RICHLI

We concur. -

HOLLENHORST
Acting P.J.

McKINSTER
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P3-01-118-065

MASSON :

GAROFANO:

MASSON::

GAROFANO :

MASSON:

GAROFANO:

MASSON:

GAROFANO:

MASSON:

GAROFANO:

him about it because it was to the point cause it
was gonna get him all riled up, so, I, I knew he--
and what do you think--

—-he's a person who wants--

_-would of happened?

—-he is his son, you know, and obviously--
What do you think would of happened if he got riled
up?

17 .~
S

oh, he, he, he is very boisterous and .........-
and- -

Did you ever see him do anything else, throw
things? '
He threw maybe something across the room like a
telephone pook once, and you know, things 1like
that, but, but kinda of out of frustration no I'm
Upset ..o and then, you know, threw
it over there. Yeah, that kind of thing.

How is, how is David with the baby? ¢

He seems £O ...t him, because I always
think the baby, most of the time he's .........
........ love to carry it, play with him, call him
cuddle puddles, and things like that and um, Yyou
know, he seems very happy about the baby, and uh,

if he's busy he'll put him in the swing so he's
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MASSON:

GAROFANO:

MASSON:

GAROFANO:

MASSON:

GAROFANO:

MASSON:

GAROFANO:

MASSON::

GAROFANO:

MASSON:

GAROFANO:

MASSON:

GAROFANO:

MASSON :

GAROFANO:

MASSON :

MASSON :

GAROFANO::

fine. His swings are nice little safe seat thing,
you know, we have and--

You work how many hours?

T work 12-hour shifts, night shift.

For how many hours?

Uh.

T mean for how many days?

Uh four days a week. I work one day a week extra
for extra money.

To make up the hours.

vYeah. Just for the extra money cause we get paid
eitra money for the extra day.

Okay -

You know.

So-0--

I+'ve been doing that for years though.

—_and, and what time do you go on?

Tt's, I leave the house at 6:00 be at work by 7:00.
About 6:15 and work by 7:00.

7:00--

p ..

p.m?

Okay, and you work where?

gan Antonio Community Hospital.
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GAROFANO:

MASSON:

GAROFANO:

MASSON :

GAROFANO:

MASSON:

MASSON:

MASSON:

GAROFANO:

MASSON :

GAROFANO :

MASSON :

I, I he's feeding him um rice cereal mixed with
different kinds of baby foods--

Uh-hum (affirﬁative)

--and breast milk.

And breast milk? Okay.

veah I breast feed him.

So you pump it and--

Yeah, I pump it at work at night, just at night, to
have some in the bottle at home, sO he mixes his
food--

Okay.

--and David will feéa him. We're trying to get him
to go back to the bottle now. We're trying to do
the weaning thing.

Right. How's the baby's appetite lately?
Very good, and he eats great. I mean ..........
whenever I give him .............. I was remarking
to the doctor, I surprised because the very first
time I gave him a spoon of food he went right for
it like a, like he, oh he, I mean he's, he, even
the doctor commented he seemed advanced for his
age .

Okay .
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GAROFANO:

HUGHES:

GAROFANO:

HUGHES::

GAROFANO:

HUGHES:

GAROFANO:

HUGHES::

GAROFANO:

HUGHES :

GAROFANO:

HUGHES :

GAROFANO:

I don't know why he, you know, isn't that weird it
was in our park and I saw 1it.

.................. sbout uh the, the thing you saw

....................... you described it is that
it's like an indentation and--

1t was like uh--

--and then it blistered?

__it was 1like a pressure SOre. You know how you get
pressure SOTES and it, when he was a little baby he
had rolled over on that side of his face--

Okay .

--and it was a pressure sSOTe.

But then it did blister before?

Yeah, it, it, well it half of the skin will blister
and then it, and then it, he, well, he, he'd rubbed
it then, you know, it broke and then it ascabbed and
it bled.

Is this something that you told you him that you've
seen then ........- oo

T've seen that rind of thing in the hospital. Yeah,
and I showed the doctor and the doctor said not to

worry about it, and, it will be, and that's why,
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HUGHES :

GAROFANO:

HUGHES :

GAROFANO:

HUGHES :

GAROFANO:

MASSON :

GAROFANO :

cause all the kids that come out with flat heads
pecause they telling them to stay on their backs,
don't turn them yet.

So it's not, it wasn't 1ike a burn perhaps?

No. No, no, no. Cause- -

~-just may be a drop of hot water.

No, no, no it's not that. I, I thought about, it
was not, and I know the difference. It was not, it
was a pressure sore. and it definitely makes sense
to me.

Has he ever rough housed with the child?

There was a time when the baby was crying early on,
and he would, he, he would do 1like this upside
thing you know for a few seconds, and you know, and
1, at first I didn't notice it, then I saw he, he
walked, he was walking the baby, you know how you,
you hold the baby, he's crying, just walk around
the house, you're cuddling him you know, and I
walked into the den or wherever he was and I saw
him with the baby he looked like a dippsy thing,
1ike this. I said "What are you doing?" "Oh, this

helps stop him from crying and it works." I said
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MASSON:

GAROFANO:

MASSON :

GAROFANO:

MASSON::

GAROFANO:

MASSON:

GAROFANO:

MASSON::

"No, you don't do that." And, it was like he was
just, he was holding him like this. You know I said
"No, you don't--

What kind of motion was it?

The, the baby's in your arms, here's his head,
here's his body and he just, he, supported the baby
the whole time doing this.

Was it a quick motion or jerky motion or?

Like um.

Or smooth motion?

Some times smooth, some times a little bit of a
jerk like that, but he had uh the hand, his whole
arm against his back and head.

9o the head wasn't falling ........... ?

No, no, 1 watched it. Yeah. And I said "Were you'
and I didn't 1like that. and I, I sa and I said
"Don't," I, I, it took me several times and I told
him "Don't do that." And so in the office with the
doctor I think I remember asking him, you know,
tell, tell him, tell David "You don't do upside
down with the baby things." ..........coeeer- he
went over that with him.

How often did he do that?
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GAROFANO: Jus', uh, just on occasion, off and on. But then I
told him I didn't like it and I finally got really-
-that's when some arguments were starting, Yyou
know, beginning of arguments. Cause I said-- ‘eircT

MASSON: Did you--

GAROFANO: __wT don't like that, don't do that."

MASSON: Did you happen to bring home any kind of pamphlets-

GAROFANO: Yes I did.

MASSON: - -regarding to shaking .. ...« vornen

GAROFANO: I picked it up doctor's office and I left it out on
the baby's thing, fdr, so it's always there when I
was gone. I did it purposely.

MASSON : OKAY . wveeeana s

VGAROFANO: Yeah.

BARTHOLOMEW: As a result of that?

GAROFANO: Uh.

BARTHOLOMEW: .. ..ot e oo or before that?

GAROFANO: Well, it came with the baby from the doctor's

office. It's a package thing. It was all, so, so

T, I, 1t i office, I just left
it out so it would be visible, so he'll, you know,

he'd see it. But then, after I
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MASSON :

GAROFANO:

MASSON :

GAROFANO::

HUGHES :

GAROFANO:

HUGHES :

GAROFANO:

HUGHES :

GAROFANO :

HUGHES :

GAROFANO:

HUGHES :

GAROFANO :

You, you left it out so he wouldn't do that
anymore?

I just left it out in the baby's room. I talked to
him about it. Yeah. You know, about the shaking
baby thing, you know. Yeah, because we talked about
that. He didn't do that, he just, this is all I saw
him do this dipping thing. That's all I ever saw.
Where did he ................. to him.

I don't know. I, I, I asked him "What is that?"
"Oh, it's nothing, 1t's ....... . ... .. ... " It, it,
it's just, you know, it's white is white, he used
to say, say "So what" all the time, said "So what,
it's, you don't do that" is what I said. You don't,
you know?

How long ago did he do that?

Um, around January when I saw it.

Yeah, Uh-huh (affirmative).

Is David familiar with the shaking baby syndrome?
Yeah.

And, the doctor pointed it right out to him.

Um, I don't know.
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HUGHES:

GAROFANO:

BARTHOLOMEW :

GAROFANO:

BARTHOLOMEW :

GAROFANO:

HUGHES :

GAROFANO:

HUGHES :

GAROFANO :

........................................ did he say
anything?

Uh, gosh, ... ..iieeennns possibly knew. I
don't know ............-. he knew, but I think he

was aware of it. But, I, I don't know, he didn't
exactly, you know, talk about it, cause I learned
most of the stuff around Christmas time.

................ Christmas is when you first

Um, Jjust

--inquiring about the--

Yeah, I think most of it, cause I, I learned about
it in pieces over time. I didn't know, there's
]ittle tidbits. You know we had this, you know, we
GEEL et and you know things would
happen. And, and it's tidbits and I never got the
whole picture at one time. It was over time I found
out the picture. And after I was involved.

Now that you know the picture what do you think?
Well, I'm thinking wu, I got myself into a mess.
I'm thinking--

.................. used to be.

Oh, after hearing that it, it definitely struck uh,

a chord in myself. You know, wondering, but then
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(End of Tape 1)

(start Tape 2,

GAROFANO:

MASSON :
GAROFANO:
MASSON :
GAROFANO:
MASSON :

GAROFANO :

he's shown me how he um ..........-oe-- while he

was in prison and

Side A)

............. he wanted to give into, therefore he
got in trouble therefore he got put in jail. She
over reacted, cause after the fact they, she wanted
to get back together, she did get back together
with her son and they did live again together. So
here's, why would someone want to get back together
if something like tﬂat so terrible happened to her
son, and why is she again calling and acting so
pleasant. I said everything's fine. Which makes me
wonder that this makes sense either. So, it made me
wonder if she was really true or if he was really
true. I didn't really know who I could believe
anymore to be honest.

Did you get pregnant after he moved in?

No, just before.

Just before he moved in with you?

Yeah.

Was that a--

Two months before.



INTERVIEW WITH MARGIE ANN GAROFANO Pagé 84
P3-01-118-065

MASSON: __-was that a factor, Or uh or did you guys already
plan on him moving in?

GAROFANO: T didn't plan on him moving in at first, and then 1
got pregnant and he, little by 1ittle, you Kknow,
coming over doing things. It gsound like, you know,
T thought "Well," and, and at the time there he was
very pleasant, very calm, very nice. Um, I watched
my house which was very neglected for years, become
1ittle by 1little a peautiful place. Things were
getting done, things were being fixed and you know,
it felt good to have that done, rso I started
thinking "Well, here I am mommy dusting things and
think well maybe this'll be okay, SO he won't make
a lot of money." In fact you know, maybe that's not
all you have to have in life. I started thinking
"Well, he's got, potentially he's got talent. He,
you know, I could help direct him into his field of
when he does" you know, "painting and what have
you." He did the tile work in my bathroom, You
know, the marble flooring. He's, the first time
ever, he did a great job. In fact‘he did two other
friend's Jjobs. Everyone he did work for at wy, at
hospital, SuUpervisors, and came over, he did a good

job. David love, they liked the job he did. They're
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MASSON::

GAROFANO:

MASSON :

GAROFANO :

MASSON :

GAROFANO:

impressed. .. ... he's very particular.
So, he's very good at, at, so, SO I thought he's
got a potential in his life, you know.

What do you think happened to uh Eric?

I really don't know. I don't know. I, I have uh,
it, this whole thing goes like a nightmare. I don't
know because I never see 1t happen. I never, it's
never in my view, it's never happened in front of
me. It's never happened, it's like you're living in
a bubble or, you're, you know, everything's fine.
You go off to work, who knows what's going on at
home. It could be ]ike doctor Jeckle and Mr. Hyde
for all T know. I don't know.

Do you think David could of hurt Eric?

Yes.

and why do you think that?

Based on everything you know, everything I've said.
I mean, you know, you put things together, it's
possible. But, what 's weird is that he seems, in my
presence to be SO in love with the baby. So, 1it's
very, Jjust takes care of him. Help, ...... ...
.......... have a bath in the morning, he brings
him to me and I sit in the tub and I wash him, and

then he takes him from me back to the crib and
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BARTHOLOMEW :

GAROFANO :

BARTHOLOMEW :

GAROFANO:

BARTHOLOMEW :

GAROFANO :

dries him so he won't .................. in and out
of the tub thing you know. I, I go and I shower, I
sit down, while he hands me the baby and I hold him
in my arms and then I wash him and I rinse him and
then hand him back to him and he puts him back in
the crib, he dries him, put's you know his diaper
on, and he gets some warm blankets until I get out
of the shower, and then breast feed him and we
watch TV, and the baby's happy, he's pleasant and
happy. I,

You said he gets impatient? TRV S

Yes.

Kinda has a problem with being impatient?

At times. Not, not all the time.

Have you ever seen him become impatient with, with
Eric, when he's crying or fussy or not wanting to
do something?

Oh, su, on occasion he would sit, he'd talk to him
verbally would say "Alright," you know, like you
know "Wait, for mommy" or he'd start talking to him
when he 1is, he doesn't understand what all that
means. You know, I understand what he's trying to
convey to the child, but he's talking across the

room to the child like, vyou know, "Yeah, yveah,
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MASSON:

GAROFANO :

wait, whoa, whoa," you Kknow. "Hey Eric, wait,
mommy ' S still busy, mom's trying to get ready" the
baby's crying cause he wants toO bé in my arms all
the time. As soon as [ gtart getting ready and put
down, I guess he's getting a little bit spoiled, he
wants to be with me and I just jove being with him,
you know.

When uh, when you first got the phone call, .--..--
had been hurt, and you're driving home, was there a
gut reaction where Yyou were skeptical that ....---
the baby? ..ee--rsorssmmmnn 0t

Yeah. Um, yeah, maybé for a flash. 1 guess if I, to
be honest, 1 just kinda went numb, and I just
wanted to not think of anything horrible, and I had
this long drive home and I thought, all I have to
do, T o to "call 911, call 911,
call 911" and Jjust kinda like "Oh please, I don't,
I don't wanna evern think the terrible," and I

thought, maybe it's Jjust 1ittle something, okay,

and he's being and doing the right thing 1like 1

told him, "Call me," but he's supposed CO call 911 “ 7

first 1f it's something more, but, then I thought
he doesn't know the judgement like my level of

judgement, SO maybe he didn't know- -1 thought maybe
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MASSON : Right .
GAROFANO: Right, right.
HUGHES : Has there ever peen a period of a couple of days

where, where pric seemed tO really be 1

or ubh, much more normal, uh, much mor

n distress

e than normal

crying, uh irritable, um anything 1ike that, that

you noticed, even the past week?

GAROFANO:  =e-ssoctit777700 if I walk out of the room he

getls R

be with e, and um, he's, as long

wanting to

contact with me he's content as a bug, but if, if I

wallk out of the room for a moment he realizes I'm

gone, the doctor told me about separation anxiety, 7.
but I was thinking that maybe that's,

momny  thing, but I noticed he gets,

you know, the

he uh a few

times he, he cries more than usual. 1,ike, he'd just

cry like until as if uh for me to, until I picked

him up- And then, and then he, he,

then he

would cry, T play with him and he would like .....

............. w{ wanna be with you don't you

understand what T'm ..eee - u

he says

"Cause

he's crying.” T thought tell," you Kknow I don't

wanna pick him up every single time,

I, 1I'd let it go for a few moments

so I thought

and like, like
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MASSON :

GAROFANO:

MASSON :

GAROFANO:

MASSON :

cry a little Dbit, before I always could grab him
all the time, you know, thinking that he's geting a
little older now, more aware, sO 1 didn't wanna,
you know, 1 was thinking that in my mimd. But, I
would go pick him up finally, I1'd go "Oh, come here
honey" or pick him up and cuddle him, then he'd,
give him about one or two minutes and he'd calm
down. Like I just pick him up in my arms and just
walk around the room and then, and he, and he, then
he'd calm, Yyou know, rather rapidly.

I just mean he was 1ike this a day oxr two where

No.

—_he'd come home from work, you're home from work,
and for whatever reason he won't go to sleep all
day, and he's crying and he's agitated or irritable
all day, and the baby kept you awake ...
There was a day that was 1ike that. He was, Eric,
David was gone most of the day doing‘errands, and
he was crying and I didn't sleep good that day, a
Full day, -.----rememri and I thought he was

just growing up and being more active
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GAROFANO:

MASSON :

GAROFANO:

MASSON::

GAROFANO :

It was, it was, there was a couple of days like
that this past week or so, but he, I, I Jjust
thought, because you know why I know, uh how 1
thought that, cause if I sat up in bed and then set
him in my lap and then he's all bright, 1like
................. something then he stopped, and
he's like u-u-u-u- ........... this time his toys
and looking around and he's happy. As soomn as I did
that, that was ah-h-h, you know, I kept him in bed
like @ v evinen . ' .. You know older ...........
can't do that. Laying in bed, you know, mommy
thing.

Right.

Now we're transen, transcending to the next level
where he gotta have more activity time:’wggé I
know, it's coming you know. I have uh um a playpen

my doctor said, I said nShould I put him in the

playpen now for an hour in the morning and an hour

in the afternoon." Haven't dguite done that vyet,
cause he has ... .. e I didn't
WANE AT, o v v oov i e ee e e knew he'd just be

all emotional he likes being with me, sO, I just
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Riverside Community Hospital NAME: PATKINS,ERIC
4445 Magnolia Ave PHYS: Sonne,Alan C
Riverside, CA 92501 DOB: 10/25/2000 AGE: 6M 3D - SEX: M

} ) . ACCT: AD0203105879 LOC: AD.ED
PHONE #: 909-788-3400 EXAM DATE: 04/28/2001 STATUS: DEP ER

FAX #: 909-788-3194 RADIOLOGY NO:
_ UNIT NO: AD01105349

e

EXAMS: 000224422 CT BRAIN WO CONTRAST
CT OF THE BﬁAIN WITHOUT CONTRAST:

HISTORY: Trauma.

PROCEDURE :

Contiguous 5 mm slices were make with the GE HiSpeed Advantage CT

scanner.

FINDINGS:

~oE W

aL?D
d left parietal lobes
k collection of blood o 45

<

There are fractures of the right temporal an

without significant depression. A 3 mm thic
along the inner table of the skull in the right frontotemporal region- "’

[ is consistent with an epidural hematoma. A small left frontotemporal
low density fluid collection is noted along the inner table of the

0 37 gkull. epE Mt

Conrt? vSton

There is a 2 x 1 cm 1ow density lesion in the left frontal lobe with a

tiny amount of high density material along its dependent portion,
consistent with blood. No midline shift is defined.

SAH
Some increased density material is noted along the tentorium and
posterior falx. Irregular zones of diminished density are noted in
the cerebral hemispheres pilaterally, particularly the occipital
jobes. Diminished density is also noted in the cerebellum.

IMPRESSION:
1. SMALL RIGHT TEMPORAL EPIDURAL HEMATOMA.

2. BILATERAL NONDEPRESSED SKULL FRACTURES.
3. SUBARACHNOID BLOOD NOTED ALONG THE POSTERIOR FALX AND TENTORIUM.
4. SMALL LEFT FRONTOTEMPORAL SUBDURAL HYGROMA .

5. A2X1CHM PORENCEPHALIC DENSITY IN THE LEFT FRONTAL LOBE,
‘ CONTAINING A SMALL AMOUNT OF BLOOD. <cniesiss
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Riverside Community Hospital NAME: PATKINS,ERIC

. 4445 Magnolia Ave PHYS: Sonne,Alan C
TN Riverside, CA 92501 DOB: 10/25/2000 AGE: 6M 3D - SEX: M
; / . ACCT: AD0203105879 LOC: AD.ED
PHONE #: 909-788-3400 EXAM DATE: 04/28/2001 STATUS: DEP ER
FAX #: 909-788-3194 RADIOLOGY NO:

UNIT NO: AD01105349

EXAMS: 000224422 CT BRAIN WO CONTRAST
<Continued>

6. TRREGULAR ZONES OF DIMINISHED DENSITY IN THE CEREBRAL AND
CEREBELLAR HEMISPHERES BILATERALLY CONSISTENT WITH EDEMA.

7. NO MIDLINE SHIFT WITH SMALL BUT NOT COMPLETELY EFFACED
VENTRICLES, SULCI, FISSURES AND CISTERNS.

THE MULTIPLICITY AND CHARACTER OF THESE VARIOUS ABNORMALITIES
CERTAINLY RAISES THE POSSIBILITY OF REPEATED EPISODES OF HEAD TRAUMA
OVER A PROLONGED TIME PERIOD. CLINICAL CORRELATION IS RECOMMENDED.

** Electronically Signed by Raymond P. Sakover M.D. **
* * on 04/28/2001 at 1155 * %
Reported and Signed by: Raymond P. Sakover, M.D.

CC: CALIFORNIA EMERGENCY PHYS GRP; Alan C. Sonne, M.D.

TECHNOLOGIST: Mark Enomoto, CRT

TRANSCRIBED DATE/TIME: 04/28/2001 (1109)
TRANSCRIPTIONIST: ADHIMMK

... PRINTED DATE/TIME: 05/01/2001 (1020) BATCH NO: 5495
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NAME: PATKINS, ERIC

Riverside Community Hospiéél
PHYS: CALIFORNIA EMERGENCY PHYS GRP

4445 Magnolia Ave
CA 92501 DOB: 10/25/2000 AGE: 6M 3D - SEX: M

Riverside,
. ACCT: AD0203105879 LOC: AD.ED
PHONE #: 909-788-3400 EXAM DATE: 04/28/2001 STATUS: DEP ER
FAX #: 909-788-3194 RADIOLOGY NO:

UNIT NO: AD01105349

EXAMS: 000224430 ABDOMEN 1V / KUB

PORTABLE KUB:

The bowel gas pattern is not remarkable. No suspicious soft tissue

density is defined.

Incidentally noted are zones of periosteal reaction of the femoral
shafts bilaterally consistent with prior trauma.

IMPRESSION:

SUBACUTE TO CHRONIC PERIOSTEAL REACTIVE CHANGES OF BOTH FEMURS
PROBABLY RELATED TO PRIOR TRAUMA.

* *
* %

** Electronically Signed by Raymond P. Sakover M.D.
* % on 04/28/2001 at 1324
Reported and Signed by: Raymond P. Sakover, M.D.

CC: CALIFORNIA EMERGENCY PHYS GRP

TECHNOLOGIST: Alecia Curtis, CRT
TRANSCRIBED DATE/TIME: 04/28/2001 (1207)

TRANSCRIPTIONIST: ADHIMDMD
PRINTED DATE/TIME: 05/01/2001 (1020) BATCH NO: 5495

PAGE 1 Signed Report Printed From PCI



; P m\ {, ,‘3

l wwj ' R
Riverside Community Hospital NAME: PATKINS,ERIC

PHYS: Sonne,Alan C

4445 Magnolia Ave
Riverside, CA 92501 DOB: 10/25/2000 AGE: 6M 3D - SEX: M

ACCT: AD0203105879 LOC: AD.ED

EXAM DATE: 04/28/2001 STATUS: DEP ER
RADIOLOGY NO:

UNIT NO: AD01105349

DHONE #: 909-788-3400
FAX #: 909-788-3194

EXAMS: 000224424 CERVICAL SPINE 1V LATERAL

PORTABLE CEﬁVICAL SPINE, LATERAL PROJECTION:

There is no definitive sign of fracture, displacement nor bone
destruction. There is mild adenoid hypertrophy. The soft tissues of
the neck are not optimally demonstrated, but there is a suggestion of

prevertebral swelling.

IMPRESSION:

RMALITY. A COMPLETE CERVICAL SPINE SERIES IS

NO DEMONSTRABLE ABNO
RECOMMENDED WHEN THE PATIENT IS BETTER ABLE TO COOPERATE.

* *
%* *

*%* Electronically Signed by Raymond P. Sakover M.D.
* ok on 04/28/2001 at 1324
Reported and Signed by: Raymond P. Sakover, M.D.

CC: CALIFORNIA EMERGENCY PHYS GRP; Alan C. Sonne, M.D.

TECHNOLOGIST: Alecia Curtis, CRT
TRANSCRIBED DATE/TIME: 04/28/2001 (1205)

TRANSCRIPTIONIST: ADHIMDMD
_PRINTED DATE/TIME: 05/01/2001 (1020) BATCH NO: 5455

7
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Riverside Community Hospital NAME: PATKINS,ERIC

4445 Magnolia Ave PHYS: Sonne,Alan C
Riverside, CA 92501 DOB: 10/25/2000 AGE: 6M 3D . SEX: M
ACCT: AD0203105879 LOC: AD.ED

PHONE #: 909-788-3400 EXAM DATE: 04/28/2001 STATUS: DEP ER

FAX #: 909-788-3194 RADIOLOGY NO:
UNIT NO: AD01105349

EXAMS: 000224423 CHEST 1 VIEW

PORTABLE CHEST, SUPINE:

veals the appearance of the heart and

A frontal view of the chest re
1 limits for this portable technique.

mediastinum to be within norma

pulmonary vascular markings are essentially

bnormality of bone structures for
t a detailed examination

The lungs are clear.
normal. There is no major a
the patient’s age, although this image is no

of thoracic skeletal architecture.

IMPRESSION:

NO ACUTE CARDIOPULMONARY PATHOLOGY IS DETECTED ON PORTABLE CHEST
RADIOGRAPHY.

* %

x+ Electronically Signed by Raymond P. Sakover M.D.
* * on 04/28/2001 at 1324 *
Reported and Signed by: Raymond P. Sakover, M.D.

CC: CALIFORNIA EMERGENCY PHYS GRP; Alan C. Sonne, M.D.

TECHNOLOGIST: Alecia Curtis, CRT
TRANSCRIBED DATE/TIME: 04/28/2001 (1203)

TRANSCRIPTIONIST: ADHIMDMD
PRINTED DATE/TIME: 05/01/2001 (1021) BATCH NO: 5495
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Riverside Community‘Hospital NAME: PATKINS,ERIC

4445 Magnolia Ave PHYS: gonne,Alan C

Riverside, CA 92501 DOB: 10/25/2000 AGE: 6M 3D SEX: M

{ o ACCT: AD0203105879 LOC: AD.ED

PHONE #: 909-788-3400 EXAM DATE: 04/28/2001 gTATUS: DEP ER
FAX #: 909-788-3194 RADIOLOGY NO: ,

UNIT NO: AD01105349

EXAMS: 000224436 CHEST 1 VIEW

CHEST, SINGLE VIEW - 04/28/2001:

The lungs are clear. The costophrenic sulci are free of fluid. The
ulmonary vegsels are normally distributed. The cardiothymic

gilhouette is normal. _

Fa? IMPRESSION:

 NORMAL CHEST RADIOGRAPH.

#% Electronically Signed by@Donald R. Massee-M.D.‘**
* on 05/06/2001 at 1046 * %
Reported and Signed by: Donald R. Massee, M.D.

cC: CALIFORNIA EMERGENCY PHYS GRP; Alan C. Sonne, M.D.

. TECHNOLOGIST: Alecia curtis, CRT
S TRANSCRIBED DATE/TIME: 05/04/2001 (1132)
I '”’TRANSCRIPTIONISTr%ADHIMMK-~mwmaw_Amw_w_”m~wmmﬂmﬂmw”*Mwwdmgﬂ_ﬂ_
PRINTED DATE/TIME: 05/06/2001 (1130) BATCH NO: 5662 ~ T

i
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I oma Livpa Universiry Cripren’s HospITaL

PATIENT: PATKINS, Eric .

11234 Anderson Street
poB: . 10-25-2000 ~ Loma Linda, California 92354
MR: | 155 43 25 (909) 825-KIDS (3437
DATE OF CONSULTATION: 4-28-01
REFERRING PHYSICIAN: Dr. Slaughter
CONSULTING PHYSICIAN: Rebeca Piantini, MD
PATIENT IDENTIFICATION: '

This is a six month old male who was transferred to LLUCH from Riverside Community
Hospital on 4-28-2001 with closed head injury and altered level of consciousness. :

HISTORY OF PRESENT ILLNESS:

The history is obtained from the chart. The patient was under the care of his father while
mother was at work. The father's history to paramedics and referring hospital is that he
was walking up the stairs with the patient and tripped and the patient fell from his arms and
rolled down the stairs. This happened about 5:30 to 6:00 AM. The stairs are reported to
be carpeted. Father called the mother at work, said that he needed to call 911.
Paramedics received a call about 6:38 AM and arrived at the home at about 6:46 AM.
They arrived at Riverside Community Hospital at 7:15 AM. Paramedics reported that the
patient was alert and crying when they arrived but was agitated upon arrival at Riverside
Community Hospital. On their exam, the patient was posturing with eyes deviated
downward bilaterally and the right arm was twitching. The patient was intubated and .
started on phenobarb'ltal, Dilantin and Valium. Head CT done at Community Hospital
showed new right epidural and subdural hematoma, interhemispheric subdural hematoma
and evidence of chronic subdural versus hyperacute, and there were bilateral parietal skull
fractures, per preliminary report. The patient was then transferred to LLUCH for a higher
level of care.

PAST MEDICAL HISTORY:

Patient was born full term vaginally to a 41 year old G1 PO. Birth weight was 10 pounds 10
ounces. Suction and forceps were used on delivery. There was meconium, however,
patient did well and went home with mother. Development: Patient has started sitting.
There are no known medications. There were no medications at home. There have been
no reported drug allergies, no iliness or hospitalizations. Patient has failen off the bed a
couple of times and was seen by a primary physician after the incidents were reported by
mom. Immunizations: Patient has received two and four month immunizations. Family
history: Thereis no family history of seizures or significant disease. Mother reported that,
on one occasion, she noted a small bruise-on the jawline and asked father what had
happened and he said the patient had falleq .rﬁ'-éthe bed.
) 3
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April 28, 2001 Page 2
RE: PATKINS, Eric -
MR: 1554325

PSYCHOSOCIAL HISTORY:

Mother is 41 years old, is an RN and works at San Antonio Community Hospital. Father is
36 years old and is a painter. The parents live together and are not married.

PHYSICAL EXAMINATION:

Temperature 96, pulse 163, respirations 20, blood pressure 123/57, intercranial pressure
60, estimated weight 7 kg (25" percentile), length 70.5 cm (75" percentile) and head
circumference 45 cm (around the 80" percentile). In general, the patient is intubated,
sedated. There Is an intracranial pressure monitor in the right frontal area. There is an
external ventricular drain catheter in the left parietal area and EEG leads on the scalp.
Head: Anterior fontanel! is bulging and tense with an intracranial pressure monitor bolt on
the right side and EDV on the left. There is dried blood on the scalp with some Betadine
over the area where the monitor bolt and drains were placed. Head appears
macrocephalic. Eyes: Pupils are fixed and about 3 mm. There are bilateral extensive
retinal hemorrhages. Sclera is white. Ears: Tympanic membranes are clear. There is no
hemotympanum and no bruises. Nose: There are small abrasions around the nares.
There is an NG tube in place. Mouth: The lips are dry and cracked. There is an
endotracheal tube in place. Upper and lower frenulums are intact. Neck: There is no
crepitus or bruising. Lungs are clear to auscultation and ventilator sounds with symmetric
air movement. Heart is regular rhythm. He is tachycardiac. There are no murmurs.
Abdomen is soft. Bowe! sounds are present. There is no abdominal distention, no
hepatosplenomegaly and no masses. There is no abdominal bruising. Extremities: There
are femoral lines bilaterally for 1V access. There is a bruise on the left wrist secondary to
IV access attempt. Pulses are 2+ and equal. Genitalia: Patient is circumcised Tanner
stage 1 with testes descended bilaterally. Anus is within normal limits. Skin: There is a
small amount of hemorrhage on the nails of the first toes bilaterally. There is a small
bruise on the left wrist from the IV attempt. There are no other bruises appreciated. The
skin is not hyperelastic. There is a slightly red area on the right lower quadrant of the
abdomen where tape has been placed for dressing of the right femoral line. Neurological
exam: Patient is sedated.

DIAGNOSTIC DATA:
WBC 19,000, hemoglobin 10.4, hematocrit 29.1, neutrophils 80, lymphocytes 15, platelet
count 433,000, sodium 144, potassium 3.8, chloride 116, CO2 18, BUN 4, creatinine 0.3,

glucose 121, alkaline phosphatase 398, AST 74, ALT 34. UA noted specific gravity 1.025,
no leukocytes, trace protein, 500 glucose and small ketones.

PRINTED BY: padikuon DATE 09/15/2004




April 28, 2001 ‘ Page 3
RE: PATKINS, Eric :
MR: 15543 25

April 28: Head. CT done at LLUCH was status post left frontal approach ventriculostomy
placement with decompression of the ventricles. There is air and hemorrhage along the
shunt tract and new intraparenchymal hemorrhage in the left frontal lobe. There was
persistent low density consistent with extensive cerebral edema and/or infarction, bilateral
cerebellar hemispheres, right greater than left and cerebellum. Intraventricular
hemorrhage, fight subdural hemorrhage, and right parafalcine hemorrhage. There is a

downward transtentorial herniation. -

April 30. Bone survey showed fracture of the posterior superior region of the parietal bone
and periosteal reaction indicating probable fracture of the right femur.

April 30: Brain scan vascular flow/CBF study noted abnormal cerebral blood flow
consistent with absent cerebral blood flow.

SUMMARY OF INJURIES:

1. Closed head injuries, subdural hematoma with significant cerebral edema.
2. Altered leve! of consciousness.

3. Skull fractures bilaterally.

4, Bilateral retinal hemorrhages.

IMPRESSION:

Thisis a six-month-old male with abusive head trauma that resulted in death.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

1. Ophthalmology consult and photographs to document retinal hemorrhages.
2. Law Enforcement is involved.

3. Mother wishes organ donation.

Rebeca Piantini, MD
Division of Forensic Pediatrics

RP/ale/5-14
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PATKINS, ERIC 015543250000 HISTORY AND PHYSICAL 07950

D:04/28/2001 T:04/30/2001 #431795

DATE OF ADMISSION: 04/29/2001

HISTORY OF THE PRESENT ILLNESS: This is a 6-month-old boy who
reportedly fell down the stairs after his father tripped over a dog. He
was transferred from Riverside. He was intubated at Riverside after
showing decerebrate and decorticate posturing. The patient was
beginhing to have seizures and was given phenobarbital and Dilantin. A
'CcT scan was done that showed evidence of an intracranial injury and the
patient was transferred here for further evaluation.

REVIEW OF SYSTEMS: NEUROLOGICAL: Mo known previous focal weakness Or
seizures. CARDIOVASCULAR: No hypertension or arrhythmia. RESPIRATORY:
No dyspnea OF cough. GI: No vomiting or diarrhea. The remainder of
the review of systems is negative as far as is known.

pPAST MEDICAL HISTORY: Negative.

PAST SURGICAL HISTORY: Negative.

MEDICATIONS: None.

ALLERGIES: NONE KNOWN.

SOCIAL HISTORY: Unknown at this point.

PHYSICAL EXAMINATION:

VITAL SIGNS: Temperature 1s 98.4, blood pressure 120/74,
heart rate 100 and weight is 7.2 kg .
HEENT: - Normocephalic. The fontanelles are closed.

Eyes, pupils are equal, round and reactive to
light. The EOMs are intact. No scleral
icterus. Ears, the tympanic membranes are clear
pilaterally. No CSF otorrhea. No hemotympanum.
Face, no step offs or lacerations.

NECK: No masses or thyromegaly-

CHEST: Heart sounds are clear and equal bilaterally.
No chest wall deformity.

HEART: ) Regular rate and rhythm. No murmur. Normal
PMI .

EXTREMITIES: The patient moves all 4 extremities bilaterally.

Apparently normal sensation in all 4
extremities.

ABDOMEN: gsoft. No distension. No evidence of
tenderness. Intact bowel sounds.

PELVIS: Stable.

EXTREMITIES: Lower extremities, no edema and no deformity.

Losia LiNDA UNIVERSITY MEDICAL CENTER
AND CHILDREN'S HOSPITAL

HISTORY and PHYSICAL
FD BY: padikuon DATE 09/




Upper extremities: no edema and no deformity-
RECTAL: No tenderness or blood.
SKIN: No petechiae or rashes.

DIAGNOSTIC pAaTA: The hemoglobin is 10.1, white plood cell count 14.5
thousand. The cervical spine g-ray showed no evidence of fracture oI
dislocation on preliminary reading- The chest wx—-ray was normal with no
pneumothorax or rib fractures on preliminary evaluation. The CT scan of
the head showed a small right epidural hematoma and a left parietal
skull fracture- There was evidence of an old left subdural hematoma and

left parietal skull fracture.

ASSESSMENT AND PLAN:
This is a ¢-month-old poy with a concern for & non accidental t rauma

with old and new intracranial injuries- Bilateral skull fractures-
Right epidural hematoma - old left supbdural hematoma - Left
porencephaly. There is No evidence of an intraabdominal injuryr but
during the apdominal ¢cT scan the patient became unstable due to
increased'intracranial pressure- Will plan for a Neurosurgery
consultation and admission to the Intensive Care Unit. Abdominal/pelvis
cr if he 1is clinically stable- Cornsult with the child Abuse and
Neglect Team. Formal review of the spinal x-ray with the'Pediatric
radiologist.

GERALD GOLLIN, M.D. x/72
ATTENDING PHYSICIAN

pPri:01
Authenticated by Gerald Gollin, M.D. On 05—22—2001 at 7:48 am
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PATKINS, ERIC
D:O4/29/2001

DATE OF SURGERY:

OPERATING SURGEON:

FIRST ASSTISTANT:

TEACHING ASSTSTANT:

POSTOPERATIVE DIAGNOSIS:

OPERATION PERFORMED:

ANESTHESIA:

OP/PROCEDURE REPORTS NOK’R0D

T:04/30/2001 #432083
04/29/2001
COLLINS, M.D-

SARCAPANO, M.D.
LTFSHUTZ, M.D.

JOHN J.
MANUEL R-
JASON T.
Intracranial hypertension.

placement of lumbar drain.

Local .

FINDINGS: Opening pressure of 27.

PROCEDURE IN

the patient was Eric Patkinsy
lateral recumbent position and

DETAIL: After obtaining informed consent and identifying

placed in the right
in the

the patient wWas
sterilely prepped and draped

standard surgical fashion over the L2-L3 ifumbar space-

After identifying proper landmarks,
and clear CSF was
with the assistance
withdrawn after the needle was
After connecting the tube LO the drain,

position,
the needle

continue to flow.
however,

decided LO perform the procedure

Therefore,

placed into the same position.
again was threaded through the needle.
to be aspirated.
position using Tegaderms.

the drain, CSEF was able

secured into

The patient's intracraniai presc
dripping with CSF.

lumbar drain was

ESTIMATED BLOOD 1,085
COMPLICATIONS: None.

MANUEL R.

pri:02
Authenticated by

Ry

Uy
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that the catheter nNo longer wWas patent.

the catheter tube was withdrawn,

SACAPANO, M.D.

John J.

Loy Lvpa U \TVERSITY MEDICAL CENTER
AND CHILDREN'S HosPITAL

OPERATIVE REPORT

a needle was gently placed into
identified. A catheter was placed through
of a guide wire, and the guide wire was
withdrawn. Clear CSEF was confirmed TO
it was found,
AL this time, 1t was

again.

and a needle was once again
identified, and the catheter once
At this rime, after connecting to
Thereforey the drain was

CSF was

are went From &7 U the 1low 5os. and he

L.ess than 2 ccC-

(WY /2 JOHN J. COLLINS, M.D.
OPERATING SURGEON
Collins, M.D- on 05-15-2001 at 12:15 pm
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PATKINS, ERIC . 015543250002 EMERGENCY DEPT H&P 00580

D:04/258/2001 T:04/29/2001 #432058
DATE OF VISIT: 04/28/2001
IDENTIFICATION: This 1s a g—month-old Caucasian male.

CHIEF COMPLAINT: The child was dropped on a set of stairs per the
father.

HISTORY OF PRESENT ILLNESS: The patient presents with a history of
being transferred by the Pediatric Intensive Unit Transport Team from an
outside facility for head trauma. The patient arrived from the
referring facilityrs intubated and sedated, no paralytics apparently on
board.

History from the referring facility available, please see€ accompanying
history as there are no parents at this time to take history from.

REVIEW OF SYSTEMS: Negative, except as above.
PAST MEDICAL HISTORY: Unknown.
ALLERGIES: UNKNOWN.

MEDICATIONS GIVEN: The patient received Versed, Norcuron, Dilantin and
phenobarbital prior to arrival in our Emergency Department along with
1 mg of Valium.

PHYSICAL EXAMINATION: GENERAL: The patient is sedated and intubated.
There is response to pain on examination. The patient has a firm
anterior fontanele. Pupils are 3 to 2 pilaterally. Glasgow Coma Scale
is 8. HEENT: TMs are clear bilaterally-. HEART: Regular rate and
rhythm. No murmur. LUNGS: Clear to auscultation pilaterally.
ARDOMEN: Benign. EXTREMITIES: Warm with brisk capillary refill.

EMERGENCY DEPARTMENT COURSE: The patient arrived as a level B
activation and Trauma Surgery was at the bedside. Neurosurgery was
called to the bedside and to examine the patient and was able to obtain
an exam and recommended a CT of the head for evaluation of the patient's
intracranial injuries.

Reports from the referring facility were of intracranial hemorrhage on

CT. The patient was placed on cardiac monitor as well as blood pressure
and pulse oximetry. The patient had a Foley and an NG placed and was
placed with seizure precautions as well as spine precautions. A CBC,

electrolytes, amylase, lipase and a UDS were obtained as well as the
aforementioned CT of the head, abdomen and pelvis being performed at the
recommendation of Trauma Surgery for the abdomen and pelvis.

Losa LiNna UNIVERSITY MEDICAL CENTER
AND GHILDREN'S HOSPITAL

3 EMERGENCY DEPARTMENT
Slep BHSTORVand PHYBKEH. 09/




e

' wWhile in the Emergency Department and due to the nature of the injuries,
a bolt was placed by Neurosurgery. please see accompanyind Neurosurgery
consult. Initial pressures were approximately 45, at one point during
his stay in the Emergency Department, the patient had an increase in
intracranial pressure to 90 at which time with Dr. Collins, the
attending neurosurgeon present and en route to repeat CT, thiopental

8 mg/kg was given as the recommended dose per the pharmacist working
today. The patient was also given mannitol 7 gram. During this time,
the patient was also being hyperventilated.

prior to this episode an x-ray of the pilateral femurs, a single-—view
was obtained due to the history of reported significant old fractures
pilaterally- Review of the w-rays by myself, a1though, not complete
films in their naturey, showed no obvious fractures.

From the second CT, the patient was taken immediately to the Pediatric
IcU for placement of ventriculostony due to increasing hydrocephalus.

CLINICAL IMPRESSIONS:

1. Closed head injury-.

2. Intracranial hemorrhage.
3. Cerebral edema.

PLAN: The patient is to be admitted to the pediatric Intensive Care
Unit under the care of the attending Intensivists as well as

{ Dr. Collins, Pediatric neurosurgeon. Ultimate care and disposition of
the patient in the hands in these physicians. Currently laboratory
studies are pending and abdomen and pelvis CT were not able to be
obtained at this time due to the patient's critical nature.

D. SHELTON CHAPMAN, M.D. /rl2
ATTENDING PHYSICIAN

i Pri:07
Authenticated by D- Shelton Chapmanh, M.D. On 05-03-2001 at 4:34 am

Lo LiNoa UNIVERSITY MEDICAL CENTER
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Frank Sheridan, M.D.~
Chief Medical Examiner
175 South Lena Road : Nenita Duazo, M.D., Deputy M.E.

Bernardino, CA 92415-0037 . . Edward Yaeger, M.D., Deputy M.E.
San Bet (909) 387-2561 Brian McCormick Steven Trenkle, M.D., Deputy M.E.

Division of Medical Examiner

San Bernardino County Coroner

Autopsy Protocol
Coroner's Case Number: 01-3075GM Autopsy Number: A-230-01
D.O.B. 10/25/00
Name: Eric Patkins Age: 6 months, 6 days Sex: Male
Time of Death:  Reported 0745 hours, May 1, 2001 Race: Caucasian
Time of Atopsy: 1000 hours, May 2, 2001
Place of Autopsy: San Bernardino County Coroner's Facility Deputy: Miller

HISTORY OF DEATH: According to the deputy coroner investigator’s report, from information
received from hospital and SCOPC personnel, this 6 month, 6 day old resident of Riverside was
admitted to Loma Linda University Medical Center on April 28, 2001, at 1030 hours, with a
diagnosis of traumatic brain injuries. The baby lived with his father and mother at home in
Riverside. The parents are not married.

On April 28, 2001, the father stated that at about 0530 hours he was carrying the baby up some 3
stairs and tripped over a dog. He dropped the baby who landed on his head on a carpeted step of
the stairway. The father became concerned and finally called his wife who works as a registered
nurse at San Antonio Community Hospital in Upland. The wife told the father to call 911. The
father called 911 at 0638 hours to report the baby was acting strangely.

When paramedics arrived at 0646 hours, they found the baby on the father’s bed crying. The
baby seemed aware of his surroundings and there was no visible trauma. They arrived at
Riverside Community Hospital at 0715 hours. In the emergency room, the baby began having
difficulty breathing and was intubated. A CT scan of the head revealed cerebral edema, as well
as old and new injuries. The baby was transferred to Loma Linda University Medical Center,
arriving on April 28, 2001, at 1030 hours. He was still moving his extremities at that time.
Another CT scan was done at Loma Linda University Medical Center, which also showed old
and new injuries.

An intracranial pressure monitor was placed and sedatives were administered.  An
ophthalmologist examined the baby and found severe bilateral retinal hemorrhage, consistent
with traumatic brain injury. The baby’s neurologic status deteriorated with persistent cerebral

edema leading to brain death. The second brain death pronouncement was on May 1, 2001, at
0745 hours.

Reportedly. Riverside police detectives stated that the 36-year-old father has a history of
conviction for a shaken baby death in 1993. He was released from prison with less than 5 years
served. He is currently living with a girlfriend who is the mother of Eric. The father has been
arrested in regards to this incident.

The father reportedly told police that Eric had previously fallen off of the bed twice. landing on 793, (¢
the carpeted floor.
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Family has given consent to multiple organ donation procedures and 1, the undersigned, also
gave permission. I, the undersigned, attended the organ Jonation procedures, examined the baby
prior 10 Surgery and visualized the organs when removed.

Medical records are reviewed. The Riverside paramedics’ run sheets stated they arrived on scene
at 0646 hours and found the baby lying supine on the father’s bed. The baby was alert and
crying. According to the father, there was no loss of consciousness. The father stated there was

an approx1mately 18 inch fall to stairs. The dad was holding the baby while going upstairs.

An emergency room record from Riverside Community Hospital states the father was walking
down the stairs when he tripped over 2 dog and dropped the baby. He thought the baby hit the
stairs, which were carpeted. The time frame was unclear. The father denies any previous
significant injuries. Physical examination showed a baby that was posturing, with a stiff left leg
and rhythmic kicking of the right leg and hyperextension of both arms, with a high pitch €ry.
The eyes were deviated to the right, they were 5 mm., and poorly reactive. NO obvious bruising
was seen. Lateral C-spine and chest, pelvis and abdomen radiographs appeared negative to the
emergency room physician’s review. A CT scan showed abnormalities including fresh epidural,
bilateral skull fractures, possible old chronic subdural blood and other chronic changes
suggestive of repetitive injuries. The child was given phenobarbita\ and Dilantin and
arrangements Were made to transfer the baby to Loma Linda University Medical Center. The
impression was closed head injury with evidence of epidural, acute and chronic injuries, bilateral
skull fractures, and suspicion of child abuse.

The white count was 19,000, hemoglobin 10.4, and hematocrit 29.1. The platelets were 433,000.
A urinalysis showed a specific gravity of1.0to0 5.

The dictated report from the CT scan at Riverside Community Hospital gave an impression of a
small right temporal epidural hematoma, bilateral non-depressed skull fractures, subarachnoid
blood noted along posterior falx and tentorium, small left fronto-temporal subdural hygroma, & 2
cm. x 1 cm. porencephalic density in the left frontal lobe containing a small amount of blood,
irregular zones of diminished density in the cerebral and cerebellar hemispheres bilaterally,
consistent with edema. DO midline shift with small but not completely effaced ventricles. sulct,

fissures and cisterns. The multiplicty and character of these various abnormalities certainly
raises the possibility of repeated episodes of head trauma.

A radiologist’s impression of x-rays of the legs was periostea\ reaction in the femoral shafts
bilaterally, suggestive of prior trauma. A chest x-ray was felt to be normal.

The Loma Linda University Medical Center transport team history states that the baby had rolled
off of the bed a few times in the past. Mom states pediatrician saw baby after these incidences.
Immunizations reportedly up to date. The mother is aged 41, father 36. When transport team
arrived, they noted the baby was both decerebrate and decorticate posturing with diffuse
hyperreflexia. The initial emergency room examination stated the fontanelle was closed. There

was no external injuries described or deformities. The pupils were 3 mm. to 2 mn. The initial
pH was 74.

A social worker note dated April 28, 2001, states that the father has two other sODS. aged 11 and
9 years old that live in Towa. The patient’s mother was at work and the patient was under the

care of the father. The mother denied any other accidents ot falls. except baby rolled oft of the
bed a couple of times. A hospital physician’s note dated April 28. 2001. states the urine

toxicology 18 negative. 1he PT was 14.6 and PTT 23.5 (these ar€ normal values). A physician’s

consult from the Child Abuse and Neglect Team was conducted at 2230 hours on April 28. 2001.

F’Y[D, LA.
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The exam showed a head circumference of 45 cm. and a length of 70.5 cm. The baby was
intubated, sedated, with a bolt in the right frontal area. The pupils were fixed. There were small
abrasions noted around the nares. The mouth showed dried cracked lips. The upper and lower
frenula were intact. The genitalia and anus appeared normal. Impression was closed head injury,

bilateral skull fractures, and retinal hemorrhages, trauma consistent with abusive injury.

A physician’s note dated April 30, 2001 states a head CT showed global ischemic changes. A
pediatric neurology consult done April 30, 2001 confirmed the above history. Ophthalmic exam
revealed bilateral retinal hemorrhages.

Pediatric cardiology consult on May 1, 2001 included a normal EKG and normal echocardiogram
with normal anatomy and function. No evidence of cardiac compromise. An ophthalmology
exam dated April 30, 2001 noted severe bilateral retinal hemorrhages with right preretinal heme,
optic disk edema of right eye, and many white centered hemorrhages. A pediatric neurology
examination on April 30 was consistent with brain death. A cerebral blow flow study on May 1,
2001 showed no cerebral blood flow. Second brain death pronouncement Wwas on May 1,2001.

The Riverside police report is reviewed. According 10 the report, the father stated he had been
the only one present with the baby at the time of the injury. The father said he tripped over their
dog while carrying the baby up the stairs. When he fell, the baby fell out of his arms and his
head struck the stairs. The father first called the baby’s mother and then called 911. Detectives
drove the father back to the residence. The father stated that he and the wife slept in the master
bedroom while the baby had his own room across the haliway. The baby had been sleeping
through the night for the past few weeks, although would wake up in the night approximately
once a week. On the morning of April 28, 2001, the baby and the father got up sometime
between 5:30 a.m. and 6:00 a.m. The father wrapped the baby in a blanket and carried him
downstairs. When they got to the bottom of the stairs, he realized the baby’s diaper needed to be
changed so he turned around to g0 Up- At that point, the dog got in the way and caused the father
to trip on the first step. The father was carrying the baby in his left arm sO that the baby faced e«v 3,
the father’s shoulder, tried to catch himself but fell onto the stairs. As he fell, “'the baby shot
right out of my arms into the steps . according to the father. The father said the baby struck the
carpeted portion of the fourth or fifth step from the bottom. The baby did not strike the wood
banister or metal railing. The father could not remember i he fell on top of the baby. The baby
seemed shocked immediately after the fall. The father picked him up and took him upstairs. The
baby began to cry in a “shocked cry”. The father stated. “1 didn’t know what to do. I was
scared”. He put the baby on the bed in the master bedroom. He realized one side of the baby’s
body had “*frozen up” and the baby was definitely favoring one side. The tather said, “I thought
he broke his little neck”. He was unsure what to do, but after about 10-13 minutes, he called the ¢
baby’s mother at her work. He told the mother that there had been an accident and the mother
told him to call 911 The father then called 911 and told them to send someone OVEr. ~My baby

is hurting™

When asked if the baby had been hurt before, the father said “He, he had a couple of accidents. 27!
One with me where he fell off of the bed close to 3 weeks. maybe | month ago. He pets t0 #y
moving around and the next thing I know he is between the bed and the cabinet there. 1 guess
previously a couple weeks before it happened with her, “the mother™. The father described the
baby as an active body who did not crawl but rolled and “glams” things down with his hands. He

can sit up on his own but will fall over if distracted.

When asked if he ever geis frustrated when he can't stop the baby crving. the father began to
stutter his answer. When-asked if he had ever shaken the baby. the father said no. not after he
understood “the Shaken Baby Syndrome”. He has heard of that from pamphlets brought home
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by the mother and from “just knowing from the past”. At this point, it was found that the father
had shaken his oldest son, now 7 years old, in the past. He had been arrested, charged and
convicted of child cruelty. This took place in Upland, California. The father spent “about 4
years of my life in prison” for this attempt and was released in 1996. After his release, he and
the child’s mother got back together and had another child who is now 3 years old. The mother
of those two children moved to Towa. The father said that this was «a1l done and cleared” and
that he is received counseling for the incident.

Medical records from a private pediatrician are evaluated. Thereis a visit dated October 1, 2000,
aged 7 days, 1 week visit. The birth weight was 10 pounds and 10 ounces and a birth length of
21-1/2 inches. Exam showed a healthy child. There is a visit dated January 5, 2001, at aged 2-
1/4 months — the baby continued to be breastfed. There was an abrasion noted to nose 2 days
ago, rubbing on terry cloth with rough texture. There was a healing dry abrasion on the nose.

There is él;u-)-ther visit dated March 8, 2001, at 4-1/4 months, 4 month check-up. It was noted the
baby sleeps 8:00 p.m. to 5:00 a.m., occasionally up at 12 midnight for feeding. The mother

describes laughs, plays with hands, lifts head in prone position. Physical examination is normal.

None of the records reviewed from the pediatrician recorded a visit for evaluation of falling off
the bed. -

Birth records show the baby was born October 25, 2000, expected date of confinement October
11, 2000. The mother was gravida 1, para 0. Labor lasted 13 hours and 38 minutes. Only labor
complication was bleeding. Forceps were used. It was a vaginal delivery. Apgar scores were 8
at 1 minute, 9 at 5 minutes. There was 10 cc. of thick, green material suctioned. The weight was
10 pounds, 10 ounces (4830 grams); the length was 1.5 inches, head circumference 14 inches.
chest circumference 14.5 inches. Diagnosis was term, large for gestational age, newborn male
infant. Mom 41, gravida 1, para 1. None of these records indicate a visit for falling off bed.

Also refer to Coroner’s Investigative Report #01-3075GM.
2100 hours — May 1, 2001

The baby, identified as Eric Patkins, (hospital #01554325) was examined in the operating room
by the undersigned prior to prepping for the organ donation Surgery. The following therapeutic
appliances are present. There is an endotracheal tube secured to the mouth. There is 2
nasogastric tube in the left nostril. There is an intracranial bolt in the right frontal portion of the
scalp. There is a pulse oximeter on the right great toe. There is a drain in the left mid parietal
scalp, and there are multiport intravenous [ines in both right and left groin. There is also a drain

in the lower spine.

There is no overt external trauma on the scalp or face. There is diffuse edema of the soft tissues

of the face. The chest and abdomen appear symmetric, warm and pink. There is no evidence of

injury such as subcutaneous hemorrhage. The upper and lower extremities are symmetric
without overt swelling, hemorrhage or evidence of injury. The back is not fully examined prior
to surgery. buta brief examination as both shoulders are turned show no acute injuries.

Intraoperative observations reveal no apparent injury to the anterior chest or abdominal wall.
There is no hemorrhage within the peritoneal cavity. The liver appears intact without injury and.
in particular. no midline areas of hemorrhage or injury.

Ft?,lO'IA
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The thymus appears of normal size and shape for an infant of this size and age. There are no
apparent contusions, areas of hemorrhage or injury.

[ntraoperative discussions with both the heart recovery team and the abdominal organ recovery
teamn confirmed they found no injury in the chest or abdominal walls, the pericardial sac, thymus,
great arch vessels or any intraperitoneal organs.

EXTERNAL EXAMINATION: This.is the nude body of a well-developed and well-nourished
young male infant appearing consistent with the stated age of 6 months. The body is identified
by a coroner’s tag as “Eric Patkins”, case “01-307 5”. The body is not embalmed.

Clothing:

The clothing.has been removed.

Evidence of Medical Intervention:

There are bilateral intravenous lines in both right and left femoral areas. There is a catheter in
the bladder. There is an endotracheal tube taped to the mouth. Thereis a nasogastric tube in the
left nostril. There is an intracranial pressure bolt monitor in the right frontal area and an
intracranial drain in the left mid parietal area. There is a sutured incision in the left frontal area.
There is a sutured organ donation incision from the sternal notch down to the symphysis pubis.
There is a drain in the mid lower back, apparently at the epidural or subdural space. There are

multiple EKG monitor pads. 7%

Measurements:

The following measurements are taken: the length is 70 cm. (27-1/2 inches) (75" percentile for
age), the weight is 7.365 kilograms (just above 25" percentile for age), head circumference 45.5
cm., chest circumference 42 cm., crown/rump length 47 cm.

Radiograghs:

Multiple radiographs are obtained. A lateral radiograph of the skull shows at least one parietal
fracture. Anterior-posterior radiographs of the chest show no evidence of bone deformity.
Anterior-posterior radiographs of the long bones of the upper extremities show no fractures or
periosteal injuries. Anterior-posterior radiographs of the long bones of the lower extremities
show bilateral asymmetric periosteal reaction that appears more prominent on the right side.

rré
Examination:

The head shows diffuse edema of the scalp, as well as the face, eyelids, mouth and lips. There is
no definite injury. Thereisa 1 cm. sutured incision in the left frontal scalp that is centered 6 cm.
above the mid left eyebrow and 2 cm. to the left of the anterior midline of the head. There1s a
drain in the top left parietal portion of the head. This is 2 cm. left of the anterior midline and 9
cm. behind the level of the left eyebrow. The ears appear normally formed and situated. There 1s
diffuse edema of the eyelids and moderate edema of the sclerae. The sclerae are white. There
are no petechial or confluent hemorrhages. The nose is midline. The nares are patent. There 1s
no intraoral injury. There is moderate edema of the lips. The frenula of the upper and lower lips..
are intact. There are no erupted teeth. ‘ '
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The chest and abdomen are symmetric without acute injury. The abdomen is somewhat scaphoid
following the organ donation procedures. The external genitalia are normal male. The penis is
circumcised. There is no evidence of injury.

The upper extremities are symmetric. The right upper extremity is well formed and muscled
without fracture deformity. There is minimal hemorrhage in the antecubital fossa and the back of
the right hand, consistent with therapeutic maneuvers. The digits of the right hand are intact
without apparent injury.

The left upper extremity is well formed and muscled without evidence of acute injury. There is
hemorrhage in the antecubital fossa and over the radial artery in the left wrist, consistent with
therapeutic maneuvers. There is moderate edema of the soft tissue of the hand.

The lower. extremities are symmetric. The right lower extremity appears well formed and
muscled without fracture deformity.

The back shows no evidence of injury. There is no unusual dermal pigmentation or skin tufts.
There is a catheter in the midline of the back, 9 cm. above the upper gluteal cleft. &7

INTERNAL EXAMINATION: . !

HEAD: When the scalp is reflected, there is minimal focal scalp and subgaleal hemorrhage at the
site of the surgical procedures where the intracranial drain and the pressure bolt were placed. In
the midline top of the mid parietal skull is an approximately 3.5 cm. X 2 cm. area of red
hemorrhage extending into the subgalea. There is no associated visible contusion in the skin
- overlying this_area, and there is no periosteal hemorrhage adjacent 10 the area of scalp

hemorrhage. Extended anterior reflection and deep posterior occipital reflection of the scalp
does not reveal any further areas of injury.

- The skull shows separation of the coronal lambdoid and sagittal sutures. When the dura is
reflected, there is a healing, older fracture of the mid left parietal bone. The fracture is situated at
a 90-degree angle to the sagittal suture and is not well seen from the external table of the skull
until all of the periosteum has been removed. On the inner table of the skull. the left parietal old
fracture is seen as an area of fixed dural attachments extending for approximately 5 cm. in
length. This fracture line overlies the area of old contusion and subdural hemorrhage in the mid
left superior parietal lobe. No definite fractures can be seen in the right temporal bone, although

there is moderate laxity of the sutures.

Because of marked cerebral edema and tight adherence of the dura to the inner table of the skull,
brain extraction is undertaken with difficulty. Markedly softened brain 00ZeS from the cut
portions of the dura. No definite epidural hemorrhage is appreciated as the brain and skullcap are
removed. After the brain and dura have been s€ ted from the skull and the dural membrane is
reflected, there is approximately 10-15 cc. of Elggd,ar&uwn the subdural space on the
inner aspect of the mid right cerebral hemisphere, with much of the blood clot present in the
interhemispheric fissure but extending up and over the superior midline convexity. The blood
and blood clot are adherent to the inner dural membrane in an approximately 6 cm. X 3 cm. area.
There is extensive subarachnoid hemorrhage over the entire left cerebral hemisphere, present
both over the superior convexities and on the lateral and inferior portions of the left frontal and
temporal lobes. This subarachnoid hemorrhage is patchy in areas. Over the left cerebral
hemisphere, there is a very thin layer of subdural blood. but no clot or organized blood
comparable to that seen in the right side. There is approximately 3 cc. of subdural hemorrhage

on the inferior base of the right temporal bone, adherent to the dura in an approximately 3 em. X
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4 cm. area. There is a smaller 2-3 cC. portion of subdural hemorrhage minimally over the inferior
left tgmpqr,allobe;' There is marked edema and softening of the cerebellar hemispheres and
upper brainstem SO that as the brain is removed, this portion of the brain is quite friable and
literally falls apart during gentle removal of the brain.

After the dura is removed, there is an approximately 3 cm. X 2 cm. area of older br(_)wnish, firm,
organizing subdural hemorrhage OVer the left midline anterior parietal lobe adjacent to the
sagittal suture. When this area is incised, there is a thick, firm membrane associated with 1t.

The soft friable brain is not weighed.

After the dura is stripped from the base of the skull, there is a visible basilar(fight occipital bone
fracture line extending in a sagittal plane from the inferior occipital lobe suture, mi way between

the sinus.and the foramen magnum. When the scalp is reflected and the external table of the
occipital skull is examined, the fracture line can be seen. There 1s no associated grossly
identifiable hemorrhage in the associated posterior neck muscles.

The tip of the drain placed in the lower lumbar area 1S found at the level of the cervical cord. The
only hemorrhage seen in the region of the cord is at the lumbar insertion of this drain. The spinal

cord is removed through a posterior approach. There is no evidence of trauma. The only soft
tissue hemorrhage is at the sites of the surgical placement of the lower lumbar drain.

The eyes are removed through the orbital roof. There is no external hemorrhage in the globe of
the eyes or hemorrhage in the extraocular muscles. There is extensive hemorrhage in both right
and left optic nerve sheaths.

After formalin fixation, the brain is re-examined. There is diffuse patchy subarachnoid
hemorrhage still present, especially over the left cerebral hemisphere. When the brain is serially
sectioned through the coronal plane, there is poor penetration of the formalin with the central
areas of the brain remaining pink and soft. There is diffuse ischemic change bilaterally. The
area of old injury of the left parietal lobe shows thinning of the cortex with a golden brown
coloration of resolving hemorrhage. To a lesser degree there 1 2 golden brown coloration on the
superomedial mid right temporal lobe.

NECK: There is no hemorrhage or injury to the anterior muscles of the neck. The hyoid bone
and thyroid cartilage are intact. The endotracheal tube is adequately placed with the tip
approximately | cm. above the carina. There is no injury to the epiglottis or tracheal mucosa.

BODY CAVITIES: There is residual free blood in both chest and peritoneal cavities following
the organ donation procedures.

CARDIOVASCULAR SYSTEM: The pericardial sac is empty. The heart was removed in the
organ donation procedure.

RESPIRATORY TRACT: The right and left lungs are normally formed and lobated. The right
Jung weighs 59 grams (expected weight for length 69-80 grams). The left lung weighs 49 grams
(expected weight for length 57-65 grams). The proximal airways are patent. There is no foreign
material.  There is no evidence of injury or blood aspiration. Sectioning reveals a firm,
moderately well aerated parenchyma. There are no masses OT thromboemboli. There.are no -
definite areas of consolidation. -
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GASTROINTESTINAL TRACT: The esophagus 1s intact throughout. The stomach contains
approximately 50 cc. of a mixture of thin, green fluid and mucus. There is no particulate matter
or food. The gastric mucosa shows normal rugal folds. There are no focal lesions or ulcerations.
The pancreas and duodenum WerIE removed 1n the organ donation procedure. The remaining
small and large intestines are unremarkable. The unremarkable appendix arises from the cecum.
The intraluminal contents of the small and large intestines are normal. There are no strictures of

masses.
PANCREAS: The pancreas was removed in the organ donation procedure.
HEPATOBILIARY SYSTEM: The liver and gallbladder are surgically absent.

GENITOURINARY TRACT: The right and left kidneys and adrenals are surgically absent. The
distal ureters and bladder are unremarkable. The bladder is empty. The prostate is firm, light
tan-brown. Both testes show firm, pale tan-brown, seminiferous tubules.

ENDOCRINE SYSTEM: The thyroid is symmetric with light tan-brown colloid. The left and
right adrenals are surgically absent. The pituitary 1s unremarkable.

MUSCULOSKELETAL SYSTEM: There ar¢ skull fractures. as described above. Dissection of
the posterior soft tissues of the back, buttocks and legs show no areas of acute or chronic injuries
or hemorrhage. Both femurs are dissected down to the periosteum. No acute hemorrhage is
seen. When the posterior peritoneal and chest walls are reviewed, there 1s focal hemorrhage
adjacent to the posterior right ninth and tenth ribs behind the liver. suggesting possible fracture.

MICROSCOPIC EXAMINATION:

RESPIRATORY TRACT: Sections of lungs show focal pneumonia with atveoli filled with
combinations of neutrophils and macrophages. There are multifocal areas of consolidation.
Also, there is evidence of bronchitis with sections showing neutrophils within bronchi. Sections
of trachea show submucosal inflammation. These findings are consistent with the presence of an

endotracheal tube and survival in the Pediatric Intensive Care Unit for four days.

GASTROINTESTINAL TRACT: Sections of esophagus show minimal submucosal
inflammation. The stomach is unremarkable. Multiple sections of bowel are unremarkable,
other than some prominence of submucosal eosinophils.

MUSCULOSKELETAL SYSTEM: Sections of diaphragm are unremarkable. Sections of bone
marrow show 60-70% cellularity with normal hematopoiesis. There is minimal stress effect.

Sections of the healing left parietal skull fracture show a healing fracture site with chronic
fibrosis. lron stains ar¢ negative.

Sections from the hemorrhagic posterior right ninth rib show acute hemorrhage, as well as an
acute fracture site.

725, 14
Cross sections of the right femur taken from areas of x-ray periosteal reaction show a layer of
subperiosteal new bone formation consistent with previous inflicted trauma.

GENITOURINARY TRACT: Sections of bladder show submucosal inflammation and focal
Subn}ucosal hemorrhage. -consistent with the presence of a bladder catheter for several days.
Sections of testes are unremarkable.
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GENITOURINARY TRACT: Sections of bladder show submucosal inflammation and focal
submucosal hemorrhage, consistent with the presence of a bladder catheter for several days.
Sections of testes are unremarkable.

ENDOCRINE SYSTEM: Sections of thyroid are unremarkable. Sections of pituitary show focal
micronecrosis.

CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM: Multiple sections of central nervous system show diffuse
hypoxic changes with pink-stained neurons and cerebral edema. Sections of cerebellum show
extensive hemorrhage. Gections of the dura from the left side show acute hemorrhage. There ar€
hemosiderin-laden macrophages seen on iron stain. Sections from the subdural hemorrhage of
the right inferior temporal lobe show acute hemorrhage within the dural antemortem clots. Iron

stain 1s negative.

Sections of subdural hemorrhage from the region of the interhemispheric fistula show
antemortem hemorrhage with lines of Zahn. It is not adherent to the falx. Iron stain is negative,

Sections from the older left parietal lobe injury show extensive gliosis and many hemosiderin-
laden macrophages. Iron stain is markedly positive. Sections from the right parietal lobe

opposite to the g_rossly evident left parietal lobe injury also shows an *extensive cortical
hemorrhage, gliosis and many hemosiderin-laden macrophages of the iron stain. Sections of
frontal cortex show superficial subarachnoid hemorrhage and edema. Sections from the lower

spinal cord show hemorrhage into the dura with a few scattered hemosiderin-laden macrophages.

Sections of both eyes show r_nultifocal areas of subretinal hemorrhage and marked perioptic nerve
sheath hemorrhage. Iron stains of both eyes, including retina and optic nerves. aré negative.
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DIAGNOSIS: 1. Abusive head trauma.

A. History of fall from father’s arm
explain severity of injuries.

s to carpeted stairs insufficient to

1. Delay in calling for emergency services. #;2, ¢4
2. Father has history of previous conviction for Shaken Infant
Syndrome, per Riverside police investigation.

Right subdural hematoma.

—TQ mmUaw

Right inferior occipital skull fracture, recent.

Bilateral basilar temporal lobe subdural hematomas.
Extensive left cerebral hemisphere subarachnoid hemorrhage.
Extensive bilateral cerebral edema.

1. Diffuse spreading of cranial sutures.
Bilateral extensive retinal hemorrhage (clinical and histopathologic).
Marked bilateral optic nerve sheath hemorrhage.

Survival in Intensive Care Unit for several days on respirator.

1.  Mucosal inflammation of trachea.

2. Bilateral pneumonitis.
II. Acute fracture, posterior right nir
1. Inflicted injury, right femurremote

h 11b.

A. Subperiosteal new bone\formafion. /75 ¢ ’
IV. Blunt force head injury, unexpiained, remote.
A. Superior left parietal bone fracture, remote.
B. Left superior bilateral mid pari¢tal cerebral contusions, remote.

C. Left subdural hematomaj, remofje.

V. Status post organ donation procegyre including:

A. Heart.

B. Liver. .
C. Kidneys.
D. Pancreas.
E.

F.

organ donation procedure.

CAUSE OF DEATH: Abusive head trauma. days.

WITNESSES PRESENT: Deputy D.A. Hughes, Deputy D

No evidence of traumatic injuries or dysfunctions of above organs.
No evidence of intrapleural or intraperitoneal injuries seen at time of

A. Sara L. Danville, Deputy D.A.

George Masson, Deputy D.A. Robert A. Spira (Riverside District Attorney’s Office), Detective

Tim Ellis, Riverside Police Department.

Autopsy Completed 1500 hours, May 2,2001.

Rudi_

teven Trenkle, M.D.
Pathologist

Pate: _ q- ;'W
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skull: internal view of base

1 frontal bone 11 optic canal

2 lesser wing of sphenoid bone 12 foramen rotundum

3 greater wing of sphenoid bone 13 foramen ovale

4 sella turcica 14 foramen spinosum

5 occipital bone 15 internal acoustic meatus
6 foramen magnum 16 jugular foramen

7 temporal bone 17 hypeglossal canal

8 petrous portion of temporal bore 18 foramen ovale
g cribriform plate of ethmoid bong 19 cavernous groove
10 frontal sinus




Coi;f.xt.y Cor €
ick, Coroner. g
T o

@*'&)\@W o

NUMBER 2L

inferior, and lateral views.
% ay No. f ] Zgo

Name gu L VQ & Ié_—! A 5 Coroner ‘s Case Na. D - Au y
ace Q Sex { l Date ___S_-ﬂ—"vz /0&




cerebral cortex l'r(_)n_lul .. ¢. of the frontal lobe of the cerebral hemisphere; H
orlglrlallly'. the entire cortical expanse anterior to the ccnlrzll‘\ul-
cus, including the agranular mator and premotor c. (Brodnim;n\
areas 1 and 6). the dysgranular c. (area 8). and the umnulu}
h‘gnl;ll (prefrontaly c. anterior to the latter; (2) now more often
refers to the granular frontal (prefrontal) ¢. sy~ frontal arca.

The cortex is made up of nerv
fibres, which are either medullated

of nanvaolin.

e-cells which vary in size and shape, and of nerve-
or naked axis-cylinders, embedded in a matrix

mator cortex .
primary
/

supplementary
somatosensory

motor contex s

=ydu-ra mat-er (do’rd ma'tér) [TAL Pachymeninx (as distin.
guished from leptomeninx, the combined pia mater and arach.
noid); a tough, fibrous membrane forming the outer covering of £5
the central nervous system, consisting of periosteal and meningea’ g i pasterior
dura layer and an inner part, the dural border cell layer, conting.
ous with the arachnoid parrier cell layer. See this page. SYN dur
[TAl pachymeninx [TA]. [L. hard mother, mistransl. of Ar. umn
al-jafivah, tough protector or covering]

arachnoid  arachnoid granutations

skin
premotar,
v

aponeurosis {epicranial)
cortex

bone

dura mater
{three layers)

arachrioid mater

i /,r—'—— pia mater
4 gray matter '
of cerebrum

— white matter
ot cerebrum

falx cerebri

Parietal Lobeé

dura mater: and associated structures of the scalp, skull, and meninges
(frontal section)

Tiits _ e "
Fissure of /BYe—=o

d. m. of brain, syn e

cranial d. m. [TA], the intracranial d. m., consisting of tw
layers: the outer periosteal laver that normally always adheres’
the periosteum of the bones of the cranial vault; and the ino
meningeal layer that in most piaces is fused with the outer. Tl
two layers separate to accommodate meningeal vessels and lar
venous (dural) sinuses. The meningeal layer is also involved
the formation of the various dural folds, such as the falx ceret gl
and tentorium cerebelli and is comparable to and continuous Wi =
the dural mater of the spinal cord. The cranial epidural space

then an artifactual space between the bone and the combin

periosteum/periosteal layer of the d. m. realized only as a result
pathologic or traumatic processes and s neither continuous Wi
or comparable o the vertebral epidural space. SYN dura mal
cranialis [TA], d. m. encephali™, cerebral part of dura mat
d. m. of brain.
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THOMAS A. SCHWELLER, M.D.
DIPLOMATE: AMERICAN BOARD OF PSYCHIATRY & NEUROLOGY

1200 FOURTH AVENUE, SUITE 100
SAN DIEGO CA 92103
(619)291-2022

Gentlepersons: It has been my opportunity to review medical records concerning injuries
to Eric Patkins. This six month six day old boy was reported to have been dropped by his
father David Patkins-onto a carpeted step at 5:30 AM on 4/28/01. The fall was froma
height of 18 inches. Father observed an arm to freeze and was concerned that the child
had broken his neck. The father called paramedics and the child was noted at 6:46 AM to
be lying on a bed crying. At 7:15 AM at Riverside Hospital ER the child was having
trouble breathing and was intubated. ACT of the brain showed cerebral edema, a left
parietal skull fracture. At 10:30 AM the child was moving his extremities. A CT of the
brain reported a right sided epidural bleed and a small subarachnoid bleed. The child
eventually died from pressure on the life sustaining areas of the brainstem secondary to
increased intracranial pressure. At autopsy there is reported a small left fronto-temporal
subdural hygroma . There is also a report of periosteal reaction in the femoral shafts
suggesting prior trauma. The autopsy diagnosis was right inferior occipital skull
fracture,right subdural hematoma,bilateral basal temporal subdural, extensive left
cerebral subarachnoid hemorrhage,cerebral edema, spreading sutures, and bilateral retinal
hemorrhages.

The cause of death is consistent with a fall of 18 inches leading to skull fracture with
acute cerebral edema and retinal hemorrhages. This has been studied by Dr. John
Plunkett, a forensic pathologist from Minnesota.His study of 12 children with lucid
intervals followed by unconsciousness and death show that fatal brain injury may be the
resujt of a short-distance fall. Any sudden increase in intracranial pressure may cause
retingl hemorrhages and thus is not diagnostic of any specific mechanism of injury. What
pegds to be addressed is the accuracy of two diagnoses: 1) An old right femur fracture
with subpereosteal bone formation and 2) a remote left parietal skull fracture with a left
fronto-temporal hygroma. If these diagnoses are correct then they suggest a pattern of
injury at different times. A review by a pediatric radiologist would be able to confirm or
dispute this conclusion. The report of an acute fracture of the posterior right ninth rib
supports a backward fall as does a right inferior occipital skull fracture. A forensic
pathologist such as Dr. Plunkett who is famniliar with the potential brain injury from short
falls would be able to confirm the reliability of the «“old” left parietal skull fracture and
the “old” left parietal lobe gliosis that suggests a prior brain injury.

St il g



THOMAS A. SCHWELLER, M.D.
DIPLOMATE: AMERICAN BOARD OF PSYCHIATRY & NEUROLOGY

3200 FOURTH AVENUE, SUITE 100
SAN DIEGO, CA 92103
(619) 291-2022

May 28, 2004

Mr. David Patkins

73612 Salinas Valley Staie Prison A5-240
P. O. Box 1030

Soledad, California 93960-1030

Dear Mr. Patkins:

| received your letter dated May 9, 2004 concerning the details of your trial and its
relationship to my review of your case. Itis my understanding that this was a defense that
was made by a public defender. It has been my experience that these often are subject
to inadequate funds and inadequate experience in the process of trying to defend against
alleged child abuse.

Upon my review of the records, in the report provided to you, | suggested that consultations
be made, particularly with a pathologist who is familiar with the mechanics and details of
head injuries and can express the potential accidental nature of this particular injury. am
not certain at this pointin time why certain individual were not consulted and why | was not
asked to testify at trial. Again, this is often due to time constraints where an individual is
placed on trial and is expected to proceed despite having inadequate information and
experts available 10 present the point of view of the defendant. There has been a
significant overwhelming child advocacy system that is consulted by the prosecution and
often this provides inadequate information.

| have been in contact with a family in the San Diego area that has had a similar experience
several years ago and has published a website with information and experts for individuals
who have been wrongly accused of child abuse. ltis of great importance that individuals
who have been wrongly convicted of child abuse be in contact with experienced and
capable attorneys who know the controversies that have arisen in the prosecution of child
abuse.

The defender is Ken Marsh. The website is freekenmarsh.com. His attorney is Tracey
Emblem, 205 West Fifth Avenue, Suite 105, Escondido, CA 92025.



Mr. David Patkins
May 28, 2004 Page 2

It is my hope that you will receive some comfort and hope from this information.

;

Sincerely,

T b Al it

THOMAS A. SCHWELLER, M.D.
Board Certified Neurologist

TAS:ds
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Iﬁ CAT Scan Reports

Order # 04-221-11392 Exam date/time: 04/29/2001 18:34:51
Exam: Head /wo Contrast :

Radiology Report

ORDER: 2111392, EXAM: 2308670, .

CASE: 015543250002

VERIFIED RESULT

NONCONTRAST HEAD CT, April 29. 2001:
COMPARISON: Noncontrast head CT with April 28, 2001.

CLINICAL HISTORY: This is a six-month-old male with a history of severe NAT and
elevated intracranial pressure.

PROCEDURE: Utilizing the GE HiSpeed CT/i scanner, 3.0 mm slices at 7.0 mun
intervals were obtained through the posterior fossa followed by serial 7.0 mm
slices at 10.0 mm intervals through the remainder of the cranium to the vertex in
an EMI plane without injection of contrast material. Soft tissue and bone windows

were reviewed on PACS.

FINDINGS: This study is compared vith the previous head CT dated April 28, 2001.
There is stable position of a left frontal apptoach ventriculostomy tube which
terminates near midline, coursing through the left lateral ventricle. There is
significant metallic susceptibility artifact from a halo. Stable position is seen

of a right frontal intracranial pressure monitor bolt. A small focus of metallic

artifact is seen in the right foramen magnum as well as a small amount of
pneumocephalus in the foramen magnum which may be related to recent intervention.
This is not noted on the previous study. There is severe diffuse low density

change within the entire cerebellum with effacement of the fourth ventricle. The
basilar cisterns also are effaced. The lateral ventricles are nearly completely

effaced, smaller than on the prior study with hemorrhage layering in both occipital
horns. There is persistent right to left midline shift, which is estimated at at

least 12 mm. Diffuse areas of low density are seen in the entire right cerebral
hemisphere and also in the left parieto-occipital lobes. The previously-described
focus of hyperdense hemorrhage in the left frontoparietal area is again seen and
measures about 13 x 8 mm in dimension. There appears to be hemorrhage along the
tentorium, however this is difficult to evaluate due to artifact and severe low

density changes within the cerebrum and cerebellum. Other findings are essentially

unchanged.

IMPRESSION: Severely limited due to metallic streak artifacts. Stable position of
a left frontal approach ventriculostomy tube. Severe diffuse cerebral edema and
swelling of the cerebellum with upward transtentorial herniation. Low density
changes in the cerebral hemispheres and cerebellum is compatible with infarction
and/or edema. The ventricles appear collapsed. Small foreign body in the foramen

(909) 796-7311 Page:
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r CAT Scan Reports
Order # 04-221-11392 Exam date/time: 04/29/2001 18:34:51
Exam: Head /wo Contrast

magnum with a small amount of pneumocephalus may be related to recent procedure.
Please correlate clinically. Essentially stable appearance of the left

frontoparietal parenchymal hemorrhage. Worsening right to left midline shift since
the prior study. Other findings as previously described.

JRT/MRC72 05/01/2001  05/01/2001
Dictated By : BRONWYN HAMILTON MD

I Reviewed Images Personally and Agree With Interpretation.

Signed By : JOSEPH THOMPSON MD

s*»*% ond of result ****

Order # 04-221-11044 Exam date/time:
Exam: Head /wo Contrast

Radiology Report

ORDER: 2111044, EXAM: 2308171, .

CASE: 015543250002

VERIFIED RESULT

CT OF THEHEAD WITHOUT CONTRAST-04/28/01:

HISTORY: Six-month-old with increased intracranial pressure.

04/28/2001 17:13:38

PROCEDURE: Utilizing the GE HiSpeed scanner, multiple contiguous 5 mm axial images

were obtained and viewed on PACS in bone and soft tissue windows.
COMPARISON: Compared with CT of the head obtained earlier on 4/28/01.

FINDINGS: There is now a right frontal approach intracranial pressure monitor
bolt. There is a left frontal approach ventriculostomy catheter. The tip is near

the foramen of Monro. There is air and hemorrhage along the shunt tract. There is
redemonstration of the previously described confluent extensive hypodensities
throughout the entire right cerebral hemisphere and the left frontal and temporal
lobes as well as the posterior fossa. This is compatible with edema and/or
infarction and appears more sharply marginated suggesting interval maturation. The
gray white matter differentiation is poor throughout. There is a left frontal
intraparenchymal hemorrhage just lateral to the frortal horn of the left ventricle,

this appears new. There is redemonstration of the right parafalcine subdural
hematoma anteriorly which appears stable. The right frontotemporal subdural
hematoma also appears stable. There is increased density along the tentorium which
appears unchanged and there is intraventricular hemorrhage within the occipital
horn of the left lateral ventricle. The ventricles are smaller in size and the

(909) 796-7311 Page:
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CAT Scan Reports

Order # 04-221-11044 Exam date/time:
Exam: Head /wo Contrast

basal cisterns remain effaced.

IMPRESSION: Status post left frontal approach ventriculostomy placement with
decompression of the ventricles. There is air and hemorrhage along the shunt tract

and new intraparenchymal hemorrhage in the left frontal lobe. Persistent low

density consistent with extensive cerebral edema and/or infarction, bilateral

cerebellar hemispheres, right greater than left and cerebellum. Intraventricular
hemorrhage, right subdural hemorrhage, and right parafalcine hemorrhage. Downward
transtentorial herniation. NDW/MRC72 04/29/2001

04/30/2001

Dictated By : KEVIN KROEGER MD

I Reviewed Images Personally and Agree With Interpretation.
Signed By : NATHNIEL WYCLIFFE MD
***x* end of result ****

Order # 04-221-10969 Exam date/time:
Exam: Head /wo Contrast

Radiology Report

ORDER: 2110969, EXAM: 2308064, .

CASE: 015543250002

VERIFIED RESULT

CT OF THE HEAD WITHOUT CONTRAST-04/28/01:
HISTORY: Six-month-old with head trauma.
COMPARISON: None.

PROCEDURE: Utilizing the GE HiSpeed scanner, 5 mm contiguous axial images of the
head were obtained and viewed on PACS in bone and soft tissue windows.

FINDINGS: There is a left parietal skull fracture. There is a right frontal
approach intracranial pressure monitor bolt near the vertex. The gray white matter
differentiation is diminished throughout which probably represents diffuse cerebral
edema. There are large areas of hypodensity noted throughout the right cerebral
hemisphere including the frontal, parietal, temporal, and occipital lobes. This
confluent low density involves both the gray and white matter. There is also
involvement of the left occipital and parietal lobes as well as the inferior

frontal lobe on the left. There is diffuse hypodensity throughout the cerebellum.
There is intraventricular hemorrhage. There is a focus of hyperdensity in the left
frontal lobe probably within the sulcus. This may represent subarachnoid or

04/28/200117:13:38

04/28/2001 12:29:50
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ﬁ CAT Scan Reports
Order # 04-221-10969 Exam date/time: 04/28/2001 12:29:50
Exam: Head /wo Contrast

intraparenchymal hemorrhage. There is a small right subdural hemorrhage along the
right frontal convexity measuring 2 mm. Thereis increased density along the
tentorium which may represent subdural hemorrhage or subarachnoid hemorrhage.
There is a small right parafalcine subdural hemorrhage which is relatively well
localized anteriorly measuring S mm in width. There is hemorrhage within the left
Sylvian fissure. The basal cisterns are effaced. The lateral and third ventricles

are slightly dilated.

IMPRESSION: Extensive brain edema and/or infarction involving both cerebral
hemispheres, right greater than left and the posterior fossa. MRI with diffusion
imaging would be helpful for further evaluation. Intraventricular hemorrhage,
possible subarachnoid hemorrhage, and intraparenchymal hemorrhage right frontal
lobe. Small right frontal subdural hemorrhage. Small right parafalcine subdural
hemorrhage anteriorly. NDW/MRC72 04/29/2001 04/30/2001

Dictated By : KEVIN KROEGER MD

1 Reviewed Images Personally and Agree With Interpretation.
Signed By : NATHNIEL WYCLIFFE MD
s#x% end of result ****

Loma Linda University Medical Center Name: PATKINS, ERIC
Loma Linda University Children’s Hospital ':E/‘RNZ 31125533320002
H H H H H ncounter:
Loma Linda University Community Medical Center | jng. 10725/2000
11234 Anderson Street, Loma Linda, CA 92354 Physician:
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Diagnostic Radiology Reports

Order #: 04-221-12109 Exam date/time:
Exam: Bone Survey |l

Radiology Report

ORDER: 2112109, EXAM: 2309677, .
CASE: 015543250002

VERIFIED RESULT

April 30, 2001, BONE SURVEY:
HISTORY: Nonaccidental trauma.
COMPARISON: None.

FINDINGS: This exam consists of a AP and lateral view of the skull; AP and lateral
views of the chest, abdomen, and pelvis; single AP views of both arms: single AP
views of both hands; single AP views of both legs: and single AP views of both

feet.

There is a fracture in the posterosuperior region of the parietal bone seen on the
lateral view. There is periosteal reaction in the inferior region of the right
femoral shaft indicating probable underlying fracture. The remaining osseous
margins are well corticated without disruptions.

There is an endotracheal tube with the tip midway between the thoracic inlet and
the carina. There is an NG tube with the tip coiled in the stomach and then
extending into the third portion of the duodenum. There is a right femoral central
line with the tip extending to the level of the T9 vertebral body. Thereisa

shunt extending into the region of the left lateral ventricle.

IMPRESSION: Fracture of the posterior superior region of the parietal bone.
Periosteal reaction indicating probable fracture of the right femur. Numerous
lines and tubes as described. LWYMRC72  05/01/2001
05/02/2001

Dictated By : SHANE BALL MD

I Reviewed Images Personally and Agree With Interpretation.

Signed By : LIONEL YOUNG MD

*32* end of result ****

Order #: 04-221-12991 Exam date/time:
Exam: Chest 1V

Radiology Report

04/30/2001 18:16:09

05/01/2001 16:47:24
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I— Diagnostic Radiology Reports
Order #: 04-221-12991 Exam date/time: 05/01/2001 16:47:24
Exam: Chest 1V

ORDER: 2112991, EXAM: 2310909, .

CASE: 015543250002

VERIFIED RESULT

CHEST SINGLE VIEW ON MAY 1, 2001

HISTORY: Pneumonia.

COMPARISON: Chest single view dated April 20, 2001.

FINDINGS: This exam consists of a single portable supine frontal view of the
chest. There is an endotracheal tube with the tip 0.5 cm above the carina. There
is a nasogastric tube with the tip coiled in the stomach. There is a small amount
of contrast in the stomach. The heart size is within normal limits. There are

scattered patchy densities in the right upper lobe and left lower lobe. The sulci
are sharp. There is no pneumothorax.

IMPRESSION: Endatracheal tube and nasogastric tube in acceptable position.
Subsegmental atelectasis in the right upper and left lower lobes.
LWY/MRC72  05/02/2001 05/03/2001

Dictated By : SHANE BALL MD

I Reviewed Images Personally and Agree With Interpretation.

Signed By : LIONEL YOUNG MD

snex and of result ****
Drder #: 04-221-11023 Exam date/time:

i=xarn: Chest 1V

Radiology Report

ORDER: 2111023, EXAM: 2308147, .
CASE: 015543250002

VERIFIED RESULT

CHEST SINGLE VIEW 4/28/01
HISTORY: Line placement.

COMPARISON: None available.

04/28/2001 15:23:07

(909) 796-7311 Page. 6of 9

Loma Linda University Medical Center Name: PATKINS, ERIC
L.oma Linda University Children’s Hospital '[\_:ARNZ 8122:3320002
i : H H H ncounter:
Loma Linda University Community Medical Center DOB: 10/25/2000
117234 Anderson Street, Loma Linda, CA 92354 Physician:



Printed by: Adikuono, Pamela Ll 09/15/04 22:12

r Diagnostic Radiology Reports
Order #: 04-221-11023 Exam date/time. 04/28/2001 15:23.07
Exam: Chest 1V

FINDINGS: An AP supine film of the chest was obtained at 1520 hours. The
cardiothymic silhouette is somewhat prominent presumably related to supine
positioning of the patient. The lungs are well expanded and clear. There is an
endotracheal tube with the tip 8 mm above the carina. Thereisa nasogastric tube
which is coiled in the stomach and then probably extends through the gastric outlet
into the duodenum. There is a line projecting in the abdomen on the right,
presumably within the inferior vena cava with the tip at the level of T9-10. A
large amount of gas and fecal material is noted in the transverse colon.

IMPRESSION: Essentially normal study of the chest with tubes and a line prescnt as
described. IBK/MRC72 04/29/2001 05/01/2001
Dictated By: INGRID KJELLINMD

Signed By : INGRID KIJELLIN MD

*x** and of result ARk

Order #: 04-221-12755 Exam date/time:
Exam: Femur, Left
Radiology Report

ORDER: 2112755, EXAM: 2310343, .
CASE: 015543250002

VERIFIED RESULT

LEFT FEMUR:

HISTORY: NAT.

FINDINGS: Single view of the left femur demonstrates normal osseous and soft
tissue structures. There s no cortical irregularity or periosteal reaction.

IMPRESSION: Normal left femur without fracture.

LWY/MRC72 05/10/2001 05/10/2001
Dictated By : FRED SHU MD

1 Reviewed Images Personally and Agree With Interpretation.
Signed By : LIONEL YOUNG MD
#xx* end of result ****

05/01/2001 11:51:59

Order #: 04-221-12755 Exam date/time: 05/01/2001 11:51:44
Exam: Femur, Right
Loma Linda University Medical Center Name: PATKINS, ERIC
Loma Linda University Children’s Hospital "\EARN: . g’@?ﬁiioooz
. i . - R ncounter.
Loma Linda University Community Medical Center | ong. 10725/2000
11234 Anderson Street, Loma Linda, CA 92354 Physician:

(909) 796-7311 Page: 70f 9
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ri Diagnostic Radiology Reports

Order # 04-221-12755. Exam date/time: 05/01/2001 11:51:44
Exam: Femur, Right

Radiology Report

ORDER: 2112755, EXAM: 2310542, .
CASE: 015543250002

VERIFIED RESULT

RIGHT FEMUR-05/01/31:

HISTORY: NAT.

FINDINGS: Single AP view of the right femur demonstrates right periosteal new bone
formation along the lateral margin of the right femur. There is also cortical
buckling or irregu'arity along the distal retaghysis of the right femur.

IMPRESSION: Distal metaphyseal fra-tare of the right femur, probably subacute, with
evidence of periosteal new bone formation. LWY/MRC72

05/10/2001  05/10/2201

Dictated By : FRED SHU MO

[ Reviewed Tirozes Personally and Agree With interpretation.
Signed By : LiONEL YOUNG MD
sx+x end of result ****

Loma Linda University Medical Center Name: PATKINS, ERIC
Loma Linda University Children’s Hospital 'E\E/‘RNZ 1 812213220002
H H H H R ncounter:
Loma Linda University Community Medical Center | 5~q 10/25/2000
11234 Anderson Street, Loma Linda, CA 92354 Physician:
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r Nuclear Medicine Reports

Order #: 04-221-12135 Exam date/time: 04/30/2001 16:44:33
Exam: Brain Scan Vas Flow/CBF

Radiology Report

ORDER: 2112135, EXAM: 2309713, .
CASE: 015543250002
VERIFIED RESULT

HISTORY: Thisisa 6 month old male with history of possible non-accidental
trauma.

PROCEDURE: 15.84 mCi Tc99m was bolus injected IV.

FINDINGS: Serial anterior images of the cerebral blood flow were obtained for 60
seconds with immediate blood pool images.

FINDINGS: Abormal arterial and venus flow is seen. There is no evidence of
arterial or venous cerebral blood flow.

IMPRESSION: ABNORMAL CEREBRAL BLOOD FLOW CONSISTENT WITH ABSENT CEREBRAL BLOOD

FLOW.
Dictated By : BENJAMIN CHEN MD

I Reviewed Images Personally and Agrec With Interpretation.
Signed By : GERALD KIRK MD
xx#x end of result ****

Loma Linda University Medical Center
Loma Linda University Children’s Hospital
Loma Linda University Community Medical Center

11234 Anderson Street, Loma Linda, CA 92354
(909) 796-7311

A

:’"‘ 28 ¥
)Y

Bl DOB:
Physician.
Page:

PATKINS, ERIC
MRN: 01554325
Encounter: 015543250002

10/25/2000
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA
PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,
Plaintiff,

vs.

DAVID CHARLES PATKINS,

Defendant.

PRELIMINARY HEARING

BEFORE THE HONORABLE W. CHARLES MORGAN, JUDGE PRESIDING
DEPARTMENT 32

MARCH 22, 2002

APPEARANCES :

For the People: OFFICE OF THE DISTRICT ATTORNEY
BY: CHARLES HUGHES, Deputy
4075 Main Street, 7th Floor
Riverside, California 92501

OFFICE OF THE PUBLIC DEFENDER
BY: STUART SACHS, Deputy
4200 Orange Street

Riverside, California 92501

For the Defendant:

ORIGINAL

Reported by: CONNIE McCUTCHEN, CSR 7027
Official Court Reporter
Riverside Superior Court
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REBECA PIANTINI,

called as a witness by the People, having been duly sworn, was
examined and testified as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR. HUGHES:

Q. Good morning, Doctor.

A. Good morning.

Q. What do you do for a living?

A. I'm a pediatrician.

Q. Okay. Can you tell us what type of training and
experience you have that qualifies you to be a pediatriciar.

A. I did medical school at Loma Linda University, School
of Medicine. Then I did a pediatric residency at Loma Lind.a
University Medical Center. Then 1 got extra training to do
forensic pediatrics with Dr. Clare Sheridag??DAnd I alsp attend
vearly conferences and meetings for forensic pedliatricians.

Q. What does it mean to be a forensic pediatrician?

A, It's a pediatrician who does exams on children that
have been abused.

Q. How long have you been doing these types of exams”

A. Almost 10 years.

Q. And can you give us a ballpark figure of how many
examinations of kids you've seen that have had injuries?

A. Oh, hundreds.

Q. Okay. Back in April 2001, were you involved in o
consulted in the treatment of six-month-old Erik Patkins?

A. Yes, I was.

Q. And what was your role in the treatment and diagnosis

Connie McCutchan, CSR 7027 13
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of Erik Patkins?

A. Erik Patkins had suffered from head trauma, and we were
consultecd because it was 4 possibility of him being abused; his
head trauma being the result of abusive head trauma.?®

Q. When you're consulted, what do you do -- in this

-particular case, what did you do with respect to Erik Patkins?

A. Well, when we're consulted, we take a history. We 1o a
thorough history, review medical records, do a complete mealcal
exam, review the diagnostic tests that have been done. And I
continue to follow Che patient while they're in the hospital,
follow their treatment, and then make an opinion as to whether
we think the child has been abused or not.

Q. Okay. Do you —-- as part of your consultation role, do
you advise the treating physicians who are trying to help the
injured child?

A. We advise them on what diagnostic tests to get, o Yy
to sort out whether this is an abusive injury or not, ancd the
immediate treatment of. Everybody just helps in what is their
area of expertise to see the extent of what's Joing to e the
in acute management of trying to support life and stuff.

Q. You meazioned you review medical reporka? Have yuon
reviewed the Loma Linda University medical records pertaining
to Erik Patkins?

A. Yes.

e r esenldd ¥, 0

Q. &and did you also review autopsy and -- autopsy records

from San Bernacdino County Coroner's Office?

A. Yes.

0. And you, in fact, attended the autopsy of Erik Patkins:

Connie McCutchan, CSR 7027 14
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is that right?

A. Yes, I did.

Q. When was it that you were first consulted with resp=ct
to Erik Patkins?

A. I consulted on him that same day he was admitted, «n
April 28th of 2001.

Q. Okay. He came to Loma Linda from Riverside Community
Hospital; is that right?

A. Yes.

Q. Can you just briefly summarize for us the course that
Erik Patkins' condition took while he was there at Loma Lirila

University.

A. What he was -- he came to Loma Linda University by a
transport team. That means that a physician went to get him at
Loma -- at Riverside Community Hospital. He was transported

already intubated, and he had been given medication for
seizures and was sedated and was brought to Lowa Linda.

When he got to Loma Linda, they felt like his condition
was very unstable. He was already doing movements with his
arms and legs that were very abnormal, and they thought that he
had a significant injury.

MR. SATHS: I'd interpose an objection as hearsay as to
what they say. Vague and also hearsay.

THE COURT: Well, I'm not --

If you'd just -- Doctor, let us know whether or not you

were told information or you observed the information, and

if --

THE WITNESS: This is information from the medical

Connie McCutchen, CSR 7027 15
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records as to what happened before I got to see him.

THE COURT: Okay. And if that status were to chanya,
you'd let us know when it's something you have obhserved or --

THE WITNESS: Coeorrect.

THE COURT: -- you were told by another party, for
instance.

THE WITNESS: Correct.

THE COURT: And you used this information in forminyg
your opinion; is that correct? Proxl

THE WITNESS: That's correct.

THE COURT: You may continue.

THE WITNESS: Okay.

So in the emergency room he was noted to have increased
intracranial pressure and unstable condition. They felt 1t was
important -- the nesurasurgeons had to put in an intercranial
pressure monitor just as -- Lo see what the pressure in the
head was. So trhey placed that, and his pressure was still very
high. It was in the 90s, which is extremely high. And then
they -- again it was necessary to put in a drain to drain some
of the fluid to see if the pressure will decrease in the brain,
so they put in & drain on his left side. They put in the
monitor on the right side. They put in a drain on his leff
side. His pressures were still high. They came down. Late=y
they again put in a lumbar drain and catheter in the lumbrar
spine again to try to decrease the pressure.

0. {(By Mr. Hughes) So his brain is swelling?

A. His brain is very swollen. There 1s increased

intracranial pressure. The pressure s 30 higl that he caraer

Connlie McCutchan, CSR 7027 16
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profuse his body, because it cannot profuse. He cannot get
oxygen and blood to his brain hecause the pressure in the krain
is higher than the normal -- than the blood pressure. S0 they
had to also give him medication for the hblood pressure, to keep
his blood pressure up ~-- higher doses, you know, the maximin
doses, multiple medications. He was placed in & barbitural
coma with phenobarbital, again to keep his intracranial
condition -- to try to stabilize it and decrease the

intracranial pressure.

Q. He was actually placed in a barbitural coma; is that
right?

A. Yes.

Q. That's to stop brain activity or limit it as much as
possible?

A. So that it doesn't consume the oxygen -- that limirad
oxygen that you have. ©o they put the brain basically at rest

as much as possible to try to decrease the pressure and to try
to decrease the oxygen consumption so that you can do with
minimum that you can, you know, to try te bring things back
to -- to try to save, you know, the child.
237 37>

At the time that I saw him, he had already had all the
drains. He was sedated and he was basically paralyzed. Ard I
saw him just later that day. His external condition -- he
didn't have apparent bruises other than a couple of brulses 1n
the nails of his toes. He didn't -- of course, he was on a
ventilator with a tube to help him breathe. He had the dratns.

He had the monitor. He had a catheter to collect his urine.

He had femoral lines for [.V. access. And his pupils were very

Connie McCutchen, CSR 7027 17
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fixed and dilated. That means they don't respond to light.
When you shine the light, they don't respond. His pressures
were in the 90s. At this time he has an intracranial vault and
his intercranial pressure was over &0, 60s to YuUs at Cimes,
fluctuating. He got medication ro bring it down, what we «all
mannitol or diuretic to try to bring it down. He didn't
respond. We wanted the pressure to be always less than 20, and
this -~ obviously higher than -- 60 to 90, it's extremely high
for a child.

Q. Were any of the ftreatment measures that the physicians
at Loma Linda University Medical Center took surcesstul?

A. No. He even got transfusions to bring his hemoglobin
up because, of course, he was losing blood and he was bleeding
in his head, and to -- trying to keep more oxygen -- depositing
more. But that -- nothing really helped. His condition
continued to deteriorate.

Q. Are you familiar with the term "brain death"?

A. Yes.

What does that mean?

A. It means that although we can keep the heart going,
because we have medications to keep it going, and we have a
ventilator to keep the breathing going, and the breathing is
only going ba2cause of a ventilator. Because once you're
brain-dead, yo1 can't breathe, because that's a brain reflex.
Basically means your brain isn't working, so you're dead.

Q. All right. Did Erik Patkins reach brain death?

A. Yes.

Q. When did that happen?

Connlie McCutchen, CSR 7027 18
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A. He was declared -- his first exam for brain death was
actually done on the 30th, and he was basically brain-dead by
physician's exam, and then we usually repeat the exam like
24 hours later. And then maybe the lst is when he was --
actually the second exam was done and he was declared
brain-dead.

Q. Is brain death fatal?

A. It's death. Yeah, it's fatal.

Q. Once you're brain-dead, you're no longer going to b=
alive?

A. That's correct.

Q. You can keep perhaps the heart beating and lungs
pumping from the machines, but you'll never recover from that;
is that correct?

A. That's correct. Only the machine's doing it.

Q. When Erik Patkins was declared to be brain-deacd, were

there surgical procedures done to harvest organs?

A. Yes.
Q. Whose decision was that, whether or not to harvest
organs?

A. It's the family's decision. It's the mother's
decision. When the organs are felt to be in good condition,
then we call the transplant coordinator and the team and see
if -- then they spealk to the mother and oifer the possibiliny.
I believe the mom actually brought it up even hefore they spoke
to her, saying that she --

Q. Okay. So Margie Garofano agreed to organ harvesting?

A. Yes.

Connie McCutchen, (SR 7027 19
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Q. And fallowing that, Erik Pathkins expired; 1s that

correct?

A. Yes.

Q Did you attend the autopsy?
A. Yes.

Q Who was that performed by?
A Dr. Steve Trenkel.

0. And Dr. Trenkel was a forensic pediatrician before he
became a pathologist; is that correct?

A. That's correct.

3
Q. In fact, he trained Dr. Clare Sheridaﬁj wlhio then
trained you?
A. That's correct.
Q. How long has Dr. Trenkle been a medical examiner?

A. I don't know. Eight or nine years. Something like
that.

Q. When you wenft to the autopsy, did you actually see what
types of physical injuries Erik bathkins had suttered?

A. Yes.

Q. Let's talk about the new injuries that Erik Patkins
suffered. Whar types of injuries to his head did you see as a
result of viewing the autopsy?

A. Well, the most fatal injury and the injuries that ware
very acute, he had what we call subdural hematoma, which 1¢
bleeding into the covering layer, which is a thick covering
layer that goes over the brain in between the brain and the
skull, if you want to -- and there was a lot of bleeding,

extensive bleeding. And the most acute was mostly on the

-1

Connile McCutchzan, o 5R
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right. It was to the back of the head, and 1t was in betwe o
RT 354
the two hemispheres in the fissure there. Had & lat of

bleeding there.
ERAL )
He had also extensive retinal hemorrhages, which were
also seen before the autopsy. 1 was able to see that on my
medical exam, and the ophthalmologist was able fo see the

retinal hemorihages. They were very extensive. They were

confirmed on the autopsy. What was also seen on the autopsy

was that he had optic nerve sheath hemorrhage, which -- this is
only seen when -- at autopsy, because it's not something that
can be seen if the child survives. Has to be in --

Q. So —-- I'm sorvy.

A. Then he had also skull fracture. He had an occipiltal
skull fracture. It's a skull fracture in the back of the hz2ad

on the right side. And when they did a microscoplic
examination, they also found that he had ninth rib acute
fracture.

0. So he had a fracture on his ninth rib. ‘You count from
the top orkthe bottom?

A. From the top.

Q. So the ninth rib down, counting down from the tep.
Right side or left side?

A. On the right side.

Q. Right side. All right. Were there any old injuriles
that were found?

A. Yes. ©0h. And one other new injury was subarachnoid
hemorrhage. That means bleeding kind of like more deeper into

the brain.

Connie McCutchan, C5R 7027 21
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Q. All right.

A. Okay. And the old injuries, he again had old subdural
hematomas. And they knew they were old because of the
appearance of the blood and also the stain. When they da the
microscopic examination, they stain it and they see the
by-products of the hemoglobin. 50 they can tell that it's an
old injury.

Q. Okay. Now, you had described the new hematoma as
extensive bleeding. With respect to the old one, by
comparison, was it as extensive?

A. Not as extensive. It was -- the old one was more ¢n
the left side.

Q. So on the other side?

A. Right.

Q. All rignt.

A. And then he had an old left parietal fracture. That's,
again, another fracture on the head, but it's on the left side
and more in this area of the head (indicating) as opposed tn
the back.

Q. How can they tell that's oild?

A. Well, because they show already the healing process of
the fracture.

0. All right. Were there any other old injuries noted?

A. Yeah. And then he had a right femur fracture. And
that, again, they can tell by the healing process of the
fracture.

31
Q. BRased on your review of the medical records, your

actual consultation, and following of the course of treatment

Connie McCutchan, CSR 70.27 22
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of Erik Patkins and your attendance at the autopsy and reviaw
i L

of the autopsy records, do you have an opinion as to the canse

of those new injuries that you've discussed?

A. Yeah. The -- there's -- new injuries were clearly 1

j/’ Y/
cause of abusive head trauma or what we commonly know as shaken
baby syndrome.

Q. How is shaken -- what is done to a baby in shaken baby
syndrome to result in these types of injuries?

A. What happens is a baby 1s shaken vigorously. It's an-
acceleration-deceleration, so it's a forward and back movement
(indicating) of the head that causes the brain to go back and
forth and causes a lot of intrécranial bleeding, a lot of
bleeding in the head, causes bleeding in the eves. They «an
frequently have a fracture, Jdepending on where rhe child is
grabbed, how he's held. And then, ohviously, depending on the
degree of it, they can go into a level of unconsciousness,
coma, and death.

Q. You indicated there can be a fracture from the shakiﬁg
and you're making a motion with your hands together as though
holding something in front of you; ig that correct?

A. Right. Because frequently they're held by the chest
{indicating), so we frequently see rib fractures associated
with it.

Q. Again you're indicating with your hands in front ot you
as though heolding something the size of a baby; is that
correct?

A. Right.

0. Right. Do you have an opinion as to the timing of when

Connie McCutchesn, C5R 7027 23
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these injuries were inflicted upon Erik Patkins?

A. It clearly had to have happened just --

MR. SACHS: I think I'm going to interpuse an
objection. Lack of foundation again, unless she's talking
about some other doctor --

THE COURT: Overruled. Overruled.

THE WITNESS: And I did take a history from the mon.
And the child was fine when she left for work the night bhelnre,
was acting normal. And the baby then has an acute event, who’
ends up in death, is clearly within a few hours from the time
of presentation to the hospital.

Q. (By Mr. Hughes) All right. And is it your opinion
that these injuries that you've described to us as resulting
from abusive head trauggy;esnlteﬂ in rhe death ~f Frik Pathkins?

A. Yes.

Q. Finally, do you have an opinion whether these injuries
could possibly have bheen caused by a man approximately € feat
2 inches tall walking towards a set of carpeted stairs, &7 457
tripping while holding the baby up at shoulder level, and

dropping the baby onto the fourth or fifth stair up onto a

carpeted surface? ew e e, e, 8T7E3
A. Absolutely not.
Q. Why dc you say that?
A. I've seen many, many children. 1 also do general peds

who fall a whole flight of stairs and don't have this
constellation of symptoms. It's noet Just one event. And if
they have a faral event, or something like falling down

stairs -- which is usually cement, which rarely happens -- it's

Connie McCutchen, CSR 7027 24
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from a different finding you have something fatal. It is not
this whole constellation of symptoms that are found not ol in
a2 clinical exam but also at autopsy.
Q. You'd expect fo see different injuries for that
mechanism of death?
A. Yes.
MR. HUGHES: Nothing further.
THE COURT: Cross?

CROSS-EXAMINATION

BY ME. SACHS:

Q. What kind of injuries -- Just touching con your last
response -- you'd expect to see, for example, if dropping the
paby would be the cause of death as opposed to what you're
testifying to this morning?

A. Very rarely. Agalin, especialiy ohi 4 carpeted floor,

If we are talking about a child that ends up with a == 15 4
fatality, that falls on cement stairs headfirst, it's usually
what we call an epidermal hematoma, and it's an arterial blzed.
And, again, most of the time it's because it's not recognized
and it's not taken to surgery in time, because it's something
that usually surgery can correct. And, again, it's very rare.
And here we have a constellation of findings. We have
the extensive bleed through the brain in the areas that are not
seen with an accidental fall into a stair. And we have the
retinal hemorrhages, and we have a fracture, and we have also

subarachnoid hemorrhage, and we have rih fractnres. Then wa

have old injuries as well.

0. Could you distinguish -- you said the subdural --

Connie McCutchen, C5R 7027 25
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subdural hematoma is bleeding inside rhe brain, I guess. Is
that right?

A. It's bleeding right under the brain. There's a
covering membrane that's called & dura chat goes over —- vight
over the arachnoid, which is the membrane that -- it's really
the thin memplane that's going right -- right over the brain.
and that dura under has like velns -- reaching velins. And when
there is this motion, these veins kind of sheer up. They t=ar
up and cause all this bleeding. wz%)zh

Q. Now, you also said there's subarachnold hematola. [=
that bleeding into a deeper region of the brain?

A. Yes. That is right under the arachnoids. That's right
onto the brain tissue.

Q. That's more extensive bleeding than suhcural hematcma?

A. They're both very extensive bleeding. The subdural
hematoma is very classic. And when you have subdural and
subarachnoid, it's very, very commonly seen witl shaken baly
syndrome.

0. Subdural -- subdural hematoma is such that -- an injury
that you would expect the baby to manifest some symptomology;
isn't that fair to sav?

A. It's depending ou the degree of the subdural hematouna.

Q. So there are some -~

A. Well -- huh?

Q. I'm trying to understand your testimony, Doctor.
Because you said you found evidence of an old subdural
hematoma; is that correct?

A. Right.

Connie McCutchen, CSR 7027 26
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0. And yet -- you reviewed the records. The baby had
never been brought in before for any type of hospitalizations
as a result of a head injury; correct?

A. Right.

Q. So are you telling us all subdural hematomas{are net
necessarily life-threatening situations?

A. That's correct.

Q. But you would expect a baby to at least be crying
vigorously or showing some evidence of some type of a heas
injury, wouldn't you?

A. Usually the habies do cry, but it -- we find out most
of the time that fussiness that -- or depending on what it wa
they are thought to be -- colic -- they're thought that the
baby is just fussy for that. And, obviously, 1f it's not ver

extensive bleeding and doesn't have the other manifestatiorns

s

y

not all subdural leads to death. And not all subdural leads to
being even admitted to the hospital.

Q. Are you able to give a time frame as to the old
hematoma, as to whether that would have taken place in
relationship --

A. No. All we can tell 1s that 1t's old. And, again,
that was done pny the pathologist.

Q. I'm sorry?

A. That's what the pathologist determined on the autopsy
by doing the microscopic. That's --

Q. Is that where they find -- by some type of staining,
they determine it's an old hematoma?

A. Right. Although in the T, it looked like 1t's
Connie McCutchan, CSR 702 27
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suspicious. You can't confirm it ountil -- you know, at autopsy

it was confirmed.

Q. Now, the rib fracture that you made reference to in the
ninth rib, you said that was already in the process of healing?

A. No. The rib fracture was acute.

Q. So what you mean, it was recent?

A. It was recent.

Q. It was recent?

A. Right.

Q. Could have been contemporaneous with the injury to the
head?

A. Right.

Q. And can a bhaby suffer a rib fracture by falling and
hitting their rib in that particular location?

A. Babies that have rib fractures —-- if there's not an
adequate history to explain the fracture -- yeah, you can g2t a
rib fracture, depending on the lucation of the ribky, from a
fall. But that's clearly identified, a fall, as the cause of
it. The mechanism has to be studied. It's not unusual. But
those rib fractures are due to shaking.*”

THE CpURT: Just a moment, Mr. Sachs. Just a moment.
I have to take a call here. Just will be two minutes.
(Brief pause in proceedings.)
THE COURT: I thank you for that, Mr. U-chs. You mway
continue, sir.
MR. SACHS: Thanks.
THE COJRT: Thank you.

Q. (By Mr. Sachs) I'm sorry. Tl said that was the rinth

Connlie McCutchen, CSR 7027 28
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rib that was fractured, Doctor; is that righty
A. That's correct.

What side was that again?

@]

The right -- on the right side.

>

Q. The right side?

A. Yeah.

Q. Now, the presence of retinal hemorrhaging is, in ta=t
something that's consistent with shaken babies; is that right

A. That's correct.

Q. As a matter of fact, most doctors, when they see the
presence of retinal hemorrhaging, automatically assume there!
a shaken baby. Isn't that fair to say?

A. Well, in the absence of a lot of other conditions, ye

Q. But there are other conditions that can cause retinal
hemorrhaging?

A. There are other conditions, but they lock different
too.

Q. Are thesy consistent with a fall? After, could a c¢hil
suffer retinal hemorrhaging?

A. Not consistent with a fall, no.

Q. Basically, the presence of retinal hemorrhaging is --
just increased pressure within the brain causes that; isn't
that fair to say?

A. No.

Q. What --

A. You can have increased pressure and not have retinal
hemorrhages.

Q. And you can have increased pressure and not have

’

2

5

s,

o
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retinal hemorrhages? Iz that what you're saying?

A. That's correct.

Q. Frequently, if you do have increased cranial pressure,

that does cause it?

A. No. Only certain mechanisms. A lot of people die from

motor vehicle accidents and have increased pressure and no
retinal hemorrhages.
Q. What mechanisms are you speaking about?

39, s 355
A. There's occulusion of the venous return, of the venou

5

outflow, that zauses a lot of retinal hemorrhages. And, again,

38
the retinal hemorrhages, depending on what they're caused

from -- but in this case they're suspected to be -- the
mechanism is not ¢learly understood, what causes -- what
specific mechanism it is that causes retinal hemorrhages. B2u
they've clearly been seen -- that retinal hemorrhages are
associated with shaken baby and are very rarely seen in motol
vehicle accidents. The mechanism seen in motor vehicle,
there's high speed. Wirh this, there's a history. There's a
report of all cthis. It's not just a rear-end. It's not a
high-speed motor vehicle accident.

Q. You had an opportunity to physically examine the baby

before the bhaby was declared hrain-dead, I guess?

o

A. Yes.
Q. And there were no —-- would 1t be falr ' say there ~velre
no visible injuries to the child?
THE COURT: External?
MR. SACHS: External.
THE WITNESS: No external, other than the two little
Connie McCutchesn, (SR 7427 30
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areas of hemorrhage that I described on his toenalls.

Q. (By Mr. Sachs) There was no redness or bruising on the
child. 1Is that fair to say?

A. No. He just had an abrasion on -- abrasions.

Q. And frequently when you see bruised children, do yui
not see the presence of either pbruising or sometimes extensive
external injuries?

A. Sometimes we do; sometimes we don't.

Q. Now, there is -- a short -- a short fall of a child
can, in fact, under certain circumstances, cause the kind of
fatal injury we have had here; isn't that true?

A. Not the kind of fatal injuries we have hLere, no.

Q. What specific injuries are you talking about that would
preclude -- strike that.

You are aware of a body of literature that talks about
short falls can cause fatal injuries in c¢hildren, are you not?

A. Yes.

Q. By a Dr. Plunkett, a study on short falls. Are you
familiar with that study?

A. Yes.

Q. What particular injuries here are you talking about

that would allow the possibility of a fall causing these

injuries to a child?

A. The injuries that this child has are exiensive:
subdural, subarachnoid, interhemispheric pressure. He has also
extensive retinal hemorrhages ana optic nerve sheath
hemorrhage. And he also has a posterior rib fracture, acute

fracture. He has a combination -- whole lot of symptoms that

Connie McCutchen, CSR 70.7 31
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are not explained by just falling from a father hoelding the
child, into a carpeted stair.

Q. The skull fracture that you talked about, the new one,

I think you said it was in the right parietal region. Is that
right?
A. No. The skull fracture that is a new one is in the

back of the head in the occipital area.

Q. The occipital area. Is that fracture caused normally
by blunt force? Is that caused by shaking as well?

, A. No. It -- it's caused by impact, having the head hit
against a hard surface. It's what we call frequently -- cculd
be shaken impact syndromé{ Most of the shaken bables are not
just shaken and put down gently on the bed. A lot of them are
shaken, then dropped or hit against something.

Q. So in your opinion, it would cause a sutficient -- have
to be a sufficient impact to cause this type of shkull fracture,
then; is that right?

A. Yes.

Q. And shaking the baby alone doesn't cause this type ot
fracture, as 1 understand it?

A. Right.

Q. Now, is -- the old injury, the left -- one to the left
parietal area, I believe, is that also the same type of thing?
It would have to be some lmpact to that part of the head wizh a
hard surface?

A. But -- yeah. But the parietal area is less -- the
occipital is more significant, in that it requires more for:ze

and that it's very, very difficult to break the back of your
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head. Tt's easier to brealk this area (indicating). The
parietal is on the side. And the parietal area is an area that
can break easier.

Q. And again --

A. But it's impact. Has to have an impact.

Q. So, again, shaking is not going to cause a parietal
fracture either, I take 1it?

A Shaken impact will, but not shaken alonz, yes.

Q. And was there any attempt to date the age of the
parietal fracture? .

A. You can't really date fractures on the skull. All you
can say 1s that they were already healing; that they're noft
just recent. But vou can't say they're one weel, two weeks., I

can't say that.

Q. Does it have calcification --
A. They have periosteal healing of the bone,
Q. Would you expect fo have some symptomatology from the

fracture to the parietal to the child?

A. Usually, but they can bhe very minimal. Symptomata! gy,
they may just be fussy, cry, or it may not be very -- again,
some shaken babies are very mild, and they don't -- they don't

exhibit the symptoms that will bring the child always to a
doctor or bring the child into an intensive care unit. They
may just be fussy or nay be throwing up. They wmay be sleeping
more. There are different things that the people may just aot
think is that serious for a short period of time.

Q. Well, in your opinion, is it the shaking of the baby or

is it the hard impact that caused the occipital skull fracture,

Connie McCutchan, SR 7007 33
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for example, that causes the intercranial pressure ta go all
the wav up from 60 to 90, or is ir a combinartion of borh?

A. FProbably a combination of both. But definitely the
motion of the shaking caused the most fatal injuries.

0. The motion of shaking, you're saying, as opposed to €
impact? Is that what you're saying?

A. Yes. Because usually an impact alone, i1f you just na
a fracture, doesn't kill the baby. A fracture does not kill
them. It's the other injuries that kill them. Y7

Q. And the most -- in your opinion, the must likely
mechanism tc increase the pressure, the intercranial pressure
is by shaking them; 1is that correctc?

A. In this case, yes.

MK. SATHS: If T may just have a minute, please?
THE COURT: You may.

Q. (By Mr. Sachs) Are you familiar with the term of
rebleeding fromn existing hematomas?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. That's a situation where you don't necessarily
have to have a new trauma, but an old hematoma can start
bleeding again?

A. No. This is not absolutely what happens. That's --
rebleeding, if vou have a space occupying a lesion already,
have blood, you can bhleed into that area easier. Tt does
usually require trauma. And if the bleeding is minimal and
doesn't causs a1 fatality or a death with the orler symptumh,
it's just almost like a microbleed.

Q. But it is bleeding that comes from an existing

he

ve

[
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INTERVIEW WITH DAVID PATKINS

P3-01-118-065

PATKINGS:
BARTHOLOMEW :

DELAROSA :

PATKINS:
DELAROSA :
PATKINS :

DELAROSA:

PATKINS:

DELAROSA :

PATKINS:

DELAROSA :
PATKINS:
DELAROSA :
PATKINGS :
DELAROSA :

PATKINGSG :

No big deal. Yeah. i
OK. Uuh--

I stepped out when I ask you about you getting
frustratad at all when he cries.

Mu-huh (affirmative)

What'd you do?

Uuh- -

Does, he was making vyou frustrated when he's
crying?

No. Not at all. Sometimes I, well, you know, I
mean, you wanna do something. You wanna help. But
like get mad, you know, no. No, no, no. No, that's
not the answer. That's not the answer, that's not
the right way.

Have you ever spanked him?

No. No. Her, nor the baby. Maybe the dog's got it
a couple of times.

You ever shake him or anything?

No.

Get mad?

No.

Frustrated?

No. Not at all. No not after, uuh, understanding

about the shaken baby syndrome . I SN
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How did you hear about that?

Uuh, well she had pamphlets and, uuh, you know,
just from the past.

What 's past?

Just, just, just knowing it from the past.

You said you had two other kids, uuh, what a three-
year old and a seven-year old?

Mu-huh (affirmative)

Did you ever have any problems with them?

Mu-huh (affirmative)

Like what?

(laughs) the shaken baby syndrome.

You shake the kids then?

The, the, one, my, my oldest son, yeah.

Your oldest son? bid you ever get charged with
that?

Mu-huh (affirmative)

Did you get convicted of that?

Mu-huh (affirmative)

What'd they convict you of?

Uuh, they called it child cruelty.

OK. Did you do any time?

Mu-huh (affirmative)

How much time did you do?
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PATKINS: I did, wuuh, I did in the, in there, in prison, I

did about, uuh, four years of wmy life.

BARTHOLOMEW : Four years? When did you get out?

PATKINS : I got out in, uuh, 1996

BARTHOLOMEW : So you had, your three-year-old, you've had since
then?

PATKINS : Uuh, uuh, yeah. Well, what happened was, uuh, uuh,

I got together back with the lady that, uuh, and,
uuh, and then, and then we had, uuh, uuh, the next
one after that, and, uuh, and/ uuh, and then, uul,

well she left to Iowa.

BARTHOLOMEW : Is this all back in Iowa then?

PATKINS: No.

BARTHOLOMEW : No. This, is this in, in the Upland area--

PATKINS : Mu-huh (affirmative)

BARTHOLOMEW : --like you said.

DELAROSA : Are you still on parole?

PATKINS: No.

DELAROSA : Did you do all your time or you get paroled at all?
PATKINS : Mu-huh (affirmative). I have, it's all done and

cleared and, you know, counseling and, uuh, and
everything, 1 did everything that--
DELAROSA : Does Margie know this?

PATKINS: Yes, she does.
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That you were arrested for that and did time for

it?

Yes.

So you know all about it right?
Uuh, I, I don't know, you know what's, what's
happening right now.

No, you know all about shaken baby and--

oh, right, right.

--being frustrated and doing things to kids you

shouldn't be doing.

Yeah, yeah. Right, like I say shaken baby syndrome
or, you know, yeah.

Did you ever hit Erik?

No.

Did you ever push him down?

Uuh, there's, uuli, I, no. Push him down? No. 7~
I don't, I'm looking at that bed and I'm looking at
the, at the floor and everything, David--

Mu-huh (affirmative)

--and I really don't think he, he got his skull

fractures from falling off the bed, and I don't

think you believe that either.

I, I don't know. Uuh, I just know that, that we

had a, that he fell off the bed.
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BARTHOLOMEW : What happened, why'd he fall off the bed?

PATKINS : Uuh, he just, uuh, he's just a little rambunctious
little boy and he, and he, he just did his little
play thing and he, he fell off the bed. I don't
know. I don't know.

BARTHOLOMEW : 8o if T go, when I go to Léma Linda today, are they
gonna tell me, I don't think they're gonna tell me
that it was natural that, that, I think the way the
injuries are described to me that I've heard of so
far, [ mean, are, it's not from falling off the

bed, hitting your head on the side.

PATKINS: I don't know .. (unintelligible) ..
BARTHOLOMEW : What happened?
DELAROSA: You do know because you've done time for, for

injuring a child before.

PATKINS: Right . But I've changed my life.

DELAROSA : And I'm sure it's part, it's part of vyour
counseling, it's part of what happened back then.
You know what it takes to hurt a baby. It takes a
lot more than falling off the bed to get a skull
fracture.

PATKINS: I don't know.

DELAROSA: These stairs are padded and carpeted.

PATKINS : Right .
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DELAROSA: oK. And now le's got bleeding, and he's got, you
know, some bilateral skull fractures.

BARTHOLOMEW : The, the only way to help him and to get him the
treatment that he needs today--

PATKINS: I told you what happened.

BARTHOLOMEW : --is the truth.

PATKINS: I told you what happened.

BARTHOLOMEW : T think it's, yeah, he probably did fall but what
happ--, more had to have happened, David.

PATKINS: There is nothing more. I told you what happened. 1
did my time. I changed my life. I changed my life.

BARTHOLOMEW : I think--

PATKINS: I told you what happened.

BARTHOLOMEW : --T think you get Frustrated because all of a
sudden you got a good relationship going--

PATKINS: Yealh.

BARTHOLOMEW : --with Margie.

PATKINS: Right.

BARTHOLOMEW :

PATKINS:

BARTHOLOMEW :

All of a sudden Prik's in the picture now. She's
not giving you the time you want. She's harping on
you to get a good job--

She's .. (unintelligible) ..

--and stuff like that. Right? And you get frust--,

I think you get, you get frustrated with that?
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No.

I think you have been. Who wouldn't? You want a

little bit of time. We need to know the truth.

I just told you the truth.

What else happened? How did he get the other skull
fractures?

I don't know. I don't know. I don't know what, I
don't know. I just told you.

What - -

Anything that, that--

--how do you think, why do you think--

--that T would think that would be helpful--

--how do you think he got the skull fractures?
From, I don't know. From the stairs? From the
cabinets?

Has he fallen down the stairs before?

No. Not that I know of, no.

50 you knew going into this that this wasn't gonna
look good for you, didn't you?

I, I'm scared. I'm scated.

Is that why you kind of hesitated on calling to get

him help this morning?

Uuh, what do you mean hesitated?
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Well, you, you kind of, you said, "Oh, my god, he's
injured," you knew he was hurt.

And I called Margie direct, yes.

Well, you took--

And then she hung up and I called 911.

- _there was some time, why'd you call, if you knew
he was hurt, why, why didn't you call 911 and then
call Margie?

I don't know.

Were you scarad?

Yeah.

Scared of--

For him.

For him or, or what might happen to you?

T, [ didn't have a thought about what would happen
to me. I was looking at my little baby.

I don't know, I don't, my, wmy impression would be,
no offense but, I've been convicted for child abuse
before, I'd done, I've served time in prison on a
child abuse case, my kid gets hurt in the morning,
I know he's hurt, he's in pain and that's obvious,
and T'm sitting there looking at him and, my Eirst,
no, yeah, I'm gonna care about the kid but, shoot,

what's gonna happen to we? That's kind of, you
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PATKINS:
BARTHOLOMEW :

PATKINS:

BARTHOLOMEW :

PATKINS:

BARTIIOLOMEW :

cannot tell me that didn't go through your mind. I
don't buy that.

Well, it did go through my mind.

OK.

But does it have to go through my mind right then?
It did go through wy wind. I've been thinking
about that, vyeah.

You said you got up, you told her in the morning
that you woke up at 5:30.

Uuh, 1 just guessed. T don't know, I don't know. I
just guessed. It was around that time. When she
corrected me and said I called her at 6:20, well,
then I had to just think back from there. It's
within that time, it's within that time.

Mu-hul (affirmative). As you know, that time period

can have an affect.

(talking in background)

BARTHOLOMEW :

MASSON -

We'll take a break, alright, David?

. (unintelligible) .. Erik's father and you have
every right to know that, wuuh, uuh, Erik is in
critical condition. And, uuh, the injury is life
threatening. You understand that? OK. I, I wanna
talk to you about what happened. And we're gonna go

ahead and read you your rights but the most

WA
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important thing here is obviously that we need to
know what happened because of poor Erik. And what
we might be able to do for him medically. You
understand that?

PATKINS: » I told you guys everything.

MASSON : OK. Well, maybe there's something that you might've
forgotten that could help us out here. Again, his
injuries are, are, are so that we need to know
everything so that maybe they can make a decision
when it comes down to a certain treatment or
something.

PATKINS: I told, I told you guys everything. I told you
everything. I told you everything that happened.

MASSON : Well, let me, let me go through this again and, and
maybe, maybe something will, will spring vyour
memory or something like that, OK? Uuh, obviously
it's, 1it's real important that we get all the
facts. Alright. You have the absolute right to
remain silent. Anything you say can and will be
used against you in a court of law. You have the
right to talk to a lawyer and have a lawyer present
before and during questioning. If you cannot afford

to hire a lawyer, one will be appointed to
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Motion Granted.

Count 1 reduced to 2nd degree.

Court and Counsel Confer regarding: Jury Instructions.

People's Exhibit(s) 4 is/are Withdrawn.

People's exhibit(s) 4 returned to the People.

Court and Counsel Confer regarding: Jury Instructions and

lessers.

Jury TRIAL IN-PROGRESS is adjourned to 10/07/2002 at 9:30 in

Department 52.

Defendant ordered to return.

Remains remanded to custody of Riverside Sheriff.

Bail To Remain as fixed.

Defendant to be dressed out for trial.

Minute Order printed to Robert Presley Detention Center.
**MINUTE ORDER OF COURT PROCEEDING**
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photograph, the small one.

MR. HUGHES: I will do that.

With the Court’s permission, what I will do is just
go ahead and cut the photograph in half and have it remarked
as 297, just the top picture.

THE COURT: Miss Rogers can do that. The bottom
photograph will be returned to the People as excluded.

THE CLERK: Okay.

MR. SACHS: The only other picture I have, and I guess
the Court might have to wait until we actually have testimony

A SY6, €T ceoris
from the physician in this, is number 4. I guess this is a
picture of Eric’s rib cage. I'm not sure it is even
positioned the correct way for the Court to look at.

MR. HUGHES: It is.

MR. SACHS: Apparently shows some kind of bruising or
hemorrhaging or something in the rib cage of the child, and it
looks like it’s a pretty gory picture, to say the least. I'm
not necessarily sure how probative it would be for the jury to
look at that picture. I would impose 352, I -- right now,
although the Court hasn’t heard the essence of the pathology,
if the Court wishes to wait until such time? This picture
does concern me.

THE COURT: Mr. Hughes?

MR. HUGHES: By way of offer of proof, the baby had a
rib fracture in the back next to his spine. The way it'’s
discovered is during the autopsy, the pathologist sees
hemorrhaging and bruising in this area here. The vertical

matter in the center of the photograph is the baby’s spine.

[
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When the pathologist sees this type of
hemorrhaging, it alerts him that there is damage to this rib.
He then cuts out that section of rib and looks at it under a
microscope and finds the fracture. So that’s the reason that
I proposed this photograph, is it is what keys the coroner in
that there may well be a rib fracture.

THE COURT: Mr. Sachs?

MR. SACHS: 1I'd submit on that under 352, I'd ask the
Court to exclude it. I don’t know how probative it will be
for the jury to see this picture. I think it could be
adequately described by the pathologist.

THE COURT: I'll take the 352 ruling under submission on
this issue.

And, Mr. Hughes, please don’t show it to the jury
during opening.

MR. HUGHES: I will not.

MR. SACHS: And I'd also -- perhaps the Court could do
the same ruling with respect to photographs 13 and 15. 13
being at the top of the screen and 15 being below. I better
do them separately. One apparently is the right eye. 1It's
written on the right eye, and I don’'t know exactly what this
would show. Perhaps retina hemorrhaging, which I fail to see
from this picture, but I think that’s pretty prejudicial to
have pictures of the child’s right eye to have displayed for
the jury.

THE COURT: For the record, it appears that the eye has
been --

MR. SACHS: Cut open.
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THE COURT: -- sliced in half.

MR. SACHS: Yes. And the number 15 is virtually the
same type of picture with writing on the left eye, apparently
also sliced open.

So, again, if the Court wishes to defer that that'’s
fine, but at this point, I would ask these pictures not be
shown to the jury unless the relevance is clearly tied in by
the pathologist.

MR. HUGHES: These are exactly what counsel has
described, which is extreme retina hemorrhaging. That is a
classic symptom of what Mr. Patkins is accused to having done
to his son. To my knowledge, we do not have the type of
photographs that sometimes they have of retina hemorrhaging,
which a victim survives, which is by jamming equipment behind
the eye and photographing it. What we have to show, the
retina hemorrhaging, are these photographs. So that’s why
they are offered.

THE COURT: All right.

Same ruling. Mr. Sachs, I‘l]l take that under
submission at this time.

MR. SACHS: I think that concludes the objections to any
photographs, Your Honor.

THE COURT: We have the People’s motion to admit the
1101 (b) evidence. And I've reviewed the trial brief submitted
by Mr. Hughes.

And, Mr. Sachs, would you like to respond?

MR. SACHS: Just -- well, just briefly, Your Honor. I'm

basically prepared to submit it. I do believe that the -- it

10
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is still prejudicial to allow the 1993 incident to be
admitted. I’'m not sure if Mr. Patkins'’ statements to the
police, that he dropped the child or the child hit its head on
the carpet, should bring up, necessarily, the 1993 incident.

I think it’s pretty much common sense that shaking
a baby is, in fact, a dangerous condition. And Mr. Hughes
seems to believe that because, you know, this incident may
have happened in ‘93, that somehow Mr. Patkins would not have

fe 3/

known that it was dangerous to drop a child. I think he
admitted to the poliggcié those statements did come in, that
he was aware that shaking a child would be dangerous. I think
that’'s fairly common sense that fathers would know shaking a
baby violently would, in fact, be a potentially dangerous
situation.

So to bring up the fact that he pled guilty to an
offense of abusing a child in ‘93, I think, is sort of
overkill and extremely prejudicial to Mr. Patkins. It is
preceding a fair trial in the instant case. I think it would
be difficult for the jury to not regard this as propensity
evidence and say, well, if he did it before, he’s likely to
have done it again and have most of the issues with respect to
Mr. Patkins’, vis-a-vis, error. Really be subject tc what
happened to Erik with respect to the prior incident involving
his son, Jack. I'm thinking the incident being introduced
with Jack, it would be imposing the fact to that he did the
same thing to Erik.

Beyond that, I would submit it. I think it’s the

352 isgsue pretty clearly.

11
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THE COURT: Mr. Hughes?
MR. HUGHES: Well, it’s being offered for more than just
his knowledge of whether or not this is dangerous. That’'s one
of the reasons 1t's peing offered. and that most people, out
of common knowledge, know that's dangerous, is not a reason to
exclude the evidence. Tt's extremely probative in that
sense.

someone who has been through this precise scenario
has inflicted himself great bodily injury, has far more
knowledge than the average person that, gee, we Know it’s not
good to shake a baby, or we know it's dangerous to shake a
baby. He has lived it firsthand. He has caused 1t Jee s 3lnc s
firsthand. It's offered for knowledéZfi T1t’s offered toO show
his intent, when he is shaki;émﬁhe bab?, that his intent is to
harm the baby, if not kiifi That this was not a mistake or
accidenéi which is what he is claiming to the police. SO it
comes in for all of those reasons.

Those are the central issues in the case, which
makes his prior conduct extremely probative as to the truth of
his claim in this case.

So the probative value being very high is not
substantially outweighed by the potential prejudice to
Mr. Patkins. So it should be admissible under 1101 (b) and
352.

THE COURT: All right, anything further, Mr. Sachs?
MR. SACHS: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: As far as the 1101 (b) evidence, T believe

it’s highly probative in this kind of case. It clearly goes
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